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CHAPTER -1
PUBLIC SECTOR UNDERTAKINGS
1.01. Introduction

The Comptroller and Auditor General of India (CAG), who is the head of the
Supreme Audit Institution (SAI) India, derives his duties and powers mainly from
Articles 149 to 151 of the Constitution of India and the Comptroller and Auditor
General’s (Duties, Powers and Conditions of Service) Act, 1971. The mandate is
further established by practice and convention. The details of various kinds of audits
conducted by the CAG are described in the CAG’s Manual of Standing Orders
(MSO) (Audit) (Second Edition — March 2002).

The CAG is authorised to make regulations for carrying into effect the
provisions of the Act ibid in so far as they relate to the scope and extent of audit
including the laying down for the guidance of the Government departments, the
general principles of Government accounting and the broad principles in regard to
audit of receipt and expenditure (Section 23). The instructions/publications relating to
audit issued by the CAG are covered under the provisions of this section.

1.02. Commercial Audit Wing

Commercial Audit Wing (CAW) of the Office of the AG (ERSA) [AG
(ERSA)], Kerala, Thiruvananthapuram is headed by a Group Officer, who is assisted
by Senior Audit Officers (Comml) (Sr AOs (C))/Audit Officers (Comml) (AOs (C))
and Assistant Audit Officers (AAOs (C)) and Senior Auditors/Auditors. CAW

consisted of five segments as follows.
1. Commercial Audit Parties (CA Parties);
2. Commercial Audit Headquarters Sections (CA HQ Sections);
3. RAO, KSEB,;
4. RAO, KSRTC; and

5. Report (Commercial) Section



CAW is mainly engaged in the audit (transaction/ financial)/ performance
audit of State Public Sector Undertakings (PSUs), i.e. Government companies
(including 619-B companies), Statutory Corporations, Departmental Commercial
Undertakings (DCUs) and Regulatory Authorities, the details of which are briefly

given below.
Government companies (including 619-B companies)

There are 109 Government companies [92 working and 17 non-working
companies] and one statutory Body (Kerala Infrastructure Investment Board) as on 31
March 2012. Out of the 109 Companies mentioned above, 17 Companies have been
transferred to the Office of the Prl. AG (G&SSA), Kerala after re-structuring and 34
Autonomous Bodies transferred to CA Wing (Annexure 1).

Statutory corporations

There are five statutory corporations in the State as on 31 March 2012 and

they are -
1. Kerala State Electricity Board (KSEB);
2. Kerala State Road Transport Corporation (KSRTC);
3. Kerala Industrial Infrastructure Development Corporation (KINFRA);
4. Kerala State Warehousing Corporation (KSWC); and
5. Kerala Financial Corporation (KFC)
Departmental commercial undertakings
There are three DCUs in the State as on 31 March 2012 and they are —
1. Text Book Office;
2. Kerala State Insurance Department; and
3. State Water Transport Department
Regulatory Authority

Kerala State Electricity Regulatory Commission (KSERC).



The relevant provisions under which audit of these entities is conducted by

CAG and distribution of work to the Sections are:

Authority for audit by the CAG Telephone
Name/ . Name and address number of the
Sl. Groub of Relevant provision of of the controllin Branch
No. entiEc) CAG’s DPC Act | the Act forming the section under CA%N Officer/
y entity/group of entity controlling
section
Government gétioﬂg It v
companies Section 619 (3) and Audit éhavan 0lo 0471-
1 (including Section 19 (1) (4) of the Companies the AG (E’RS A) 2330799
619-B Act, 1956 Kerala '
companies) Thiruvananthapuram
RAO -
Rule 14 of the 0471-2448589
Electricity  (Supply) ECA | & 1l
Kerala State (Annual  Accounts) \R/';g’l:?r?iE;Havanam Sections -
2 Electricity Section 19 (3) Rules, 1985 read Patto)r/n " | 0471-2514547
Board with section 185 (2) Thiruvz;lnantha uram ECA Il
of the Electricity Act, P Section —
2003 0471-2514285
Kerala State Section 33 (2) of the E@FC%)TC RAO and TA
Road Section 19 (3) Road . Transport Transport Bhavan, Section -
3 Transport Corporations Act, East Fort 0471-2471425
Corporation 1950 Thiruvananthapuram
Section 37 (6) of the
Kerala State Financial .
4 | Financial Section 19 (2) Corporations  Act, CAHQ IV Section | 0471-2330799
Corporation 1951
Section 31 (8) of the
Kerala State .
5 | Warehousing | Section 19 (2) State \_Narehousmg CA HQ I Section 0471-2330799
Corporation Corporations Act,
P 1962
Kerala Section 20 (2) of the
Industrial Kerala Industrial
6 Infrastructure | Section 19 (3) Infrastructure CA HQ Il Section 0471-2330799
Development Development  Act,
Corporation 1993
Departmental
7 | commercial Section 13 (c) -- CA HQ IV Section 0471-2330799
undertakings
Kerala State Section 104 (2) of the
8 y Section 14 (1) Electricity Act, 2003 | RAO, KSEB 0471-2514547
Regulatory
Commission

Telephone number of Report (Comml) Section : 0471-2330799 (113) — Sr AO ©/Report (Comml) 0471-

2330799 (112)

Telephone number of Group Officer — 0471-2331229 (direct) Extension : 0471-2330779 (205) - Fax No.

0471-2331326




In addition to the audit on the accounts of the PSUs/DCUs/KSERC, CAW is

also entrusted with financial (accounts) audit of Cochin Port Trust.

1.03. Efficiency-cum-Performance audit

A supplementary or test audit is conducted by the CAG on the accounts of

State PSUs, DCUs and KSERC which is in the nature of efficiency-cum-performance

audit. Some of the objectives of this audit are as follows:

Examination of the technical accuracy of the books of account and
financial results with reference to the Accounting Standards (AS) issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) (brief details of

various AS are given in Chapter 3.22 (Government companies);

Detection of misstatements and window dressing of the financial

statements;

Examination of the achievement of the auditee entity with reference to its

objectives;
Detection of fraud, misappropriation and other omissions/commissions;

Compliance to the provisions of the laws governing the auditee entity and

instructions issued by the Central and State Governments, etc;
Examination of major agreements and realisation of revenue; and
Examination of internal control/audit system, etc.

[CAG’s MSO (Audit) — Second edition — 2002]

Examination of the decisions of the Board of Directors/Committees to
ensure that they have exercised their powers in the best interest of the

auditee entity and in accordance with the principles of financial propriety;

Examination of cost accounts of the entity to ensure that the unit is being

administered efficiently and economically; and



e Overall performance of the entity and bring out lacunae, if any, in its

systems and procedures, etc.

In the case of PSUs, statutory audit by the CAG or by the Chartered
Accountant is decided by the respective Acts of the Statutory Corporations/the
Companies Act, 1956. The CAG is the Statutory Auditor (sole Auditor) for KSEB,
KSRTC, KSERC and KINFRA. The Chartered Accountants conduct the Statutory
Audit for KSWC and KFC and Government companies (including 619-B companies).
Supplementary audit (financial) is conducted by the CAG on the accounts of KSWC
and KFC and Government companies (including 619-B companies). The financial

audit of the Proforma Accounts of DCUs is performed by the Pr.AG.

The financial statements of the Government companies (including 619-B
companies) are audited in detail by the Statutory Auditors (Chartered Accountants)
appointed by the CAG under section 619 (2) of the Companies Act, 1956. Specific
directions are issued to them by the CAG to furnish special reports thereon under
Section 619 (3) (a) of the Act, ibid while submitting the Auditors Report. These
special reports not only give information on various important matters but also ensure
that they have discharged their functions with reasonable degree of efficiency. Hence,
there is no necessity to cover the entire area again by routine audit checks.

[Headquarters letter 216-CA/61-1965 dated 2-2-1966]

In the case of Statutory Corporations (KFC and KSWC), specific directions
are not issued by the CAG to the Statutory Auditors to furnish special reports as in the
case of Government companies. Similarly, special reports are not prepared by the
CAG for the Statutory Corporations (sole audit)/DCUs/KSERC.

The final audit findings of the financial audit are issued to the State
Government/audited entities by way of Comments/Separate Audit Reports
(SARs)/Audit Reports (ARs). They are presented in the Annual General
Meeting/Board meeting of the PSUs and also before the State Legislature. The
procedures for the selection of PSUs/DCUs/KSERC for financial audit, finalization of
Comments/SARS/ARs and other related matters are described in the succeeding
paragraphs/chapters.



Besides the financial audit, transaction audit is also conducted by the CAG on
the accounts of PSUs, DCUs and KSERC annually. Transaction or propriety audit is
directed towards examining the propriety of executive action beyond the formality of
expenditure to its wisdom, faithfulness and economy and bringing to notice cases of

wastes, loss and extravagant expenditure.

This audit is in the nature of efficiency-cum-performance audit rather than
checking regularity of expenditure against sanctions or appropriations. The aim of
this audit is broadly to ensure that how far an auditee entity has achieved the
objectives for which it was established and whether the operations are being carried
out efficiently with particular emphasis on economy. In this process, the decisions of

the Management and their implementations are scrutinised.

[Headquarters letter 625/CA/1V/8 dated 25-11-1969 —File CA 1/17-2/Vol IX]
Audit by the CAG is not a substitute for effective internal audit. Audit should
ensure that internal audit adequately covers the entire functions of the entity
effectively, its report is properly considered at the appropriate level and that
necessary remedial action is taken on it. In such a situation, Audit is conducted on a

test check basis as in the case of normal Government transactions.

The final audit findings of the transaction audit are issued to the State
Government/audited entities by way of Inspection Reports. In addition to financial
and transaction audits, Performance audit of selected entities is also conducted
annually.  Serious irregularities in PSUs noticed during transaction audit and
Performance audit are brought out in the Report of the CAG (Comml) or Audit
Report (Comml), while in the case of DCUs, they are featured in the Report of the
CAG (Civil) or Audit Report (Civil).  Both the reports are presented to the
Legislature, which are subject to discussion by the Committee on Public
Undertakings and Public Accounts Committee respectively for making suitable
recommendations. These recommendations are to be implemented by the respective
entities. The procedures for the finalization of Inspection Reports, Audit Report
(Comml) and other related issues are brought out in the succeeding

paragraphs/chapters.



1.04. Special/In-depth audit

Special audit of a Government company is ordered by the Central
Government under Section 233- A of the Companies Act, 1956. Hence, such audit
cannot be taken up by the CAG directly on the request of the State
Government/entity. Statutory/Internal Auditors are usually engaged for special audit
and the report thereon shall be submitted to the Central Government for further

action.

Request from Government/entity for special audit should be examined on
merits of the case and an in-depth audit of the Government company/topic conducted,
if necessary, under Section 619 (3) (b) of the Act, ibid. In the case of Statutory
corporations (sole/supplementary audit), in-depth audit of the entity/topic should be
conducted after evaluating the merits of the case and with reference to the provisions
contained in the relevant Acts and other factors. In both the cases, the decision for in-
depth audit should be taken by the AG (ERSA) without reference to Headquarters. If
there is no scope for an in-depth audit, such cases should not be entertained.

[Headquarters letter 119/CA.1V/Tech/1-80 (CA 1V/Tech/

1-80) dated 25-1-1980 (File CA-1A/17-2/\Vol XVII1) and
633/CA I1/Coordn/circulars/2003-04/55/2004 dated 21-6-2004]

The report on in-depth audit should be finalised in the same manner as that of
transaction audit except that it should be approved by the AG (ERSA). The
observations therein should be dropped with the approval of the Group Officer and
the report closed with that of the AG (ERSA).

1.05. Performance audit

The existing guidelines for performance auditing (review or efficiency-cum-
performance audit or value for money audit) contained in the CAG’s MSO (Audit) —
second edition 2002 — have been further fine tuned and replaced en-block in the
context of the Performance Auditing Guidelines of Asian Organisation Supreme
Audit Institutions (ASOSAI) and Draft Exposure Implementation Guidelines for
Performance Auditing Standards of International Organisation of Supreme Audit

Institutions (INTOSAI) and contemporary best practices. Accordingly, the guiding



principles for performance audit were published (May 2004) by the CAG as
Performance Auditing Guidelines, which are described in eight chapters
(Introduction, Strategic planning and selection of subjects, Performance audit and
implementation plan, Implementing the audit plan, Evidence and documentation,
Reporting process, Supervision, Review and quality control, Follow up procedures,
Quality assurance in audit and Critical issues in performance audit). Some of the

salient features of performance audit are briefly discussed below.

Performance auditing, usually directed towards specific functions, activities,
programmes or operations of the entity, promotes public accountability and is an aid
to good governance. It also encompasses the concept of traditional regularity audit
consisting of financial, compliance and propriety audits. However, the objective,
scope, nature of evidence and reporting in performance audit are different from those
in regularity audit. Performance audit is an independent assessment or examination
of the implementation of any programme efficiently and effectively with due regard
to economy. They are called three E's (Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness) of

performance audit as follows.

i) Economy — minimizing the cost of resources used for an activity, having
regard to the appropriate quality. Performance audit should ensure that the

resources have been acquired, upheld and used economically;

i) Efficiency is the relationship between the output in terms of goods,
services or other results and the resources used to produce them. It should
be ensured that whether the resources have been put to optimal or
satisfactory use or whether the same or similar results in terms of quality

and turn—around time could have been achieved with fewer resources; and

iii) Effectiveness is the extent to which objectives are achieved and the
relationship between the intended impact and the actual impact of an
activity. Effectiveness should address whether the programme/activity has

achieved its objectives i.e., spending wisely.

Performance audit should ensure that right things are being done in the right

way. It is expected to address concerns relating to equity and ethics while assessing

10



the effectiveness of a programme/activity. Equity in the context of programme

management relates to fairness and impartiality in use of public funds. Ethics in

managing public affairs enjoins the qualities of honesty and integrity in personal

conduct and devotion to the duty as Manager of public funds. Audit findings on ethics

and equity should be commented in the Performance Audit Report only when the

infringement of the standards of equity and ethics impacts the performance adversely.

Performance audit may examine and report on:

The quality of information and advice available to Government/PSU for the

formulation of policy;

The existence and effectiveness of administrative machinery to inform the
Government/PSU whether programme objectives and targets have been

determined with a view to fulfilling policy objectives.
Whether and to what extent, stated programme objectives have been met.

The economy, efficiency, effectiveness, equity and ethics of the means used to

implement a programme/activity.
The intended/unintended, direct/indirect impacts of programmes/activities and

Compliance to applicable laws and regulations in the context of the performance
audit objectives.

The contemporary common types of programme evaluation techniques used in

performance auditing are -

Process evaluation — assessing the extent to which a programme is operating as

intended.

Outcome evaluation — assessing the extent to which a programme achieves its

outcome oriented objectives.

Impact evaluation — assessing the net effect of a programme by comparing
programme outcomes with an estimate of what would have happened in the

absence of the programme; and

11



e Cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness evaluation — comparing a programme's

outputs or outcomes with the costs (resources expended) to produce them.
e The performance audit processes are discussed in Chapter -13
1.06. Information Technology audit

Information Technology (IT) audit is the process of collecting and evaluating
evidence to determine whether a computer system safeguards assets (such as
application systems, technology, facilities and staff skills, etc.), maintains data
integrity, allows orgnisational goals to be achieved effectively and uses resources
efficiently. It is a broad term that includes financial audit, operational audit
(evaluation of internal control structure), information systems audit (including
performance audit), specialized audit (evaluation of services provided by a third party

as outsourcing, etc.) and forensic audit.

With the increase in the investment and dependence on computerized systems
by the auditee, it has become imperative for Audit to change the methodology and
approach to audit because of the risks to data integrity, abuse, privacy, etc. Inan IT
system, an independent audit is required to provide assurance that adequate measures
have been designed and are operated to minimize the exposure to various risks. IT
audit has become a well established function in the Indian Audit & Accounts
Department and the IT Audit Manual (three volumes) guides the audit team for
conducting quality audits. The IT audit process includes planning, setting audit
objectives and scope, evaluation of controls, evidence collection, evaluation of
evidence and reporting and follow up, which are described in detail in the IT Audit
Manual. The theoretical construct of the Manual also gives elaborate checklists and
audit programmes for conducting IT audit. The IT Audit Manual (Volume 1) replaces
Chapter 22 (Audit of Computerised Systems) of the CAG’s MSO (Audit) — 2002.

1.07. Auditing Standards

Auditing Standards (AuS), which prescribe the norms of basic principles and
practices to be observed during audit were initially issued by the CAG in 1994. AuS

are required to be supplemented by MSO and other Manuals issued by the Indian

12



Audit and Accounts Department from time to time. The second revised edition
(March 2002) of the AuS has been comprehensively restructured, adopting suitably
the AuS formulated (2001) by INTOSAI with particular emphasis on its Code of
Ethics and with due consideration to the Constitution of India, relevant statutes and
other rules of the land. Some of the salient features of the AuS are briefly described

below.
1) Basic postulates

These are the basic assumptions, consistent premises, logical principles and
requirements helping in the development of AuS and serve the audit teams in forming
their opinions and reports particularly in cases where no specific standards apply. All
audit functions (financial audit, regularity audit and performance audit) should be
within the CAG’s audit mandate and in pursuance of his constitutional responsibility.
Keeping this in mind, the CAG is empowered to decide the nature, scope, extent and
quantum of audit including the form and content of Audit Reports. The CAG should
comply with the AuS of INTOSAI in all matters of materiality. The CAG should
apply its own judgment to the diverse situations that arise in the course of
Government auditing. The broad aim of the Audit is to safeguard the financial
interests of the State and to uphold and promote public accountability and
sound/economical and financial management practices by bringing to light
wastefulness, failures, system weaknesses, deficiencies and the circumstances leading
to infructuous expenditure. Management of the audited entity is responsible for
correctness and sufficiency of the form and content of the financial reports and other
information. The CAG should advise the Government to issue acceptable AuS for
financial reporting and disclosures, the consistent application of which should result
in the fair presentation of the financial position and operational results. It is the
responsibility of the audited entity to develop adequate internal control systems to
protect its resources and ensure compliance with the applicable statutes and
regulations to ensure that probity and propriety are observed in decision making.
Audit should avoid conflict of interest with the audited entity. Audit should maintain
confidentiality of audit matters and the data of an audited entity acquired during the

course of the audit should not be used for purposes outside the scope of audit.

13



2)

General standards

General standards describe the qualifications of the Auditors and the auditing

institutions so that they may carry out the tasks related to Field and Reporting

standards in a competent and effective manner. The CAG should design appropriate

quality assurance system and procedures to ensure the quality of the Audit Report,

secure improvements and avoid repetition of weaknesses and confirm that the internal

quality assurance processes have operated satisfactorily. General standards comprise

the following standards.

3)

Standards common to both the Auditors and auditing institutions:
independent from the Legislature, Executive and the audited institution;
possess the required competence; and

exercise due care and concern in complying with the AuS.

Standards for the Auditors -

recruit personnel with suitable qualifications;

develop and train employees for the effective performance of their tasks
(including awareness of the Conduct Rules for Government employees);

prepare manuals and other guidelines for audit;

provide a good distribution of skills to auditing tasks, assign sufficient
number of personnel for audit and have a proper planning/supervision to

achieve its goals; and
review the efficiency and effectiveness of internal standards and procedures
Field standards

Field standards establish the criteria or overall framework for the purposeful,

systematic and balanced steps for the audit. They are related to the General and

Reporting standards. Field standards applicable to all types of audit are:

14



4)

The Auditor should plan and conduct the audit ensuring that audit of high
quality is carried out in an economic, efficient and effective way in a timely

manner including compliance of applicable laws/regulations;

The audit work should be supervised at appropriate level/phase and a senior

official of the audit team should review the documented work;

The Auditor should determine the extent/scope of the audit and evaluate the
reliability of internal control, keeping in view the objectives of audit and the

degree of reliance intended;

The Auditor should obtain competent, relevant and reasonable evidence to
confirm/support the audit conclusions and document the audit evidence in
working papers including the basis and extent of the planning, work

performed and the findings of audit; and

The Auditor should analyse the financial statements to establish whether the
acceptable AuS for financial reporting and disclosure are complied with in

order to express an opinion on the financial statements.
Reporting standards

The audit reporting process begins by giving a report (draft Inspection

Report/Comments/AR, etc.) timely to the Management in the prescribed format to

furnish remarks/comments thereon. Approved AR is placed before the Legislature.

The report is not a public document till it is presented to the Legislature. The report

should be complete, constructive, fair, accurate and clear. Adequate, prompt and

proper follow up action should be taken by the Management for the lapses to promote

public accountability. In subsequent audits or otherwise, the Auditor should examine

whether satisfactory action was taken on ARs. The content of the report should

indicate unambiguously whether it is unqualified or qualified, and in the case of

latter, whether it is qualified in certain respects or is adverse or a disclaimer of

opinion. An unqualified opinion is given when the Auditor is satisfied in all material

respects that -
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i) the financial statements have been prepared using acceptable accounting basis

and policies which have been consistently applied,;
i) the statements comply with statutory requirements and relevant regulations;

iii) the views presented in the financial statements are consistent with the Auditor's

knowledge of the audited entity; and

iv) there is adequate disclosure of all material matters relevant to the financial

statements.

An adverse opinion is given where the Auditor is unable to form an opinion
on the financial statements taken as a whole due to some fundamental disagreements
to such an extent that an opinion which is qualified in certain respects would not be
adequate. The wording of such an opinion makes clear that the financial statements
are not fairly stated, specifying clearly and concisely all the matters of disagreement

quantifying the financial effect, wherever relevant and practicable.

A disclaimer of opinion is given when the Auditor is unable to arrive at an
opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole due to some fundamental
uncertainty or scope restriction to such an extent that an opinion which is qualified in
certain respects would not be adequate. The wording of a disclaimer makes clear that
an opinion cannot be given, specifying clearly and concisely all matters of

uncertainty.
1.08. Guidelines for drafting report as per Style guide

The guidelines for drafting the report as per the style guide issued by the

Headquarters are indicated below:
a) General advice on good writing
I Have a clear thinking regarding the matter to be conveyed,

ii. Use short everyday words, simple sentences (15-20 words) and short
paragraphs (not longer than one-third of a typed page) listing main

points freely and clearly using side headings and minor sub-headings;

iii. Avoid clichés, slang, complicated constructions and gimmicks;
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b)

iv. Never use a long word when a short word is suitable;

Vi.

G

Cut out a word wherever possible; and

Never use a foreign phrase, a scientific word or jargon word in the
place of a straightforward English equivalent.

uidance on drafting

The AR, etc., should provide independent information and assurance for the

parliamentary readers and public. Following are the characteristics of a good draft.

Vi.

Vil.

A strong structure with a clear framework presenting the material logically
and to the best effect;

A simple and brief presentation, focusing on the main issues, avoiding
peripheral aspects and giving only the essential facts using only apt words
and phrases;

It should provide complete and accurate information and free from errors in
grammar, spelling and punctuation. Besides, the audit findings should be

supported by evidence;

A balanced and fair presentation, reflecting the audited entity’s views

properly in a moderate and non—provocative language;

A constructive presentation considering the feasibility of recommendations,

looking forward to improvements rather than at faults/weaknesses;

If the main text of AR involves detailed analysis of complicated issues or
statistics, these should normally be set out in an appendix, which should be
drafted and edited as in the case of main text. As a rule of thumb, if
information on less than five items is to be provided, they may be
incorporated in the main text itself, rather than as an appendix.

Diagrams, charts, graphs and tables should be used to help get across
important messages, incorporating them appropriately in the text. If graphics
are simple and well laid out, they can often convey more in a short space
than stretches of narrative, thereby saving a lot of explanation.
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viii. As a rule of thumb, maximum length of the AR (excluding overview and
appendix) should not be more than 120 typed pages except in the case where
the number of reviews is four or more in bigger States. Normal reviews and
performance audit reviews should be restricted to 20 and 25 typed pages
respectively except all-India reviews. Overviews and appendixes/annexures
should not normally exceed 8-10 and 65 typed pages respectively.

Transaction audit paragraphs should be confined to two typed pages.

iX. There is no ideal drafting model suitable for all reviews. There are two main
structures of reviews and they are straight through review incorporating the
recommendations in the main text and review preceded by highlights and
ending with conclusions containing recommendations. Long reviews (15
pages or more) should be preceded by highlights containing the main
findings.

X.  The highlights should be concise (not more than three pages) bringing out
the main issues to provide the reader with a clear view of the purpose and
results of the review. They are not intended to be free standing/mini-report
and should contain the minimum of description and narrative. They should
cross-refer to the relevant paragraphs of the report. The highlights need not
be presented in the same sequence/headings as in the case of main text of
the review. They can be brought out according to the materiality of the audit
findings.

xi.  Review is a condensed description of main issues, findings, conclusions and

supporting facts bringing out only the important matters.
C) Conventions

i.  Abbreviations should be kept to the minimum. The usage of abbreviations
should not be restricted to handful times. If an abbreviation is used, the
words may be written in full on their first appearance followed by the
initials in brackets. Abbreviations should not be used in overview and
highlights of the AR. Where five or more abbreviations/specialized terms

are necessary in the report, they should be listed in a glossary at the end of

18



Vi.

Vil.

Xi.

the report. Certain abbreviations can be pronounced without definite article
(eg. UNESCO). In all other cases, they should be preceded by the definite
article (eg. the CAG, the GOI);

Introduction to the report should be titled Preface and not Prefatory

remarks;
Use active voice, wherever possible instead of passive voice;

Use of Roman numerals (I, Il, Il ...) for chapter numbers. Use Roman
numbers (i, i, iii...) for part of the report containing contents, preface and
overview of the report. Use Arabic numbers (1, 2, 3...) for the main text and
appendices in the report. Never use alpha-numbers (12A, 12B) for page

numbering;

Use Arabic numerals for paragraph numbers indicating the first digit of the
paragraph number showing chapter number. The paragraphs and sub
paragraphs should be numbered as 3.1, 3.1.1 etc. Do not use more than four

levels in paragraph numbering (3.1.2.1, 3.1.2.2.);

Use capital letter for the particular and a small letter for the general. As
there is no general rule on this score, use it consistently throughout the

document;
Use any of the following formats for dates without commas -
26/05/2003; 26 May 2003; Monday 26 May; 26-30 May 2003;

26 May — 5 June 2003 and 2002-03;

. Never start a sentence with a figure. Instead write the number in words. Use

figures for numerals greater than nine and for all numerals including a

decimal point or a fraction. Use words for whole numbers from one to nine;

Spell out lakh and crore. No abbreviations for lakh and crore except in

tables;
No mixing of decimals and fractions (3 % lakh or 3.5 lakh but not both);

Use commas appropriately while writing figures (12,34,56,789.99);
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xii. Use the same units for comparison (lakh or crore);
xiii. Express number greater than 100 lakh in crore and less than that in lakh;
xiv. Use the same unit for figures in table and narration;

xv. Use font size 12 for the text of the report and a font size not less than 8 for

tables and charts;
xvi. Write per cent and percentage as such rather than % and %age;
xvii. Use English spelling and not American.
d) Common errors and weakness

i.  Ampersands (&) should be used when they are part of a company/body or

when two names are linked to form one unit (Trade & Industry), etc; and
ii. Do not use full stops at the end of headings or in abbreviations
Directions and Guidelines issued by HQ
1.09. Fraud and corruption

Fraud involves deliberate misrepresentation of facts and/or significant
information to obtain undue or illegal financial advantage. The distinguishing factor
between fraud and error is whether the underlying action is intentional or
unintentional. Fraud and corruption are generally interlinked. Though detailed
guidelines would be issued by Headquarters when need arises, Standing Orders have

been issued in this respect, some of which are briefly given below.

Examination of a system for detection and prevention of fraud and corruption
is an integral part of regularity audit and also performance audit, when it forms one of
the audit (sub) objectives. During financial audit, two types of intentional
misstatements are relevant to the Auditor i.e., misstatements resulting from fraudulent
financial reporting and misappropriation of assets. Similar considerations apply to
performance audit. In performance audit, while selecting themes and issues/sub-
issues, the vulnerability to fraud and corruption should be given due consideration. In
the case of information technology fraud, Audit should examine whether appropriate

controls are in place in order to ensure the authenticity of computer evidence.
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The responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and error
primarily rests with the Management of the audited entity through the implementation
and continued operation of accounting and control systems designed to check fraud.
Fraud may involve.

i) manipulation, falsification or alteration of records/documents;

i) misappropriation/misapplication of assets;

Iii) suppression or omission of the effects of transactions from

records/documents;

iv) recording of transactions without substance; and

v) misapplication of accounting policies etc.

Fraud has a legal (criminal) connotation. Audit team does not make legal
determination of whether fraud has actually occurred. They can report suspected or
presumptive fraud. Fraud examination is a part of the normal auditing procedures and
includes:

1) being alert for situations, control weaknesses, inadequacies in record
keeping, errors and unusual transaction or results, which could be
indicative of fraud, corruption, improper expenditure or lack of probity;
and

i) focusing audit strategy on areas and operations prone to fraud and
corruption by developing effective high risk indicators of fraud.

Corruption is the abuse of public power for personal gain or for the benefit of
a group to which one owes allegiance. It involves breach of trust. There is either an
offer and/or acceptance of inducements. It is the responsibility of the entity to
establish and maintain internal control system to provide reasonable assurance with
regard to reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations

and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The entity should document the system established for prevention, detection,
response, follow-up and reporting of fraud and corruption. Audit should evaluate and
report on the adequacy of the systems in place and competence with which the
Management has discharged its responsibility in relation to prevention, detection,

response and follow-up/remedial measures pertaining to fraud and corruption. While
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reporting all cases of suspected or presumptive fraud or corruption, Audit should
refrain from making any judgment regarding the existence of fraud/corruption. Audit
should maintain an attitude of professional skepticism throughout the audit. The
audit team should check compliance with the provisions of Rules 29, 33, 34, 37 and
38 of the General Financial Rules, 2005. Before commencing the audit, information
about the fraud and corruption awareness, detection and prevention policy and related
environment should be collected from the entity. An independent risk assessment
should be carried out to identify high risk areas and prioritize the audit planning
accordingly. Some of the common risk areas of fraud are contracts of
service/procurement, inventory and asset management, sanctions/clearances,
performance information, revenue receipts, cash management, general expenditure,
grants, financial statements, operating information, computerized environment,
privatization of Government entities and other areas involving public interface. Based
on the risk assessment, Audit should develop the audit objectives and design audit
procedures so as to secure reasonable expectation of detecting and evaluating material
misstatement/irregularities arising from fraud and corruption. Controlling sections of
CAW should develop guidelines/checklists for audit of fraud and corruption in
specific sectors for the guidance of audit team and furnish a copy thereof to

Headquarters [Director General (Audit)].

Cases relating to suspected/presumptive fraud and corruption should be
specially highlighted in the Inspection Reports and ARs. All such cases should be
printed in bold type. While forwarding the bond copy of the AR to Headquarters, the
forwarding letter should contain the number of cases of fraud/corruption included in
the report together with the money value thereof. The draft of the annual post-audit
report letter to the Chief Minister should have a brief mention of issues relating to
suspected fraud and corruption where such cases appear in the ARs and systems put
in place to monitor paras relating to fraud and corruption. After approval of the bond
copy, all such cases should be taken up immediately with appropriate authorities of
Central and State Governments (Central/State Vigilance Commission, etc.) as a

follow-up.

[Headquarters letter 126/Audit (AP)/1-2004 dated 6-9-2006]
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1.10 Review of Internal control/audit system

All draft Inspection Reports should invariably report the extent, adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control and audit systems of the entity audited. A
questionnaire for the evaluation of internal control/audit system is enclosed
(Annexure 5 of Chapter 12). Headquarters guidelines on this matter are also enclosed
(Annexure 6 of Chapter 12). The questionnaire may be filled in by the 10 and in his
absence by the senior most AAO of the party, which should be reviewed by the
controlling section at the time of editing the draft Inspection Report.

[Orders of Pr AG (Au) dated 5.11.2003 and circulars CA 1V.A/21-303 dated
18.11.2003 and 6.3.2004]

If the Management follows wrong policy on any area, remedial measures to be
taken there against should also be indicated. The internal audit report should cover the
name of internal auditors, scope/coverage of audit, periodicity of audit, reporting,
action taken by the entity to rectify the lapses, etc. If the Internal Auditor’s Report is
not discussed by the Board of Directors, the fact there of should also be mentioned in
the paragraph.

[Headquarters letter 13/Ca 11/25-2001 dated 6.1.2004 circulated in circular
No0.1/2004 (CA IC/A/21-303 dated 27.1.2004]

On finalization of Draft Inspection Report/Draft Comments, the same along

with title sheet, all other documents and back files may be sent to HQ /RAP

concerned without delay.
1.11  Pending Court cases

A large number of paragraphs in respect of which legal steps or Revenue
Recovery action have been taken are kept pending in the Inspection Reports over a
long period for want of final decision of the Court, etc. Auditee entities have
limitation in taking further action in such cases. All such cases may be
consolidated/updated and brought out in Part-1 of the draft Inspection Report in the
following proforma. However, if any case deserves to be commented in Part 11-A/B,

it may be included therein pointing out all the lapses.
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Sl. Year of IR Name of the Brief Action Name of the Present

No. and para party and the | summary | taken advocate and | position of
number money value | ofthecase | bythe | date of filing the case
entity suit

[Orders dated 31.5.2002 of DAG (C) ]
1.12 Verification of cash/stores

If the situation in any auditee entity warrants, the audit team are allowed to
ask the Management to physically verify the cash and stores in the presence of
Auditors/entity officials and to record the results thereof in the prescribed documents.
The lapses in this regard including defalcation of money detected during audit should
be commented in the draft Inspection Report/Comments and suitable cases processed
for the Audit Report.

[Order of the Pr AG (Au) dated 10.10.2003 circulated in note ITA/1-5/2003-04
dated 14.10.2003]

1.13 Vigilance cases

While conducting transaction audit, the vigilance mechanism/cases and the
related issues in the auditee entities should be examined and the lapses in this respect
should be commented in the draft Inspection Report.

[Headquarters letter 1006/CA 11/48-99-Vol 111 dated 29.12.2005 circulated in

circular No. 7 (CA 1V/A CIRC/Vol 11) dated 11.1.2006]
1.14 Provident fund contribution

As per section 6 of the Employee’s Provident Funds and Miscellaneous
Provisions Act, 1952, the employers of the following industries are required to
contribute to the fund at the concessional rate of 10 per cent of the wages of the
employees per month with effect from 22 September 1997 as against the general rate
of 12 per cent.

i Sick industries as defined in section 3 (i) (O) of the sick Industrial Companies
(Special Provisions) Act, 1985 and which had been declared as such by the Board for
Industrial and Financial Reconstruction; or

ii. an establishment having accumulated loss equal to or exceeding its entire net

worth at the end of the financial year; or
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iii. an establishment engaged in jute, beedi, brick, coir and guar gun.

If any Government company/corporation satisfying any one of the above
criterion fails to avail of the concessional rate of provident fund contribution, such
case may be suitably commented in the draft Inspection Reports etc.

1.15 Environmental liabilities

State PSUs involved in the development projects having environmental
impact are liable to pay financial liabilities towards Compensatory Afforestration
Fund created by the Ministry of Environment and Forest, Government of India. Such
environmental liabilities and other environment related contingent liabilities may be
kept in view while conducting transaction and financial audits of such PSUs’ giving
due attention to the Wild Life Act, 1972, Water Act, 1974, Forest Conservation Act,
1980, Air Act, 1981 and Environment Protection Act, 1986.

[Headquarters letter 647/CA 11/18-2001 dated 5.8.2005]
1.16 Minimum Wages Act, 1948

Under the Minimum Wages Act, 1948 both Central and State Governments
can notify the schedule of employments and fix/revise minimum wages therein. Once
notified, minimum wages are legally enforceable. Ministries/Departments and
organizations including PSUs which are responsible for implementing various

projects and schemes are required to pay the minimum wages.

During audit of Ministries/Departments/PSUs and other organisation it may
be looked into whether minimum wages are actually paid by them. Central
Government has suggested that the CAG can even cross check the position given by
Government employees with trade unions/workers representatives so that accurate

assessment can be made.

The Compliance with the provisions of the said Act may be looked into during

the transaction audit of PSUs.

(Circular no.2-Audit (AP) 30-2006, No. 35-Audit (AP) 30-206[ dt. 11.4.07)
1.17 Central/State Government assistance

A draft paragraph highlighting the non-utilization of the Central/State
Government assistance should be proposed if the amount has not been utilized
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according to the terms and conditions of the sanction after the details such as sanction
number and date, amount released to Government companies, purpose of the
assistance, target date for completion of the project/ scheme, etc., are received from
OA HQ Section, etc. The matter should be verified during transaction audit and the
CA HQ Section concerned should send the material direct to Report (Civil) Section
for the Audit Report (Civil).

[Headquarters letter 845-Rep ( C) 130-84- dated 5.9.1984]
1.18 Submission and review of Agenda and minutes of Board meetings

Major decisions in companies/corporations are taken by the Board of
Directors. Copies of the agenda and minutes of the Board meetings should be sent by
the auditee entities to Audit, by name in a confidential cover. In respect of companies,
Audit is entitled to get copies of these documents in terms of section 619 (3) (b) of
the Companies Act, 1956. In the case of 619-B companies, they are required to
furnish these documents as in the case of Government companies, as indicated in
Chapter 3.13 (Government companies). The officer receiving these documents
should keep them in his/her custody and review them and issue necessary instructions

for detailed examination of selected items locally.

Where the agenda papers are not separately prepared and the relevant files and
documents are put to the Board of Directors/Management, the entity concerned
should not be asked to compile separate information for being supplied to Audit. In
such cases, it should be possible to trace the relevant documents, from copies of all
the minutes of Board meetings sent to Audit earlier. Moreover, in such cases,
Resident Audit Offices are generally attached to the entities.

[Headquarters letters 185-CA/87-RCA/63 dated 4-7-1963 — File CAl/17-2/Vol V
and HA 19 (18)61/772 dated 21-9-1962 - File CA-1/17-2/Vol XV]

State Government instructed all the PSUs to furnish the copies of agenda and

minutes of Board meetings to Audit as indicated in Chapter 2.17 (Commercial Audit

Headquarters Sections).
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1.19 Disclaimer statement consequent to Right to Information Act, 2005

The forwarding letter enclosing Inspection Report, SAR, Report of
certification on accounts, paragraphs already laid on the Table of
Parliament/Legislature, etc., issued to the applicant under the Right to Information
Act, 2005 should contain the following disclaimer statement.

‘The Report has been prepared on the basis of the information furnished and
made available by the auditee. The Office of the AG (ERSA) disclaims any
responsibility for any misinformation and/or non-information on the part of the
auditee’.

[Headquarters letter 14-L.C/111-2005 dated 20-1-2006]

(The Right to Information Act, 2005, provides for setting out the practical
regime of right to information for citizens to secure access to information under the
control of public authorities in order to promote transparency and accountability in
the working of every public authority, the constitution of a Central Information
Commission and State Commissions and for matters connected therewith or
incidental thereto. Every public authority should maintain all its records duly
catalogued and indexed in a manner facilitating the right to information under this
Act and computerized, within a reasonable time subject to availability of resources
and connected through a network all over the country on different systems, so that
access to such records is facilitated. Besides, certain prescribed data of the public
authority should be published/updated every year).

1.20. Disclosure of audit material by newspapers

Audit findings at draft Inspection Report/AR stage appearing in newspapers
have been considered as most objectionable since such findings may finally feature in
the AR and consequently face the risk of breach of privilege of the Legislature. In
such circumstances, if the reference to the Inspection Report is as Prl AG/AG Report,
the Editor of the newspaper should be clarified that the report is an Inspection Report.
On the other hand, if the reference is a draft AR/proposed audit paragraph, the matter
should be taken up with the Chief Secretary by the AG (ERSA) to ensure that the
secrecy of such report is not compromised.

[Headquarters letter 168-Audit (AP)/9-2005 dated 9-8-2005
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1.21. Manual of auditee entities

Government companies/Statutory corporations should finalise various
Manuals for Purchase, Sales, Production, Accounts, etc., by themselves and no
vetting thereof by Audit is necessary. Specific advice may be rendered if the entities
require clarification on any points.

The Accounting Manual of the Government covers the procedures for the
working of DCUs, which should be scrutinised in the prescribed manner.
[Headquarters circular Manual/Comml./7-143 dated 29-1-1951 - File CA/INSP/16-

1Vol.I; 875/CA/56/66 dated 23-6-1966 — File CA/INSP/16-1/Vol.lll and Audit/17-
3/61-62 dated 17-4-1962 - File CA/INSP/16-1 Vol. 11]

1.22 Dispute between Chartered Accountants and PSUs

Complete details of litigation/dispute between the firms of Chartered
Accountants and PSUs and cases of unbecoming conduct on the part of the former
noticed during the course of audit should be reported to Headquarters in the

prescribed proforma.

[Headquarters letter 134 CAW/AO/8-72/ Vol 11/KW dated 7-1-1984 — File CA
1A/17-2/Vol XX]

1.23. Audit fee for Government audit

Audit fee is levied for auditing the accounts of KSEB, KSRTC, KINFRA and
KSERC in accordance with the provisions of the Acts governing the Statutory
Corporations/Regulatory Authority. The fee is computed by ECA/TA/CA HQ
Section based on the guidelines issued by Headquarters from time to time and
intimated to the entities concerned for payment. Remittance of audit fee should be
watched by the respective sections periodically and delay in this respect should be

taken up at appropriate levels.

In the case of Government companies (including 619-B companies) and
Statutory Corporations (KFC and KSWC) and DCUs, no audit fee is levied and
collected. However, DCUs should show the audit fee as an undischarged liability in

their proforma accounts.
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1.24. Preservation of records

The period for preservation of records such as Manuals, Board minutes,

Registers, Files, etc., is indicated in Annexure I1.

[Headquarters letter 24/CA-1V/11-2004 dated nil addressed to all MsAB]
Instructions of Govt. of Kerala on PSUs
1.25. Pattern of Government investment

Government of Kerala decided to adopt the following pattern of investment in
its PSUs by maintaining the debt-equity ratio of 1:1 to the extent possible.
e to restrict the future investment in capital only;
e to convert the unpaid loans and interest due to Government into capital to the
extent necessary; and
e PSUs should obtain approval from Government for new viable expansion
projects financed by term lending institutions.

[DO letter 67374/Comml/4/75 Fin dated 11-12-1975 from Finance Secretary to
Government addressed to all Secretaries of the State Government - File Report
(Comml)/53-40/77/Vol 1]

1.26. Monitoring performance of PSUs by Administrative Department

The Administrative Department of each PSU (State Government Department)
should closely monitor and review its performance (including the targets and
achievements). The performance of the Directors of the PSU should also be
monitored and reports in this score sent to Bureau of Public Enterprises (BPE)
periodically.

[Circular 8558/BPE-1/06/Plg dated 28-2-2007 of Planning & Economic
Affairs (BPE) Department]

1.27. Kerala Industrial Revitalisation Fund Board

The Board was established (1999) by Government of Kerala for the
revitalisation of the existing PSUs in the State. It should provide financial assistance
in the form of long-term loans and ZERRI (Zero Rate Redeemable Investment) for
acquisition of fixed assets for manufacturing purposes, financial restructuring and

manpower rationalization. Short term loan assistance for a period not exceeding six
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months may also be provided including bridge loan for working capital. Before
submitting the loan application, the internal audit and statutory audit of the PSUs for
the latest financial year should be completed. In case of long-term loans and ZERRI,
only a portion of the sanctioned amount may be disbursed initially and the disbursal
of the balance amount subject to satisfactory utilisation. They should be covered by
hypothecation of assets purchased utilizing the funds and the Chief Executives/Board
of Directors should be personally responsible for achieving operational targets in the
Performance Contract entered between the Government and the PSU. Long-term and
short term loans carry an interest rate not exceeding the cost of borrowings by more
than 2 per cent, while no interest is levied in respect of ZERRI. In the case of default
in payment of interest, PSUs should pay a penal rate of 2.75 per cent on the defaulted

amount over and above the lending rate of interest.
[GO (P) 47/99/1D dated 29-03-1999 of Industries (J) Department]
1. 28. Release of Government funds

Releasing of funds at the fag end of the financial year by the Administrative
Department of any PSU to avoid the lapse of budget provision is against the
provisions of Article 40 (c) 7 of the Kerala Financial Code (Volume 1). The scheme
funds should be released according to actual requirements and with the concurrence
of the Finance Department, which should scrutinize the proposal of the
Administrative Department and sanction only the minimum required amount. This is
to avoid the payment of interest by the Government on the premature drawn funds
deposited in treasury by the PSU. The amount should be drawn by the PSU subject to
treasury restrictions in force from time to time and that the unspent balance should be

deposited in treasury.

[Circular 55657/PU-C1/89/Fin dated 4-10-1989 of Finance Department]

All proposals for release of funds to any PSU should be sent to the Planning &

Economic Affairs (BPE) Department for placing the matter before the Public
Enterprises Board (PEB).

[Circular 12989/BPE-2/2006/Plg dated 27-2-2007 of Planning & Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
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PSUs are instructed to withdraw the Government funds, if any, deposited in
commercial/cooperative banks and to deposit the same in treasuries. Any loss caused
to Government on account of such violation will be recovered from the officers
responsible.

[Circular 30/95/Fin dated 14-7-1995 of Finance (Inspection Non-Technical)

Department]
1.29. Government guarantee

The Kerala Ceiling on Government Guarantees Act, 2003 came into force
with effect from 5 December 2003 and some of the salient features of the Act are as

follows.

e Government should give guarantee only for loans taken by PSUs and
statutory/cooperative bodies;

e The total amount guaranteed by the Government should not exceed Rs14000
crore;

e No rebate for the prompt payment of guarantee commission;

e Guarantee should not be extended unless the borrower has paid the full
guarantee commission;

e Minimum guarantee commission payable on loans (including outstanding
loans) with effect from April 2004 should not be less than 0.75 per cent and
that it should not be waived under any circumstances. The guarantee

commission should be worked out as follows.

Sl. | Nature of loan Computation of guarantee commission
No.

1 | Term loan Payable on the actual balance outstanding including
interest/penal interest, etc., as on 31 March of the preceding
year.

2 | Cash credit, | Payable on the maximum of the credit limit actually availed

overdraft and | of in the month of March of the preceding year plus interest,
working capital | penal interest, etc., thereon as on 31 March of the preceding

year.
3 | Bonds, fixed | a) Interest payment in instalments:
deposits, etc. Payable on the outstanding principal of the bonds/fixed

deposits as on 31 March of the preceding year plus interest
payable during the year plus total defaulted interest/penal
interest, etc., as on 31 March of the preceding year.
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b) Interest payment in lump sum or along with principal:
Payable on the total amount including interest, etc., on
maturity of the bonds/fixed deposits, etc. In the case of
default in the payment of bonds, interest, etc., on maturity,
the guarantee commission is payable on the balance
outstanding amount as on 31 March of the preceding year.

In all the above cases, no commission need to be paid if the entire guaranteed
amount (including interest, etc.) has been fully repaid/settled and on production of a
letter/certificate from the financial institution, etc., discharging the Government from
the guarantee liability. The guarantee commission should be paid half yearly on 1
April and 1 October every year with a grace period of 15 days. Any delay in remitting
the commission will attract payment of simple interest at 12 per cent from 1 April and
1 October every year. Guarantee commission in all these cases should be paid with
effect from 1 April 2004 for the balance outstanding as on 31 March 2004.

All PSUs, etc., should send half-yearly reports to the Government (Finance
Department) endorsing copies to the Secretary to the Government (Administrative
Department) and the Head of the Department concerned, indicating the details of
guaranteed amount outstanding, guarantee commission payable (with details of
computation), etc., in the prescribed format. All other provisions referred to in
circulars 27/87/Fin dated 20-4-1987 and 79/99/Fin dated 16-12-1999 continue to
apply.

[GO (Ms) 487/04/Fin dated 16-10-2004 of Finance (Public Undertakings-
B)Department]

In order to avoid the payment of guarantee commission, etc., for loans, bank
guarantees, etc., extended by one Government company to another, the following
guidelines should be followed.

(1) No borrowing/lending of funds between two Government companies
should be entered into without the prior permission of the Government except for
financial transactions with Kerala State Industrial Development Corporation Limited
and holding companies such as Kerala State Industrial Enterprises Limited, Kerala

State Electronic Development Corporation Limited, etc., and with their subsidiaries.
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(if) The lending Government company while providing financial assistance to
the borrowing Government Company should not impose or insist on terms and
conditions causing financial hardship/loss to the latter.

[Circular 90/82/Fin dated 23-12-1982 of Finance Department - File CA-1/A/21-
G/Vol.VI]

1.30. General insurance business of PSUs through KSID

As per section 36 (1) of the General Insurance Business (Nationalization) Act,
1972, Kerala State Insurance Department (KSID) has the monopoly to underwrite the
insurance business of all PSUs. Hence, the general insurance business of all PSUs in
which Government have substantial financial interest should be transacted only
through KSID.

[Circulars 43/75/Fin dated 7-6-1975 and 35/03/Fin. dated 26-4-2003 of
Finance (Establishment D) Department]

1.31 Recruitment of personnel through PSC

It is Government policy to make recruitment of personnel to state PSUs
through Kerala Public Service Commission so as to contain corruption in

appointments.

Under section 3 of the Kerala Public Service Commission (Additional
functions etc) Act, 1970, a Corporation or Board of Directors of a Government
company may consult PSC on all matters relating to the recruitment of officers and
other employees. For this purpose, the Corporation/company has to include its name

under Rule 2 (d) of KPSC (consultation by Corporation and Companies) Rules, 1971.

All PSUs are required to ensure that their name is included under the said

Rule and shall frame recruitment rules so as to make appointments through PSC.

(Circular No. 13770/BPE/86/plg dt. 09/86 and Circular No. 15274/BPE 2 2006/plg
dt. 17.5.2007).

1.32 Compassionate employment scheme for dependents of employees of PSUs

Dependents of State Public Sector Undertakings who die in harness
irrespective of the circumstances of death (including suicide) shall be eligible for
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employment assistance.

The income of the dependents of employees of State PSUs who are employed
in those PSUs should not exceed Rupees Three lakh per annum to make them
eligible for compassionate employment and this limit will be revised from time to

time.

There shall be no minimum service restrictions. Dependents of those PSU
employees who are regularly appointed and employed in PSUs shall be eligible for
the benefit of the scheme irrespective of the length of service.

Time limit for preferring applications under the scheme will be five years
from the death of employee. In the case of minor, the period will be within five years

after attaining majority.

All the PSUs are required to incorporate an enabling clause in their Articles of

Association/Service Rules for introducing the scheme.
(G.O (P) No. 32/2007/plg Dated. 7 June 2007)
1.33  Granting of leave without Allowance for taking up another employment

All departments of Secretariat are instructed to desist from the practice of
granting leave without allowances to Government employees/teaching and non-
teaching staff of aided schools and colleges or any body incorporated or not, which is
wholly or substantially owned, controlled or aided by any state Government or
Government of India and also to incorporate a condition in the leave sanctioning
order to the effect that the leave without allowances should not be utilized for

accepting employment in such institutions.
(Circular No. 79/2007/Fin dated 23.10.07).
1.34. Constitution of Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of any PSU constituted in accordance with the
provisions of a specific Act will be governed by such Act. In other cases, the

following guidelines were issued by the State Government for the constitution of
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Boards of Directors. The Articles of Association of such PSUs should be amended, if

necessary.

e to limit the number of Directors between 7 and 11 excluding those

representing financing institutions;

e to have two or three functional Directors in the areas of production, finance,

marketing, etc, considering the size and need of each major PSU;

e to appoint Chairman-cum-Managing Director for each PSU depending upon

the merit and circumstances;

e to represent the Government by at least two Directors from Administrative
and Finance Departments besides giving representation to the executive
department concerned of the Government dealing with the activities of the
PSU;

e to nominate two or three outside part-time Directors from a panel prepared by
the PEB; and

e to allow to continue the existing Worker Directors, if any, and improve their
performances by imparting training and extending the term of directorship.
[GO (Ms)/81/86/Plg dated 16-12-1986 of Planning & Economic Affairs (BPE)
Department]
Government should make sure that no one with a direct interest in the same
industry in the private sector is appointed in the Board of Directors of any PSUs.
[16™ Report of CoPU (1973-74) on the action taken on the recommendations of the
third Report on Kerala Fisheries Corporation Limited]
A company functioning without Board of Directors is in violation of the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. Hence, advance action should be initiated by
the PSU for reconstitution of the Board immediately after the expiry of the term of
the existing Board.

[Circular 22/84/Fin dt 21-3-1984 of Finance (Public Undertakings-B) Department]
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1.34.1. Duties and responsibilities of Government Directors

Government Directors represent the shareholders (Government) and they are
an important link between the Government and the PSUs. Administrative Department
of any PSU should not nominate Government Directors, who had in the past failed to
discharge the duties and responsibilities effectively. While selecting the nominees,
preference should be given to those having proficiency in management portfolio.

[Circular 1655/BPE-1/98/Plg dated 6-5-1998 of Planning and Economic
Affairs Department]

The Board of Directors is the ultimate decision making authority in respect of
all matters of the PSUs except in cases where the Memorandum and Articles of
Association/Act and general directions issued by Government from time to time
specify otherwise. The duties and responsibilities of Government Directors and other
related issues prescribed by Government are given below.

e ensure the implementation of all policy guidelines/directions/instructions
issued to the PSUs/Directors. If there are deviations, the Directors should
bring them to the notice of Government;

e make sure of the periodical review of sales, production and working results
with those projected in the annual budget of the PSUs and evaluate the
reasons for non-achievement of the targets;

e ensure that the annual report and accounts of the PSUs are finalised and
presented in the Annual General Meeting (AGM) in time and for this purpose
a status report on the arrears in the finalization of previous and current years’
accounts are included in the agenda of each Board meeting for taking
appropriate steps;

e furnish a report on the arrears in the finalization of accounts of the PSUs
should be submitted within 15 days after attending each Board meeting to the
Secretary of the Administrative Department, the Director (BPE) and the
Additional Secretary, Finance (PU) Department indicating whether the
provisional accounts are up-to-date and if not, the period up to which they
were prepared and placed before the meeting;

e ensure that all loans of Government and other financial institutions and
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interest thereon are repaid in time. In the case of delay for valid reasons, the
Directors should ensure that the PSUs take up the matter with the
Government/institutions concerned for rescheduling the payments in time;
ensure prompt payment of all statutory dues;

monitor the progress of implementation of projects;

co-ordinate/speed up matters, if any, pending with Government;

ensure that the PSUs give adequate notice of the Board meeting to the
Directors for sufficient preparation, particularly for Government Directors to
emphasis Government position on all matters placed before the Board
meeting.

ensure that the agenda of any Board meeting are circulated among the
Government Directors at least 15 days before the meeting. In the event of
failure to adhere to this period (15 days), Government Directors may ask for
deferment of all or any of the items or postponement of the Board meeting
after taking orders from appropriate authorities wherever necessary;

ensure that the PSUs should provide the additional details, if any, on agenda
items placed before the Board meeting to the Government without any delay;
defer any item to next Board meeting, which has not been finalized by
Government due to unavoidable reasons;

attend all Board and other meetings of the PSUs and if they cannot attend any
meeting for any valid reasons, they should obtain leave of absence;

ensure that only those items which are required to be dealt with by the Board
are discussed by it;

ensure that only the minimum number of Board and other meetings are held
by the PSUs and discourage frequent meetings of Board/sub-committees
without valid reasons;

seek Government decision on important matters to be discussed by the Board
before the Government Directors attend the meeting and also request the
Chairman of the Board to reserve such items for the Government decision,
which they consider to be important enough to require prior Government

approval,
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e if any item is decided by the Board contrary to the views of the Government
Directors, they should ensure that their dissents are recorded in the minutes of
the meeting and bring the matter to the notice of the Government;

e ensure that all statutory requirements have been complied with by the PSU
and that a certificate is recorded by the Chief Executive/Secretary to this
effect and made available in every meeting;

e ensure that outside agenda items normally represent routine matters and those
requiring immediate decision and when any policy matter is brought outside
the agenda with Government Directors expressing the view that the item
should be deferred to the next meeting, the Board should under normal
circumstances comply with the decision of the Government Directors;

e furnish to the Secretary to the Administrative Department of the PSU after
every Board meeting, a resume of the important decisions quoting the number
of agenda items (including outside agenda item) considered at the meeting
and items which have been reserved for the decision of the Government and
their dissent, if any, recorded in the meeting;

e take up all cases with the PEB as per GO (Ms) 27/92/ID dated 11-2-1992 by
holding a meeting on third Monday of every month. The agenda of the
meeting should be circulated by the Administrative Department to PEB,
Finance and Planning Departments two weeks before the meeting by
following the procedures prescribed in sub para (iv) of GO (Ms) 4/80/Plg
dated 24-1-1980. In case PEB takes a unanimous decision on any matter,
orders should be issued by the Administrative Department after circulating the
file to the Minister concerned/Finance Minister. In the case of non-unanimous
decision, the recommendations of the PEB (including the points of difference)
should be further processed by the Administrative Department concerned in

accordance with the Rules of Business.

[Circulars 12305/BPE/85/Plg dated 24-1-1986, 13410/BPE-2/93/Plg dated 31-8-93
and 20358/BPE-2/96/Plg dated 10-12-1996 of Planning and Economic Affairs
Department]

e ensure that the PSUs furnish first replies to the observations raised by the
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Statutory Auditors in their final reports within two weeks;

e make sure that the Board examines the audit observations and replies thereto

in detail explaining the matter fully and satisfactorily;

e ensure that PSUs take up the audit observations requiring decision/ratification

by the Government with all factual details of the case;

e ensure that while forwarding copies of the annual accounts to the Legislature,
the PSU should furnish full details of the action taken on each audit
observation brought out in the Auditor’s Report together with copies of the
replies furnished to the Auditors.

[Circular 63/98/Fin dated 19-9-1998 of Finance (PU-B) Department]

e ensure that the Board of Directors of a sick company/potentially sick company
(i.e., a company whose net worth is eroded by 50 per cent or more) made a
reference to the Board for Industrial and Financial Reconstruction for its
rehabilitation/fact of erosion, within 60 days of finalisation of accounts under
the provisions of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act,
1985.

[Circular 8383/BPE/92/Plg dated 27-12-1992 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

e ensure that the surplus funds of PSUs are deposited in treasuries and not in
banks and report such lapses to Government (Finance Department) so as to

take action for non-release of funds by way of share capital, loan and grant.
[Circular 84/97/Fin dated 5-11-1997 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

e ensure compliance of instructions brought out in paragraphs 1.35, 1.36, 1.42,
1422 and 1427 (Finalization of accounts, Replies to audit
enquiries/observations, Pay revision of PSUs, Payment of ex-gratia and

Foreign tours).
1.34.2. Quorum for Board meetings

The quorum for Board meeting of a Government company should be complete
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only if at least one Government Director from its Administrative/Finance Department
is present in the meeting. The Articles of the Association of the company should be
amended to incorporate this provision.
[Circular 12248/BPE-2/91/Plg dated 28-3-1994 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
1.34.3. Frequency of Board meetings

As per section 285 of the Companies Act, 1956, the Board of Directors should
meet at least once in three months. Adequate powers should be delegated to the Chief
Executive to avoid the necessity of frequent Board meetings so as to manage the day-
to-day affairs of the Company without any difficulty and with a sense of participation

and accountability.
[Circular 43217/K3/81/1D dated 15-7-1982 of Industries Department]
1.34.4. Venue of Board meetings

The Board meetings should be held at the registered office of the company as
far as possible to avoid the extra expenditure. Government companies should ensure
that Board meetings are held only sparingly at outstations but without violation of
section 301(5) of the Companies Act, 1956.

[Circular 83309/Comp/4/75/Fin dated 23-4-1976 of Finance Department]

1.34.5. Sitting fees to Directors

The revised sitting fees of non-official Directors/members of the PSUs with
an authorized share capital of Rs 5 crore & above, Rs1 crore to Rs 5 crore and below
Rs 1 crore are Rs 300, Rs 250 and Rs 200 respectively with effect from 29 December
2004. The revised fee in respect of PSUs without any authorized capital is Rs.300 per
non-official Director/member.

No sitting fee should be paid to Government Directors for attending the Board
meetings of the PSUs.

[Circular 49/82/Fin dated 19-8-1982 and GO (P) 603/2004/Fin dated 29-12-2004 of
Finance (PU-C) Department]
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1.35. Finalization of accounts

Government companies should take all possible steps on a war footing to
finalise the annual accounts within the time limit prescribed by the Companies Act,
1956 and to chalk out a time bound programme to liquidate the arrears. They should
finalise provisional accounts within one month of completion of the financial year in
terms of circular (21/8/60-IGC dated 9-2-1970) of the erstwhile Company Law
Board. Chartered Accountants may be engaged, wherever necessary, to prepare the
accounts. The accounts should be subjected to internal audit so as to speed up the
process of statutory audit. They should be approved by the Board of Directors for
speedy completion of audit.

[Circular 21295/BPE-2/90/Plg dated 6-5-1991 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
The audited accounts of a Government company should be placed before its

AGM within six months from the close of the financial year in terms of sections 166
and 210 of the Companies Act, 1956 subject to an extension of three months for
holding the AGM under special circumstances. The Directors and officers responsible
for non-finalization of accounts within the statutory limit are liable to be punishable
with imprisonment or payment of prescribed amount as fine. In the event of
prosecution under the provisions of the Act ibid for the delayed finalisation of
accounts by Government companies, State Government will not interfere and that the
delinquent officers are liable to pay the fine and suffer imprisonment by themselves.

[Circular 17070/BPE-2/91/Plg dated 10-2-1992 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
State Government shall cause to prepare an Annual Report on the working and

affairs of each Government company within three months of the adoption of the
accounts by the AGM and place the same before the Legislature along with copies of
the accounts and Auditor’s Report, Comments of the CAG and Directors’ Report
[Section 619 (A)]. The Committee on papers laid before the Table (2001-04) in its
sixth report (3 February 2004) has noted serious lapse of the Government
(Administrative Department) in ensuring timely presentation of the Annual Report to
the Legislature. Hence, each Government company should forward sufficient copies

of these documents to the Government (Administrative Department) along with full
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details of the action taken by the Management on the audit observations raised during
statutory and supplementary audits and copies of the replies furnished there against.
They were also directed to finalise the accounts within the prescribed time limit.
Government Directors should ensure compliance of these instructions strictly.

[Circulars 20808/BPE-2/93/Plg dated 27-11-1993 and 1334/BPE-2/206/Plg dated
27-2-2006 of Planning and Economic Affairs (BPE) Department and 63/98/Fin
dated 19-9-1998 of Finance (PU-B) Department]

As the accounts are not finalised in time, accountability of the top
Management of a Government company cannot be ascertained and the right of the
Legislature to get the annual report of such a company is deprived accordingly.
Hence, Government companies are directed to get the accounts audited at the earliest
where Statutory Auditors have been appointed. The progress achieved in this regard
should be monitored by the Director, BPE by 15" of every month without fail.

[Circular 19592/BPE-2/96/Plg dated 26-11-1996 of Planning and Economic
Affairs (BPE) Department]

Lock out in a Government company should not be reported as a reason for the
non-finalisation of accounts in the daily statements submitted to the Committee on
papers to be laid on the Table of the Legislative Assembly and care should be taken to
exclude from lock out, the office staff of Corporate Office essential to carry out its
day-to-day activities.

[Circular 7920/BPE-1/98/Plg dated 3-7-1998 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
PSUs are required to comply with the provisions of the AS issued by the ICAI

while finalizing the accounts.

[Circular 1335/BPE-2/06/Plg dated 24-3-2006 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
1.36. Replies to audit enquiries/observations

PSUs should furnish first replies to the audit observations raised by the
Statutory Auditors within two weeks. The Management should give comprehensive
replies to all the audit observations while discussing with the Board. The Board
(including Government Directors) should examine each case in detail and ensure that
the replies are furnished fully and satisfactorily. PSUs are also responsible for giving
the final replies to the observations raised during statutory and supplementary audits

except in cases where Government decisions/ratifications are required. PSUs should
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report such cases to the Government with all factual details for examination by the

latter.
[Circular 63/98/Fin dated 19-9-1998 of Finance (PU-B) Department]

Chief Executives of PSUs are required to ensure that prompt and complete
replies (including first reply) are given to the audit enquiries raised during the
transaction audit conducted under section 619 of the Companies Act, 1956 and make
themselves available on the concluding day of the audit for discussion of the draft
Inspection Report.

[Circulars 21640/BPE-2/89/PIlg dated 20-12-1989 of Planning and Economic

Affairs (BPE) Department]
1.37.  Income tax audit

The Income Tax Act, 1961 stipulates that tax audit on the accounts of PSUs
having a turnover or gross receipt exceeding Rs 40 lakh from the assessment year
1985-86 should be conducted annually by a Chartered Accountant. The Tax Audit
Report should be filed with the Income Tax Department in the prescribed proforma
within the stipulated time in order to get the benefit of carry forward loss, etc. If the
Statutory Auditors were appointed before the close of the financial year, the tax audit
should invariably be assigned to them by PSUs having no arrears in the finalization of
accounts.

[Circular 11397/88/BPE/Plg dated 17-6-1988 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
1.38. Internal audit

In view of the heavy investment by Government of Kerala in its PSUs, it was
decided to constitute Public Sector Restructuring and Internal Audit Board to audit
the accounts of PSUs under Industries Department to ascertain whether they run
properly. The Board is allowed to avail of the consultancy service from the Centre for
Management Development. The functions of the Board are as follows.

e to act as a watchdog for audit and ensure quick clearance of backlog in audit;
e to tone up the accounting system and ensure that the accounts are made up-to-

date within a short period as possible;
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to advice the PSUs on corrective measures in the areas of audit, accounts and
related matters;

to formulate and implement measures for the improvement of the working of
the PSUs with their involvement and advice the Government in areas such as
suspected wrong accounting/computation of profit or loss, improper account
to cover up the actual state of affairs, expenditure control and extravagant
expenditure;

to ensure timely realisation of full income tax and other benefits due to the
entity;

to conduct special audit of companies whenever necessary;

to formulate guidelines for conducting internal audit as an effective instrument
of management control and accounting;

to analyse the performance of PSUs;

to recommend financial restructuring of the PSUs;

to recommend future strategy to be followed in respect of each PSU taken up
for study.

to act as an independent source of information for Government;

The following guidelines are issued by the Government for conducting the

internal audit of PSUs.

The objective of Internal Audit (1A) is to assist the top management of any

PSU with analysis, appraisals, information and recommendations relating to its

activities for improving its performance. IA should focus on providing independent

appraisal of operating systems, procedures and controls for maximum efficiency. 1A

should review or conduct or ensure that:

the existing internal controls are adequate and effective;

the financial accounting and other records and reports show results of actual
operations accurately and promptly;

each unit of the PSU follows the policies and procedures as laid down by the
top Management.

the reliability and integrity of financial and operating information and the

means used to identify, classify and report such information;
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systems established to ensure compliance with the policies, plans, procedures,
laws and regulations which could have a significant impact on operations and
reports and should determine whether the PSU is in compliance thereof;

the assets and verify the existence of such assets;

the economy and efficiency with which resources are employed,;

the operations and programmes to ascertain whether the results are consistent
with the established objectives and goals and whether the operations and
programmes are being carried out as planned,;

books of account including statutory records are maintained correctly;

the subsidiary accounts and other relevant records maintained in other
departments are scrutinized periodically;

physical verification of stores, raw-materials, finished goods and movable
assets;

the accuracy of the monthly journal entries prepared by various sections;

the rules, regulations and orders having financial bearing are issued by the
competent authorities and that these are observed by all departments;

all transactions accounted for in the books with reference to the initial
documents like purchase orders, receipts, vouchers, pay rolls, sales invoices,
journal entries, etc., and check the books of account like journals, ledgers and
final accounts including the schedules;

all transactions from the angle of financial propriety and recommend correct
methods for executive action and ways and means for effecting economy and
safeguarding against fraud, misappropriation or other loss with emphasis on
prevention and that irregularities detected are reported promptly to the higher
authorities for immediate action;

the efficiency of both accounting procedures and actual performance of the
employees;

studies on procedures for recruitment, performance appraisals, promotions,
manpower planning, identification of potential officials for taking up higher
job responsibilities, work environment and employee health; and

special investigations and reviews as required by the top Management from
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time to time.
[Letter 44528/33/84/1D dated 13-3-1985 of Industries (J) Department]

1.39. PSU Manual

PSUs should prepare detailed Manual for the preservation of current and
unaudited accounts specifying the officers who are responsible to keep the books of
account and files until the accounts are audited and adopted in the AGM. They are
also required to preserve the audited records under safe custody of a designated
record keeper for a minimum period of eight years from the date of adopting of the
accounts. All Chief Executives are directed to finalise the Manual within six months
and report compliance to the Government (Administrative Department) under

intimation to BPE.

[Circular 12424/BPE-1/98/Plg dated 12-10-1998 of Planning and Economic
Affairs (BPE) Department]

1.40. Requirement of Compliance Certificate

Section 383 A of the Companies Amendment Act, 2000, and the Companies
(Compliance Certificate) Rules 2001 requires that every company which is not
required to employ a whole time Secretary and whose paid up share capital is Rs. 10
lakh or more but less than Rs. 2 crore at any point of time during the financial year
shall be required to obtain a compliance certificate from a practicing company

secretary in respect of that financial year.

Every company to which the rules apply is required to file with the Registrar
of companies the compliance certificate from a secretary in whole time practice
within 30 days on which its annual general meeting is held and attach a copy of that
certificate with Board’s report. The requirement of obtaining compliance certificate is

mandatory for a company even if it has employed a whole time secretary.
(Circular No. 954/BPE2/06/Plg Dated. 24.3.06)
1.41 Facilities to non-official part-time Chairman

Apart from full-time executive Chairman, part-time Chairman (officials or

non-officials) is appointed by the Government for a PSU. In the case of part-time
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Chairman, there will be a Managing Director/General Manager functioning as the
Chief Executive of the PSU. In order to bring about certain degree of uniformity, the

following facilities are extended to the part-time Chairmen of the PSUs.

Sl. Facilities Entitlements
No.
1 Functions To preside over the Board and sub-Committee

meetings and approve the minutes of such
meetings only.

2 Honorarium Rs 2,000 per month (from 29-10-1996)
3 Sitting fee for Board/sub- | As per the rates fixed by the Government from
Committee meeting time to time for non-official

Directors/members.

4 Tours and use of car Traveling allowance should be paid only for
attending the Board and sub-Committee
meetings, which will be treated as official. No
other tours should be undertaken for official
purposes without the prior approval of the
Board. For journeys outside the State, prior
approvals of the Board of Directors and
Government should be obtained. Where a car
has been made available exclusively for the
Chairman, fuel and oil should be procured at
his cost for free use of the car or use the car for
private purposes up to 500 km a month on
payment of the prescribed sum as in the case of
Chief Executive of the PSU.

5 Telephone 600 calls per month (from 29-10-1996). Calls
made in excess should be treated as private and
recovery made. Telephone rental charge should
be met by the PSU.

6 Other payments Not eligible for any remuneration other than
those mentioned above.

[GO (Ms) 9/85/P1g/19/96 dated 5-2-1985, 2/91/Plg dated 1-2-1991, 46/85/Plg dated
21-5-1985 and 19/66/Plg dated 29-10-1996 of Planning and Economics Affairs
(BPE) Department and Circular 13525/BPE-2/97/Plg dated 20-10-1997 of Chief
Secretary]

1.42. Pay revision of PSUs

PSU employees should not be allowed to enjoy the rights and facilities under

the Industrial Disputes Act as well as the automatic extension of all benefits granted
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to Government servants. No PSU should implement or negotiate any changes in the
existing wage structure including payment of interim relief (IR), introduction of new
perquisites/allowances, enhancement of existing benefits, etc., without prior approval
of the Government (Administrative Department). Before negotiating a new wage
agreement, PSUs should compulsorily obtain guidelines from the Government
(Administrative Department) in this respect, which should in turn elicit the views of
the BPE on all proposals relating to the wage structure. Violation in this score should
be reported to the Chief Minister for appropriate orders. Government Directors in the
Board should ensure adherence to these instructions.

[Circulars 90/79/Fin dated 27-10-1979 of Finance (Commercial) Department and

27043/BPE/86/PIlg dated 2-2-1987 and GO (Ms) 18/93/Plg dated 14-10-1993 of
Planning and Economic Affairs (BPE) Department]

Three months before the expiry of the validity of the existing wage agreement,
the PSUs should send proposals in the prescribed proforma, in duplicate, to the
Government (Administrative Department) with copy to BPE. The proforma should
contain data for three years each (past and projected) in respect of installed capacity,
production, personnel, budget, financial position, operating results, wage levels and
pay scales, etc., and salient features of the existing wage agreement and analysis of
the charter of demands by unions/employees.

[Circular 26518/BPE/87/Plg dated 11-12-1987 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

No wage revision is allowed in any loss making PSU and that wage revision
should be considered only if the PSU has made net profit for a consecutive period of
two years before the request is made to the State Government in this score.

[GO (Ms) 17/94/Plg dated 24-10-1994 of Planning and Economic Affairs (BPE)
Department]
The following judgment of the Supreme Court of India (25-4-2003) upholds

the views of the State Government.

Employees of Government companies are not civil servants and hence not
entitled to protection under Article 311 of the Constitution of India. They have no
legal right to claim that Government should pay their salary and additional

expenditure incurred on account of revision of pay scale. The economic viability or
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financial capacity of the company should be taken into consideration while revising
the pay scales of the employees.

[Circular 9894/BPE-2/03/Plg dated 2-3-2005 of Planning and Economic Affairs

(BPE) Department]

In the case of PSUs following Government pattern of pay scales and dearness

allowances (DA), pay revision should be implemented only on completion of five
years from the last pay revision.

[GO (Ms) 12/95/Plg dated 15-7-1995 of Planning and Economic Affairs (BPE)
Department]

IR granted to Government employees should be extended to the PSU
employees only with the approval of the Government subject to the following
stipulations.

e that pay scales in the PSU are identical with those in Government service; and

e that the Board have recommended the extension of IR subject to the condition
that the financial commitment in this respect should be met from self-
generated income/revenue of the PSU, etc.

Any deviation in this respect should be taken up with the Council of Ministers
for specific orders in advance.

[Circular 8069/BPE-2/97/Plg dated 26-3-1998 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
1.42.1 Sanction for Dearness allowance

No separate Government sanction is necessary for the extension of the
payment of DA to the employees of PSUs which follow Government rates of DA,
when DA is sanctioned to Government employees. The non-impounding of arrears of
DA and payment thereof in cash are applicable to those PSUs following the
Employees Provident Fund Rules.

[GO (P) 13/89/Fin dated 11-1-1989 and GO (P) 214/89/Fin dated 15-4-1989 of
Finance (PU-C) Department]

1.42.2 Payment of ex-gratia
State Government has been issuing guidelines every year for the payment of
bonus and special festival allowance to the employees of PSUs and most of the

guidelines are repetitive in nature as follows.
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Loss making PSUs should not pay bonus in excess of 8.33 per cent admissible
under the provisions of the Bonus Act. Profit making PSUs with allocable surplus of
over 20 per cent, should pay bonus above 20 per cent only with the prior approval of
the Government. Bonus should be paid only to employees drawing a salary less than
the amount fixed by Government. Employees drawing salary above the limit are
entitled to special festival allowance only and they should not be paid bonus, ex-
gratia, incentive, etc. Payment of bonus and special festival allowance should be
disbursed strictly in accordance with the Government guidelines. Board of Directors,
Chief Executives and Head of Finance of the PSUs are personally responsible for
violation of this condition. PSUs are allowed to deviate from the guidelines only with
the specific approval of Government. Proposals on this score should be submitted to
the Government by the PSU concerned duly approved by its Board of Directors.
Government (Administrative Department) should issue sanction only with the
approval of the Council of Ministers. In case where such approval is not possible
before making the payment, the sanction should be issued by circulation to the
Ministers in charge of the Department, Labour and Finance and the Chief Minister.
The Secretary to Government (Administrative Department) and the Officer approving

the order should be personally responsible for violation of this condition.

[GO (Rt) 1747/2006/LBR dated 28-7-2006 of Labour and Rehabilitation (D)
Department]

Before making the payment of bonus to the employees, PSUs should complete

the audit of annual accounts of the previous year.

[Circular 8558/BPE-1/06/Plg dated 28-2-2007 of Planning & Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

In case where excess amounts have already been paid violating the provisions
of the Bonus Act and the Government instructions, the same should be recovered

from the officers concerned, if they are still in service.
[GO (P) 601/91/Fin dated 12-11-1991 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

After earning a nominal profit in a particular year, PSUs spend spree and

starts paying incentive, performance-cum-motivation allowance, good attendance
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allowance, etc., in spite of having heavy loss during the previous years and without
creating reserve out of profit for product diversification, technology upgradation and
replacement of obsolete and worn out machinery. PSUs cannot lean on financial
support from Government on all occasions but will have to generate their own
resources by sound financial management which includes identifying areas of
economy and sensible deployment of profit.

[Circular 2293/BPE-1/98/Plg dated 23-4-1998 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

1.42.3 House rent allowance

PSUs paying house rent allowance (HRA) to their employees at rates higher
than those of the Government employees should adopt Government rates in future.
The existing payment should be continued till the next revision of the pay/DA. Future
entrants may be given HRA at Government rates only. Prior approval of Government

is required in the following cases.
)] to enhance the existing rates of HRA to Government rates;
i) to introduce the payment of HRA to the employees of PSU;

iii)  to pay higher rates of HRA than Government rates for the engagement
of specialized personnel.

[Circular 5/78/Fin dated 20-1-1978 of Finance Department]

1.42.4 Conveyance allowance

Conveyance allowance is allowed only in the case of PSU officers who have
to move out frequently from Headquarters within a radius of eight km for official
work. In such cases, office vehicles should not normally be used. In case where the
Chief Executives are provided with vehicles, personal use of the same should be
subject to a monthly payment as indicated in Chapter 1.42.5. This will apply to non-
official Chairmen also who are provided with such facility.

[Circular 56/78/Fin dated 19-7-1978 - File CA/17-17/Vol 1l and GO (P) 469/84/Fin
dated 1-9-1984 - File CA 1/A/21-22Vol 11]
The eligibility for conveyance allowance to any officer is that he should have
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a vehicle in his own name and that it should normally be operated for journeys for
official purpose at Headquarters within a radius of eight km.
[GO (Ms) 553/78/Fin dated 28-6-1978 and Circular 6/79 Fin dated 22-1-1979 of
Finance Department - File CAI/A/17-17Vol.11]
1.42.5 Official car for private purpose

The revised rates of hire charges of PSU vehicles used for non-duty purposes
by its Chief Executive are as follows with effect from 1 April 2001.

Recovery in
Sl Engine power of car Recovery per quarter excess of 1500
No. km per
Kilometre | Amount (Rs) quarter
1 Small non-AC cars 1,500 2,250 Rs.6 per km
2 Big non-AC cars with 1,500 3,375 Rs.6 per km
engines having above 16
HP
3 | Small AC cars 1,500 3,000 Rs.6 per km
4 Big AC cars 1,500 4,500 Rs.6 per km

If the quarterly ceiling of 1,500 km has not been made use in any particular
quarter, the balance should not be carried over to the subsequent quarter. The

concession would be normally admissible only to the Chief Executives of the PSUs.

The concession of treating journeys from residence to office and back as duty
is admissible only up to a maximum distance of 15 km from the Registered Office of
the PSU in corporation areas and 12 km in other areas.

[Circular 65/83 Fin dated 12-10-1983 of Finance Department and GO (Ms)
757/2001/Fin dated 16-5-2001 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

PSU cars should not be used to pick up Managers (other than Chief Executive
Officer/Chairman) from their residences to office and back.

[Circular 20214/BPE-1/91/Plg dated 4-1-1992 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]
Log books of cars indicating the Registration Number, make and horse power

of the car, details of journeys for official duties and private purpose should be
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maintained separately. If no register is maintained, recovery at the highest rate
should be effected.

[Circular 66/86/Fin dated 19-9-1986 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

No free use of the car owned by any PSU for private purposes for the
Managing Director or General Manager will be allowed.

[Govt. of India OMs F14 (43)/E1V (B)/8 dated 1-1-1963, F-2 (18) PC/64 dated20-

11-1964 and F-3 (8)-E 11 (a)/84 dated 4-7-1984 and letter 17764/02/66/1D dated 1-

11-1966 of the Special Secretary to Government Industries (G) Department,
Government of Kerala — File CA/Insp/718 Vol 1]

1.42.6 Travelling allowance

Mileage rates of PSU employees may be the same as those of Government
employees. If the DA rates of the former are higher than those of the latter, PSUs may
review and refix the DA in such a way that the rates conform more or less to those of
the latter.

DA rates outside the State have two components (room rent and other
expenses). Actual room rent paid with a ceiling of Rs.125 in major cities like Delhi,
Mumbai and Kolkata may be allowed. Over and above, they may be allowed DA
admissible to Government servants. The payment of actual expenditure without any
limit may be stopped. The expenditure incurred for entertainment should be separated
from traveling allowance (TA) and met from the provisions for entertainment, if any,
made in the approved budget of the PSU. If these guidelines give rise to any serious
difficulties in the management of any negotiation and making such other exigencies,
specific sanction of the Board of Directors may be obtained for meeting the

unforeseen expenditure.

The above power given to the Board may be delegated to the Chief
Executive, if necessary, but the expenditure on TA should be reviewed by the former
at least once in a quarter.

[Circulars 55/76/Fin dated 12-6-1976 and 102/76/Fin dated 25-10-1976 of Finance

Department]
TA/DA rates of Chief Executives/part time Chairmen/non-official Directors of

PSUs were made on par with the State Government employees. Government have
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revised rates of TA/DA and the monthly/quarterly ceiling of TA of State Government
employees (GO (P) 4/2004/Fin dated 3-1-2004) and extended the revised rates to the
employees and officers of the PSUs also.

PSU employees are not entitled to concessional rate of room rent in
Government Guest/Rest House, etc., as in the case of Government employees. Hence,
the Board of Directors of PSUs may, if necessary, allow a marginal increase up to 15
per cent over and above the admissible rates of DA on the same lines as ordered in
Government circular 55/76/Fin dated 12-6-1976. The monthly ceiling limit indicated
in the Government order of January 2004 may be enhanced marginally but not
exceeding 15 per cent. There will be no change in respect of mileage allowance,
incidental expenses, reimbursement of room rent, etc. The three star accommodation
facilities in star hotels outside the State provided in the Government order of January
2004 will apply only to the Chairmen/Chief Executives of PSUs.

[GO (P) 603/2004/Fin dated 29-12-2004 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

Government Directors who perform official journeys to PSUs are entitled to
TA at the rates applicable to them according to the Kerala Service Rules. On
submission of the tour claim by the Directors, the payment should be made by the
PSUs.

[GO (P) 1003/87/Fin dated 26-11-1987 of Finance (PU-C) Department - File CA
IV/IA/21-GL/Vol VII]
The Chief Executives of the PSUs may intimate their tour programmes

outside the State to the Secretary to the Government in advance indicating the

purpose, period of tour and other details.

[Circular13511/BPE-2/89/PIlg dated 13-7-1989 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

1.42.7 Foreign tours

Foreign tour proposals for Government approval are grouped into the

following categories:
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Sl.

No.

Type of tour

Specific conditions for tour

To negotiate/conclude
collaboration agreement or
inspect machinery prior to
shipment

Training

i)

Training in accordance
with the provisions of the
existing collaboration
agreement, which has been
approved by Government

PSU employee who is about to retire or whose
services are not likely to be available for long
period should not be considered for foreign tour.

The officer sent for training should occupy the
same position at least for a period of two to
three years on completion of the training.
Suitable service bonds should be executed in
respect of training exceeding beyond a period of

six months.

The proposals covering the itinerary, cost, purpose, etc., should be cleared by
the Board of Directors of the PSUs before submitting to the Government
(Administrative Department). In order to issue appropriate orders, the Administrative
Department should consult the Finance Department and obtain approvals of the
Minister concerned, Finance Minister and the Chief Minister through the Chief
Secretary. The case should be cleared by the Council of Ministers, if the Minister
concerned/Chief Minister desires. Thereafter, necessary clearance should be obtained
from Government of India (Ministry of External Affairs) from the political angle and
exchange clearance from the Ministry of Finance (Department of Economic Affairs)
and Ministry of Home Affairs in respect of Foreign Contribution (Regulations) Act.
PSU employees are entitled only to the split rates of foreign exchange as prescribed

by the Ministry of External Affairs.

The official who visited abroad should submit a tour report to the Chief
Executive/Board of Directors within one month of return to India indicating the
business transacted/contacts established, orders canvassed, other achievements and
follow up action proposed. The Board should evaluate the report and send a copy
thereof along with its views thereon to the Government (Administrative Department)
within three months of receipt of the report. PSU officer, who visited abroad, should

within three months of the submission of the tour report, further submit another report
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to the Chief Executive/Board, regarding follow up action taken and the benefits

actually accrued.

Government Directors in the Board should ensure compliance of these

instructions scrupulously.

The proposals to Government for foreign tours should invariably contain the

following details.

Number of foreign tours undertaken by the officer during the past one year;
e Copies of tour reports submitted by the Officer;
e Actual expenses incurred by the Government and the PSU on each tour;

e Actual gain accrued to the State on account of previous tour (itinerary once

approved will not be modified on any account);

e Anticipated achievements by the proposed tour; and

Response of the Embassy/High Commission to the proposed tour.

[Circulars 17974/82/BPE/Plg dated 22-11-1982 - File CAI/A/21-GI./Vol V -
10254/83/BPE/PIg dated 25-1-1984 of Planning and Economic Affairs (BPE)
Department and 41306/SS.1/96/Fin dated 16-8-1996 of Finance (SS) Department
and 3114/2005/CSO dated 22-9-2005 of the Chief Secretary]

Apart from the above particulars, the proposals for international trade
fair/promotion/collaboration with foreign companies should also contain the

following additional details.

e Financial position of the PSU such as equity, reserves and details of highest
exports ever achieved (including directives of exports country wise),
accumulated loss and sales turnover, cash profit and net profit each for the
last three years and whether accounts are up-to-date along with copy of the

latest provisional accounts; and

e Whether the PSU has defaulted in repayment of loan and payment of interest

and guarantee commission to Government.

[Circular 43355/D-3/93/1D dated 8-3-1994 of Industries (D) Department]
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Promotional tours to abroad by the PSU officers whether as a part of
Government of India delegation or otherwise should not be allowed. In the case of
foreign tours for technical collaboration, the proposal should be carefully examined
from the point of view of real necessity, the duration of the tour and also its objective
and the Finance Department consulted before submitting the case to the Chief
Minister. As a measure of economy, proposals for relaxations of the existing
guidelines should not be entertained and that no ratification should be given under
any circumstances for a foreign tour in violation of the guidelines.

[GO (Rt) 122/85/Plg dated 11-2-1985 - File CA 1/D/15-26/Vol XXII1 of Planning
and Economic Affairs (BPE) Department]

All proposals for the visit of the PSU officers abroad should ensure assured
positive results in the interests of the State and that they should be submitted to the
Chief Secretary well in advance through the Secretaries/Principal Secretaries of the
departments concerned. After approval of the journey, the itinerary/travel should be

got approved from the Chief Secretary.
[Circular 3114/2005/CSO dated 22-9-2005 issued by the Chief Secretary]

The total number of foreign tours undertaken by the PSU employees and the
total expenditure incurred thereagainst should be indicated in their Annual Reports.

Prior approval of Government should be obtained in all these cases.

[No0.57/79 Fin dated 29-6-1979 of Finance (Comml) Department and No. 81/80
dated 17-11-1980 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

1.42.8 Guidelines for allotment of quarters

The following guidelines should be observed in the allotment of residential

quarters and realisation of rent from the employees of PSUs.

(1) Any PSU possessing its own buildings for quarters may let out the same, if
there is any contractual obligation under any Act, Regulation or agreement to that
effect and that the allotment should be subject to the provisions of the relevant Act,

etc;
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(if) In the absence of own buildings, if HRA in lieu of such a facility is to be
given as per the Act, Regulation or agreement, HRA at the specified rates may be

given;

(iii) If there are no contractual obligation for providing quarters, but any PSU
possessing own quarters may let out the same to its employees and Government
officers on deputation, subject to recovery of rent at 7.5 per cent of pay and non-

payment of admissible HRA;

(iv) PSU should not ordinarily resort to hiring of buildings to provide quarters
to its employees/Government officers on deputation. In case quarters are to be
provided in terms of the appointment letter, the rent of the hired building should not
exceed 40 per cent of the pay of the official for New Delhi, Kolkota and Mumbai and
30 per cent for Chennai and Bangalore and 25 per cent for other cities and towns. In
such cases, 10 per cent of the pay should be recovered from the official towards rent

besides non-payment of HRA; and

(v) Employees already enjoying quarters may continue to occupy them till
they vacate the post, subject to the existing terms and conditions.

[Circulars 58/79/Fin dated 5-7-1979 of Finance (Commercial) Department and 4/80 Fin
dated 17-1-1980 of Finance (PU) Department - File CA 1V/A21-Gl/Vol VII]

1.42.9 Voluntary retirement scheme

Government have introduced voluntary retirement scheme (VRS) in PSUs to
rationalize the staff strength. The financial assistance given in this respect should be

treated as working capital loan carrying interest for such loan.

[Circulars 6038/BPE-1/95/Plg dated 17-11-1995, 58/92/Fin dated 27-11-1992 and
3499/Fin dated 27-5-1999 of Finance (PU-C) Department]

While introducing VRS, the following conditions should be observed.
e The posts held by the officials availing of VRS should be abolished forthwith;
e The employee should have completed 10 years’ service or 40 years of age;

e PSUs have the right to sanction or reject VRS for reasons recorded in writing;

and
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e In addition to the usual terminal benefits (PF, leave encashment, gratuity, etc.)
as per the rules of the PSU, the following additional benefits are entitled under
VRS:

o One or three months’ notice pay as per the conditions of the service of

the PSU; and

o An amount equal to one and half a months’ emoluments (pay plus DA)
for each completed year of service or the monthly emoluments at the
time of retirement under VRS multiplied by the balance months of

service left before normal date of retirement whichever is less.

This general scheme is not applicable in respect of VRS as a part of major
restructuring of the PSU such as disinvestment, closure of a unit, etc., and for such

cases, separate scheme will be approved by Government.

The PSUs should frame their own rules for VRS strictly in accordance with
the general scheme duly approved by the Government (Administrative Department)
and that the expenditure in this respect should be met by the PSUs themselves.
However, financial assistance will be considered by Government in deserving cases
(reduction of work force is essential to revive the PSU though it has no finance to
meet VRS expenditure) subject to clearance for central assistance from National
Renewal Fund.

[Circular 6038/BPE-1/95/Plg dated 17-11-1995 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

The following judgment of the Supreme Court of India (25-4-2003) upholds
the views of the State Government.

There is no legal or constitutional infirmity in stipulating that for a PSU
registered with the BIFR, pay revision and other benefits will be allowed only if it is
decided to revive the unit and the revival package should include the enhanced
liability on this account. After paying the amount under VRS and the employee
ceases to be under the employment of the company, he leaves with all his rights and

there is no question of his again agitating for any kind of his past rights with his
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erstwhile employer including making claim with regard to enhancement of pay scale

for an earlier period.

[Circular 9894/BPE-2/03/Plg dated 2-3-2005 of Planning and Economic Affairs
(BPE) Department]

1.43. Dispute between PSUs and Government departments

Government constituted a High Power Committee for each department for
settling the disputes between the PSUs and Government departments and the PSUs

themselves as follows.

Sl PSUs/Government High Power
No. Committee

1 | Additional Chief Secretary to Government Chairman

2 Law Secretary Member

3 Principal Secretary/Secretary of BPE (for PSUs) Member

4 Principal Secretary/Secretary of the department concerned Member

5 Head of the Department/Chief Executive of the PSU Member

6 Finance Secretary (cases involving financial commitment) Member

All disputes pending before any Courts, Tribunals, etc., should be referred
back to the Committee for settlement. The Committee should settle all disputes within
a period of three months. In the case of unsettled disputes, it is open to the Committee
to give clearance to the parties to proceed with the litigation indicating the detailed

reasons for the non-settlement of the disputes.

[GO (Ms) 27/96/P & ARD dated 23-8-1996 of Personnel and Administrative
Reforms (D) Department]
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Annexure-I|
(Referred to in Chapter 1.02)

Autonomous Bodies

1 National Transportation Promotion and Research Centre

2 | Seed Authority

3 Matsya Keralam

4 | Tropical Botanic Garden and Research Institute

5 | Centre for Water Resources Development and Management
6 Thenmala Eco Tourism Promotion Society

7 Sophisticated Instrumentation Centre

8 | State Agriculture Management and Extension Training Institute
9 | State Council for Science, Technology and Environment

10 | State Fisheries Resource Management Society

11 | State Horticulture Mission

12 | Land Use Board

13 | Malabar Botanical Garden Society

14 | Kerala Veterinary and Animal Science University

15 [ Kerala State Veterinary Council

16 | Kerala State Information Technology Mission

17 | Kerala State Cashew workers Apex Industrial Cooperative Society
18 | Kerala State Biodiversity Board

19 [ Kerala Road Fund Board

20 | Kerala Institute of Tourism and Travel Studies

21 | Kerala Khadi and Village Industries Board

22 | Kerala Khadi Workers Welfare Fund Board

23 | Kerala Forest Research Institute

24 | Kerala Agricultural University

25 | Infopark

26 | Institute of Handloom Textile and Internal Audit Board

27 | Integrated Rural Technology Centre

28 | International Centre for Free Software and Free Knowledge
29 | Centre for Earth Science Studies

30 | Debt Commission

31 | Electronic Technopark

32 | Energy Management Centre

33 | Fisheries and Ocean Science University

34 | Agency for Non-Conventional Energy and Rural Technology
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CHAPTER -2

COMMERCIAL AUDIT HEADQUARTERS

2.01. Introduction

Commercial Audit Headquarters (CA HQ) in main office consists of four

sections under the control of two Branch Officers and under the supervisory control

of a Group Officer (Senior Deputy Accountant General/Deputy Accountant
General-Commercial). An Assistant Audit Officer (C) is in charge of each CA HQ

Section who is assisted by Senior Auditors/Auditors to execute allotted activities of

the section.

2.02. Duties and responsibilities

CA HQ Sections are entrusted with the following items of works:

CAHQ IA

>
>

Administration of CA Wing.

Preparation of Corporate Plan/Annual Audit Plan and quarterly audit
programmes of all entities under CA Wing.

Training needs analysis and nominations for training courses in RTI
Chennai, RTC Trivandrum etc.

Maintenance of tour diary register of field parties, leave accounts and
checking of TA bills & Transport allowance claims.

Preparation of consolidated MIS Report to CAG.

Returns relating to finalization of accounts of Companies and its audit
for submission to CAG.

Other returns relating to IRs for submission to CAG and AG.

Periodical follow up of clearance of arrears in accounts and pendency
in settlement of IRs.

Consolidation of monthly arrear reports for submission to AG and
other returns to Sr.DAG and various controlling sections.

Preparation of responses to exposure drafts on IPSAS, IGAS and
other related topics.

Financial Attest Audit Monitoring
Follow up of audit related issues with Government of Kerala.
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> Issue of technical directions related to CA wing.
» Work related to Audit Quality Management Framework.
CA I, 11l & IV Sections

The CA HQ II, Il & IV are engaged in editing, finalization, issue and
pursuance of  Inspection Reports, procession and issue of Draft
Comments/Comments/Separate Audit Report (SARs)/Audit Reports (ARs). These
sections are also engaged in review of Board Minutes of the respective auditee for
further action in field audit and issue of feedback before each audit. The IR paras are
being pursued through correspondence and Audit Committee meetings with
Companies/ Statutory Corporations/DCUs. The sections are processing SOFs on
potential audit paras for issue to the auditee through Report (Commercial) Section.
The authority for audit by the CAG and the assignment of audit of these entities to the
AG (ERSA) are discussed in the respective chapters.

The specific duties and responsibilities allotted to each section of CA HQ are

given below.

CA HQ Il to IV Sections

Section | Companies under following sector Duties

Agriculture and plantation - Review of Board minutes
(including Kerala State Warehousing and_ maintenance of BM
Corporation) register and fu_rther action

_ on important points.
Electronics - Liaison with local audit
CAl Information technology and others parties before each audit
Tourism development through  correspondence/

_ Google.

Textiles - Processing and issue of IRs
and comments and
Industrial infrastructure preparation of SOF (draft).
_ - Performance evaluation of

Mining/clay each IR/comments.
CA Ill | Chemicals and drugs - Follow up of IR paras
Trading through correspondence
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Traditional industries with auditee/Government.

Cement - Settlement of IR paras
through audit committees.

Transport/port

- Communication with
statutory auditors in
connection  with  619(4)

Social welfare audit.

Departmental Commercial
Undertakings

CAIV' Construction works - Updation of data base of

respective companies.

- Preparation of data for
Audit Report (Commercial)
as required by Report(C)
section.

Engineering, Steel and others

- Weeding out of old records

Finance (including KFC)

2.03. Corporate Plan/ Annual Audit Plan

The Headquarters has revised the format for Corporate Plan vide letter No.
501/CAll/Coord/Audit Plan2010-11/166-2009 dated 11.9.09.The revised plan is
made applicable from the year 2010-11. The revised plan should be submitted to the
Headquarters before 31 December every year. The revised plan tries to concentrate on
quality rather than quantitative coverage. It also provides time for parties to study
previous audit reports/IRs and departmental profiles before going to the field.
Secondly, with systematic categorization of units, the manpower requirement may

actually go down. Corporate Audit Plan Structure is indicated below.
Ch. I: Introduction and Auditee Profile

1. About the State

(Provide a brief write-up on State, its people, area, economic activities, forest
cover, social indicators etc. You may like to incorporate a map of the State.

Paras under this may be numbered 1.1, 1.2........... )

66




2. Industrial policy of the State
(Describe the evolution of Industrial Policy in brief; the salient features/thrust
areas of Industrial Policy and list the PSUs who are concerned with the thrust
areas.)

3. Agro Industry policy of the State
(As per SI. No. 2 above)

4. Vision of the State
(Relevant vision points impacting state, PSUs)

5. Disinvestment policy of the State and progress

6. Nodal Department/Agency

7. Financial Profile of the State PSUs
(Provide overview —Sectoral investment with a trend over 5 years, Turnover
trend, major sectors, aggregate profit/loss, accumulated loss, manpower
employed, capital employed, return on capital employed)

8. Auditee Profile
(Information may be provided in the following table)

Pl. see Annexure ‘A’.

PSU No. of No. of Units Category (Nos.)
Category PSUs | Total Units Units ‘A’ Units ‘B’ Units
‘C’

Category
‘A’ PSUs

Category
‘B” PSUs

Category
‘C’ PSUs

Total

(For each PSU, a profile may be prepared as per Annexure ‘B’. There will be as
many profiles as the PSUs).
Ch. Il: Audit Plan
1. Broad aims
(State the broad objectives. Aim to cover 80% issues/areas of functioning in 5

years).
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2. Achievements so far

(May be stated for previous five years. This should include coverage of

substantive issues/areas in audit. Nos. would suffice; individual details may be

given in annexures in bullet form)

3. Last year’s deployment of audit resources
Overview Mandays Planned Mandays Utilised Shortfall
Certification Audit
IT Audit
Performance Audit
Transaction Audit
Total
Audit Plan
Certification Audit
No. of PSUs No. of PSUs No. of Accounts Mandays Mandays
Planned Audited Audited Planned Utilised
IT Audit
No. of IT Audits | No. of IT Audits No. of DPs/Reviews Mandays Mandays
Planned done prepared Planned Utilised
Performance Audit
No. of PA No. of PA No. of reviews Mandays Mandays
planned conducted printed planned utilised
Transaction Audit
PSU No. of units planned No. of units completed Mandays* | Mandays*
Category A’ B’ «C  Total | ‘A’ B’ ‘C’ Total Planned Utilised
A
B
C
Total

(Reason for shortfall may be stated)

4, Next year’s Audit Plan

4.1

Manpower Availability for Commercial Audit
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Sanctioned Strength

MIP as on 31.10.2009

AOs/SAOs

AAOs

Total

Auditors
Sanctioned Strength =
MIP =

(Audit Plan should be prepared for MIP irrespective of whether there are retirements during

the next year).

4.2  Manpower for HQ and RAOs

Staff Deployment Sr AOs/AQOs AAOs Total
Staff in HQ

Staff in RAO Offices

Total

(The staff requirement for HQ should be restricted to 20% of the total MIP.
Regarding RAO Offices, which are a few in numbers, it should be judiciously worked

out)

Excess in HQs & RAOs as
per above guidelines

4.3  Manpower for field audit work

Sr.AOsAOs AAOs Total
Total MIP
Less: HQ & RAOs
Staff available for field audit
(Mandays for this manpower be worked out as shown below)
Per person availability of mandays

5 Day Week 6 Day Week

No. of mandays in a year 237 273
Less: Leave, transit, training 22 25
Net mandays available 215 248
Time for audit plan discussion, Study 15 18
of profiles, previous audit files (To be
spent in HQ)
Net mandays in field (on site audit) 200 230

(Total mandays available for field work: Total staff available for field audit X (200 or

230 as the case may be)
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4.4  Allocation of mandays for audit

(Available mandays are to be allocated for different audits. The requirement
for certification, IT, performance audit should be worked out first. Thereafter, the
remaining mandays may be allocated for transaction audit. The process is explained
below). (Please note these are mandays and not party days).
Certification Audit Mandays Allocated

e Supplementary audit Category ‘A’ No. of PSUs X 40

(40 mandays for ‘A’ category PSU, 30 iy o
t B : No. of P X
mandays for ‘B’, ‘C’ Category PSUs. To Category “B’, “C’: No. of PSUs X 30

be counted only for working
Companies)

(For a six days week, the numbers are 46
& 34 respectively)

(SAR where we are not the sole auditor
should also be allocated mandays as
above)

e Sole Audit Category ‘A’ No. of PSUs X 80

(80 mandays for ‘A’ category PSU, 60 Category ‘B’, ‘C’: No. of PSUs X 60
mandays for ‘B’ & ‘C’ category PSUs.

To be counted only for working

Corporations)

(For a six day week, the numbers are 92

& 69 respectively).

(The above norms are for audit planning. It is possible that some PSUs of same
category may require more mandays than others. But the overall limit should not be
exceeded).

IT Audit

(Generally, one or two major systems may be covered. The norms given above for
sole audit may be used).

Performance Audit

(Topic for performance audit may be selected as per annexure ‘C’. Our objective
should be to select only a few representative units and do a thorough job rather than

selecting maximum units). Each review is expected to take 300 to 600 mandays
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depending on the volume of activities. Provision may be made for one or two
performance audit as per the target.

Mandays available for Transaction (Compliance) Audit

Total mandays available XXX
Less: Certification audit XXX

IT Audit XXX

Performance Audit XXX XXX
Mandays available for TA XXX
Allocation of mandays for transaction audit
. 60% mandays for ‘A’ category units XXX
o 25% mandays for ‘B’ category units XXX
o 15% mandays for ‘C’ category units XXX

Units for Audit & Mandays

Unit ‘A’ Unit ‘B’ Unit ‘C’ Total

Total units under  Audit
jurisdiction

Planned for next year’s audit

Mandays required

Of total units, how many units
not audited in past 3 years

Of planned units, how many
units not audited in past 3 years

Out of the units planned for audit under each category, 30% should be those
not covered in previous 3 years. The units may be planned as per available mandays
and also shown in the following table.

Planned Units

No. of Units | No. of Units ‘B> | No. of Units Total
‘A, GC’

Category ‘A’ PSUs

Category ‘B’ PSUs

Category ‘C’ PSUs

Grand Total

There should be uniform allocation of mandays as shown below.
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Category ‘A’ PSUs: Unit ‘A’ : 90 mandays (104 for 6 day week)

Unit ‘B’ : 60 mandays (69 for 6 day week)
Unit ‘C’ : 45 mandays (52 for 6 day week)
Category ‘B’ PSUs: Unit ‘A’ : 75 mandays (86 for 6 day week)
Unit ‘B’ : 60 mandays (69 for 6 day week)
Unit ‘C’ : 40 mandays (46 for 6 day week)
Category ‘C’ PSUs: Unit ‘A’ : 60 mandays (69 for 6 day week)
Unit ‘B’ : 45 mandays (52 for 6 day week)
Unit ‘C’ : 35 mandays (40 for 6 day week)

(In practice, the mandays may differ from unit to unit depending on nature of
activities. However, the total mandays may be kept within the limits of these norms).

1. Targets for Audit Report

Target Achievement
DPs Reviews DPs Reviews

Previous Year

Current Year

Next Year

(Reason for shortfall may be mentioned)
2. Substantive areas for audit

(These may be stated for selected PSUs. For each PSU areas may be stated in

bullet form).
PSU Name:
J Area 1l
J Area 2
o Area 3
PSU Name:
J Area 1l
o Area 2
o Area 3
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Ch. I11: Status of IRs
1. IR follow —up system in PSU/Govt. instructions
2. Outstanding IRs

Year Outstanding as at Outstanding 3 years ago

IRs Paras IRs Paras

Grand Total

(Trend analysis of increase/decrease in position may be given with measures taken).
3. Audit Committee Meetings

(Previous year’s progress, n0. of meetings held, targeted for current year etc. may be
mentioned).

Ch. IV: Status of COPU Discussion

1. Status of AR Presentation

2. Outstanding ARs for discussion

A.R. Year Total Discussed Outstanding
Paras Reviews Paras Reviews Paras Reviews

('Year where discussion is over need not be mentioned).
3. Position of ATNs

(with statistics)
4. Inventory of COPU Recommendations

(Provide the details-whether maintained)

Ch. V: Status of Arrears in accounts finalization

1. Arrears position (only for working companies)
SI.No. Name of PSU Year upto which a/cs. finalised & No. of years in
audited arrears

No. of years in arrears
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2. Steps taken to address the issue

Ch. VI: Winding up of non-working Companies

1. Non-working Companies Status

SI.No. Name of PSU Non-working Accounts Liquidation
since finalised upto status

2. Steps taken to address the issue
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Annexure ‘A’
Auditee Categorisation
Total Capital Employed (CE) in all PSUs (including certain departmental
undertakings audited by Commercial Wing such as Electricity Department)
should be worked out for the prior year (latest available). Thereafter,
individual PSUs may be categorized into ‘A’, ‘B’ and ‘C’ as per criteria given
below:
. CE equal to or greater than 5% of total CE of all PSUs: Category ‘A’
. CE equal to or greater than 1% of total CE but less than 5% of total
CE: Category ‘B’
o CE less than 1% of total CE: Category ‘C’
After categorisation of PSUs, further categorization of PSU units (auditable
units) be made in the following ratio:

Unit ‘A’ Unit ‘B’ Unit ‘C°
Category 30% of total units | 30% of total units | 40% of total units
‘A> PSU of ‘A’ category | of ‘A’ category | of ‘A’ Category
PSUs PSUs PSUs
Category 20% of total units | 30% of total units | 50% of total units
‘B’ PSU of ‘B’ category | of ‘B’ category | of ‘C’ category
PSUs PSU PSUs
Category HQ of PSUs (1 unit | 30% of total units | 70% of total units
‘C’ PSU per PSU of ‘C’|of ‘C’ category |of ‘C’ category
category PSUs) PSUs  excluding | PSUs excluding
HQ HQ

The categorisation of units into ‘A’, ‘B’ and ‘C’ should be based on risk
assessment. Circulars have been issued earlier for risk assessment. You may
take help of them or devise your own objective risk assessment criteria to
determine the units category. However, the overall number for each category
of PSU should be within the above limits.

The details may be provided in the following format along with Audit Plan:
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(a)

Categorisation of PSUs

Sl.No. Name of PSU Capital % of CE to | Category (A, B or
Employed (Rs. | total CE C)
in crore)
(Grand totals may be taken at the end)
(b) Categorisation of units
Sl. PSU PSU Total No. | No. of ‘A’ | No. of ‘B’ | No. of
No. Narme Category | of Units Units Units C .
Units
(C)  List of Units
Sl. No. PSU Name Unit Name | Unit Last Audit
Month/Year
Category
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Annexure ‘B’

Profile of a PSU

PSU Name:

1.

2
3.
4

Aims & objectives of setting up of a PSU (Preferably in bullet form)
Functions/activities undertaken to achieve objectives (in bullet form)
Organisational set-up with details of no. of field offices

Financial Results

Previous 5t Year Latest Year

Capital Employed

Turnover
Net Profit

Accumulated Profit

(Brief reasons for trend)

Revenue elements

(In a pie chart with 5 to 6 elements & percentages. Also mention total

revenue).

Expenditure elements

(As above)

Key areas for audit scrutiny

(For instance, for a Tourism Development Corp., the following areas may be

given:

. Hotel Operations (Revenue: 70%, Expenses: 55%)

. Catering Outsourcing (Revenue: 3%, Expenses: -)

. Leasing of Hotels (Revenue: 10%, Expenses: 2%)

o Sightseeing Operations (Revenue: 12%, Expenses: 15%)

o Achievement of Objectives (Development of Tourism)

o Project for construction of 4 new hotels (Project cost of Rs. 25 crore is
equal to 20% of present investment in this PSU).

Audit concerns from past audit (DPs/Reviews/IRs etc.)
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Annexure ‘C’°

Selection of a topic for Performance Audit

The following broad framework may be followed for the selection of a PSU

for Performance Audit. You are required to assign the score for each element.

While doing that, you may make use of risk assessment methodology already

circulated.

Elements

Maximum Points

Financial Materiality

Significance of activities

Visibility

Estimated impact of audit
(Whether we can add value)

N N N b

Total

10

In respect of financial materiality, Capital Employed of 5% & above of total
Capital Employed of all PSUs would fetch 4 points. For a PSU with CE of
less than 5% of total CE but more than 1% of total CE, the points would be

1.5. Other PSUs will get zero points.

A table in the following format may be prepared and sent along with Audit

Plan.

Sl.
No

PSU Name

Financial
Management

Significance

Visibility

Impact | Whether | Total
of Audit | coveredin | Score
previous 5
yrs.

If a particular PSU was reviewed in previous 5 years, you may like to exclude

it unless there is another important topic/area which you would like to review.

A PSU scoring highest points may be selected for a performance audit. You

may choose to review the performance of entire PSU or just a few important

segments of its working.

3.

After approval of the topic by HQ, Field Office may proceed to prepare

guidelines.
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2.04  Audit programme

Based on the Annual Audit Plan and quarterly break-up of Audit Plan prepared
after analyzing the risk perceived the CA HQ section prepares quarterly programmes
for the CA Group. The following are the key elements considered while preparing
the quarterly audit programme:

e Risk based audit planning considering the resource constraint as per the
requirements of Headquarters.

e Sector specific specialization for each party during a quarter.

e Deployment of same audit party for Transaction audit and Financial
audit to enable in-depth audit with lesser number of days.

e Periodical rotation of field parties.

e Selection of field parties having high potential for audit of important
units.

e Linkage between related auditee units, so that same team will visit the
controlling office and field office in one go.

The risks for transaction and performance audits of each unit should be
assessed on parameters of materiality, criticality and internal control measures. In
addition to these parameters, certain specific parameters were also prescribed for
performance audit. Other risk factors identified by the AG (ERSA) should also be
considered. Fixed points are allotted for various factors prescribed by
Headquarters/identified by the AG (ERSA). After analysis of the risk in each unit
based on the above parameters, points should be assigned to each risk parameter and
added to arrive at total risk. The period of audit of units should be revised/worked
out and formula/criteria for determining period of audit clearly defined. The party
days for each audit should be allotted on the basis of the total risk and periodicity of
audit.

The risk assessment parameters identified for transaction audit would by and
large apply for financial audit also as the latter involves transaction audit in a fair
manner. In addition to these parameters, certain specific parameters were also

prescribed for financial audit. After allotting the points for each risk parameter,
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formula/criteria for determining party days should be clearly defined. Thereafter,
party days should be worked out as in the case of transaction audit.
[Headquarters letter 605-CA 11/Coord/Inst/2005-06/82-2005 dated 3-9-2007]

2.05. Records/ Returns maintained in CA HQ

)] Report on assessment of performance of CA wing

Headquarters office had revised the system of quarterly assessment of
performance of CA Wing applicable from 2008-09 which is due for submission to
Headquarters by 15" of the month following the quarter. The reporting format
consists of various assessment parameters viz. preparation and execution of Audit
Plan, existence of Audit Tools (manual, checklist, guidelines), utilization of
Manpower resources, Audit output (transaction audit observations, financial audit
comments, audit report material) and follow up action on Audit Reports.

(CAG’s letter No.CA Il/Co-ordination/Ranking/2006-07/77-2007 dated 19 June, 2009)

i) Quarterly consolidated MIS return

The Headquarters office had introduced quarterly MIS return replacing nine
other returns due to Headquarters. The return will fall due on 25" of the month
following the quarter is prepared by CA HQ I-B section consolidating the
information furnished by Resident Audit Offices and other CA HQ sections. The
consolidated quarterly return contains 82 items of information to be submitted to CS
Wing of Headquarters need to be sent only by email. It covers human resource
utilization for each activity and for training, implementation of Audit Plan, timeliness
of issue of IRs, COPU discussions and status of ATNSs, cost of audit and recovery at
the instance of audit, details of accounts comments and SARs, arrears in finalization
of accounts, reconciliation of figures in Finance Accounts and Audit Report and
details of meetings with Chief Secretary/Finance Secretary. The MIS also contain
audit of high value contracts (above Rs.50 crore) and technical inspection done by CS
wing. The consolidated MIS should be submitted to AG on line (RCTM)

(CAG letter No.CA 11/Co-ord/rationalization/Returns/38-2009 dated 6-4-2009)
(HQ letter 622/CA 11/Co-ord/WRA/12/2005 dated 4.11.09)
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iii) Register of Auditee institutions

This register contains the particulars of auditees, periodicity of audit, details

of audit done and party personnel who have conducted audit.
iv) Programme Register

To facilitate the finalization of audit programmes of 10s/CA Parties and avoid
duplication, a Programme Register should be maintained by CA HQ I-A Section,
showing the name of the auditee institution, period and nature of audit, date of
commencement/completion of audit, etc. The register should be submitted to the
Branch Officer by 5" of every month. As and when new institutions are assigned for

audit, the names of such units should be entered in the register.
V) Programme Deviation Register

Deviation/extension of the audit programmes should be approved by the
Group Officer and for this purpose Programme Deviation Register should be
maintained by CA HQ I-A Section. The register should be submitted to the Group
Officer by 25" of every month showing the details such as name of IO/CA Party
members, auditee institution, period and reasons for deviation, etc. Copies of the

deviated programmes should be sent to the 10s/CA parties, etc.
vi)  Register of weekly diaries

The Register of weekly diaries of CA Parties indicating the CA Party number,
inward number and date, date of receipt of diary, period of audit, name of auditee
institution/party members, etc., should be maintained by CA HQ I-A Section. The
register should be filled up with reference to the diaries forwarded by the CA Parties

and put up to the Branch Officer for review by 25" of every month.

The weekly tour diaries of the CA Parties should show the work done by each
member of the party separately during a week against items of work allotted to them.
The 10 should control and coordinate the work of the CA Party and the AAO (C)
should vouchsafe the work done by Senior Auditors/Auditors. The 10 should

countersign the diaries wherever supervision is provided. It should be ensured that the
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diaries of CA Parties for the previous week are received by CA HQ I-A Section in the

subsequent week itself.
vii)  Register of travelling allowance/ transport allowance claims.

The Register of traveling allowance bills is intended to record the details of
the TA bills of the I0s/CA Parties. The register should disclose details such as inward
number and date of the TA bill, name and designation of the official, month of the
bill, transit register number and date of transferring the bill to OE (Entitlement)
Section, etc. It should be submitted to the Branch Officer by 10" of every month by
CA HQ I-A Section. The TA bills should be verified with reference to the programme

register/deviation register, diaries, leave account, etc.
viii) IR watch register (Progress register)

To watch progress in the settlement of IRs, a register shall be maintained by
each CA HQ section showing the name of unit inspected, date of completion of audit,
number and date under which report was issued, no of paras in the IR etc. The section
shall also maintain details of pendancy in receipt of first reply to IRs issued. The
register shall be closed on 5" of every month and submitted to Group officer.

(CA IVIA21-GI/Vol 11, Order of AG (Au) dt.8.10.1990)
2.06. Monthly arrear report

A report showing the state of work of CA section concerned for each month
shall be submitted to Group officer on 7" of the succeeding month, showing the
pending Returns, status of correspondence, progress of Audit, issue of IRs, settlement
of IR paras, PDP cases, status of Accounts audit etc. A consolidation of monthly
arrear Report of CA group is prepared in CA HQ I-B section consolidating the
information in Monthly Arrear Reports of Resident Audit Offices and each CA HQ
sections and forwarded to Co-ordination Section for submission to AG by 10" of

every month.
2.07 Quarterly arrear report

The materials for the quarterly state of work (arrears report) of all CA HQ

Sections should be furnished by CA HQ I-B Section consolidating the information
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furnished by CA HQ sections to Coordination Section in the prescribed proforma
(MISAUD) by 6™ of April, July, October and January every year for onward
transmission to Headquarters. The return should contain the details of Inspection
Reports (pending issue and outstanding), position of local audit, correspondence, etc.,
indicating the mandays (internal and external) required for the clearances of these
items. A review report showing the summary of mandays (internal and external)
against these parameters together with the reasons for the shortfall should also be sent
along with the return duly approved by the Group Officer.

Similar returns should be furnished by Report (Comml), TA and ECA

Sections separately in the prescribed proforma before the stipulated time.
2.08. Quarterly statement of arrears in finalization of accounts

Quarterly statement on status of arrears in finalization of accounts by
Companies and Statutory Corporations is prepared by CA HQ I-B for submission to
Headquarters office. This statement includes the arrears in finalization of accounts of
working and non-working companies and statutory corporations under audit of AG,
Kerala. Based on the quantum of arrears the matter is being taken up constantly with
CEOs of PSUs, their statutory auditors and also with Chief Secretary/Finance
Secretary for expeditious clearance. The due date of this Return to Principal Director

(Commercial-States) is 5™ of the succeeding month of the quarter.
(Hgrs. letter no. 315/CAIlI/ Co-ordn./Qrly.Arrears/2003-04/57-2002 dated 30-3-2005.)
2.09. Report on status of finalization of comments

This report contains information about the receipt of accounts, date of
commencement and completion of audit, date of issue of comments/SAR, their
replies and date of final issue of comments/SAR. This Return to Prl. Director
(Comml.) is intended to watch the timely clearance of accounts received from
auditees. Due date of this Return is 5" day of the succeeding month and is prepared
by CA HQ I-B section.

(Hgrs. circular no.844/M1S/ret/2003-04/32-2003 dt.11-8-2006 and Hars. letter
no.692/CA 11 dated 28-12-2007)
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2.10 Return on certification of accounts

A monthly Return on certification of accounts under Government of Kerala is
prepared and sent to Prl. Director (Commercial). This return contains names of
companies whose accounts were certified during the month, details of the statutory
auditor and their fees. Due date of this Return is 5" day of the succeeding month and

is prepared by CA HQ I-B section.
2.11. Quarterly statement of settlement of IR paras

This Return is required to be submitted to Prl. Director (Commercial-States)
by 5" of the succeeding month after the end of the quarter. Information about
additions and clearance of paras during the quarter and position of outstanding paras

(year-wise) is included in the Report.
(Hars. letter no.CA 11/Co-ord./old IRs/07-08/61-2007/1573 dtd.18-11-2008)
2.12. Targets and achievements

The returns in respect of targets and achievements covering the entire position
of CAW of this Office should be furnished to the AG (ERSA)’s Secretariat by CA
HQ I-A Section in the prescribed formats by 15" April every year for onward
transmission to Headquarters for approval. The consolidated return should be
finalised after collecting the data from all the sections of CA Wing. The return, duly
approved by the Group Officer, should disclose the position of arrears (internal and
external), age wise outstanding Inspection Reports/paragraphs, SARs/ARs, draft

paragraphs, units planned for audit/unaudited, etc.
2.13. Performance Report

The return for the Performance Report (previously known as Activity Report)
of Indian Audit & Accounts Department relating to CA Wing of this Office should be
furnished to Headquarters every year in the prescribed proforma duly approved by the
AG (ERSA). The weighted aggregation of money value of the Inspection Reports

issued during the year should also be indicated in the return on the basis of the revised
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matrix. All sections under CA Wing should furnish relevant data to CA HQ I-A
Section for consolidation and submission of the return before the stipulated time

fixed by Headquarters.
[Headquarters letters 888-CA 11/Co-ordn./Activity Report/2004-05/ 74-2004 dated
5-9-2006 and 894-CA 11/Co-ordn./Activity Report/2004-05/74-2004 dated 6-9-2006
— File CA 1V/A/21-263/Vol VII and Headquarters letter 904/CA

11/Cordn/Performance Report/ 2006-07/ 74.2004 dated 30-7-2007 — File CA
IV/IA/21-263/Vol VIII]

2.14. Report on Audit of high value contracts

1) With a view to strengthen the audit of contracts, it was decided that a half-
yearly return in respect of high value contracts costing Rs.1 crore (KSEB) and Rs.25
lakh (State Government companies and other Statutory corporations) should be
furnished to Headquarters by CA HQ 1-B Section in the prescribed proforma in April
and October every year collecting information from CAW. The data should cover
details of audit conducted by RAPs and in local audit. The power purchase agreement
with independent power producers need not be considered as high value contract for

this purpose.

i) A Contract Register should be maintained by each unit in CA HQ Section
indicating the particulars such as name of the PSU, original/revised agreement/work
order/supply order/purchase order/letter of intent reference and date, brief description
of contract, nature of tender, original/revised/actual date of completion of contract
and cost of contract, original/revised terms of payment, cumulative payments made,
advance pending adjustments (date and amount), security deposit, penalty for delay,
etc. The register should be submitted to the Branch Officer by the end of every month
for review. This information should be given to the 10s/CA Parties for detailed
examination of the contracts by noting in the Audit Note Book. It should contain
details such as period of audit, major irregularities, audit enquiry (hnumber and date),
points marked for/results of verification, list of cases issued as draft

paragraph/included in the draft review/Inspection Report under examination, etc.

A database on the basis of the details collected on major contracts through

various sources (newspaper reports, agenda papers/Board minutes and other records
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of the institution (contracts, etc.)) should be maintained by RAOs and at CA HQ to

keep a watch on the progress of contracts.

Defects noticed during the course of audit should be pointed out without
waiting for the completion of the contract/scheme. Emphasis should be given to
those institutions having large and high value contracts. It is imperative that all
contracts above Rs.10 crore/Rs.5 crore (KSEB) and Rs.1 crore/Rs.50 lakh (others)
should be reported to the AG (ERSA)/Group Officer for directions.

Similar registers in the prescribed format should be maintained by TA and
ECA Sections for detailed examination of high value contracts.
[Headquarters letters 335/CA 11/74-97 dated 18-6-1998, 518/CA 11/143-97/KWI dated

15-6-1999, 682/CA I1/Review of returns/2002-03/32-2003 dated 23-8-2005 and Orders
dated 9-8-1999 of Sr DAG (Comml) — Files CA 1V/A/21-285/QRC/Vol | & 11]

2.15.  Audit of foreign branches

In order to conduct the audit of foreign branches of PSUs not falling within
the jurisdiction of Principal Director of Audit, London/Washington/Kulalampur a
quarterly return should be submitted to Headquarters by CA HQ I-B Section by 10%
of April, July, October and January every year after collecting the data from the
sections concerned. The return should indicate the name of the PSU, name and
address of the foreign unit/project, date of opening of the project, likely date of
closure of the project, turnover and expenditure during the year, cumulative turnover
and expenditure, details of the Statutory/Branch Auditors, whether the unit is due for
audit (transaction/financial), whether audit is to be conducted during the year, number
of party days proposed, etc. Once a foreign branch of a PSU is identified through the
Board minutes, Directors’ Report, accounts, Inspection Report, etc., the required

details may be called for from the entity by the sections concerned.

Even if there are no materials for the quarterly return, a nil return should be

sent on the due date duly approved by the Group Officer.

[Headquarters letter No 237/CA-1V/25-87/111 dated 22-6-1992 and orders of DAG
(1C) dated 3-8-1992— File CA IV/A/17-58/Vol.1]
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2.16. Register for receipt and review of Board minutes

In order to ensure the timely receipt of these documents from the PSUs for
review, Register for receipt and review of Board minutes should be maintained by
each CA HQ Section indicating the name of the PSU, number and date of Board

meeting, date of receipt of agenda notes and minutes/review by CA HQ Section, etc.

State Government directed all the PSUs to forward copies of minutes and
agenda notes of their Board meetings regularly to the AG (ERSA) confidentially by
name. If the agenda notes/minutes are not sent by any PSU, the matter may be taken
up with the Chief Executive of the PSU/State Government for compliance. The
register should be submitted to the Group Officer by 15" of every month and to the
AG (ERSA) by 15™ April, July, October and January every year for review.

[Letter 56894/Coml 4/63/Fin dated 12-11-1963 and Circulars 39/75/Fin dated 16-5-
1975 and 32460/K2/06/1D dated 16-11-2006 of the State Government (Finance and

Industries Departments) and Headquarters circular letter 11/CA 11/85 dated 12-4-
1985]

2.17. Local Audit Note Book

After review of the Board minutes, Government orders, replies to the
Inspection Reports, etc., by the controlling sections and the Branch Officer/Group
Officer, the relevant particulars thereof should be indicated in the Local Audit Note
Book (LANB) for local examination, wherever necessary, during the ensuing
transaction or financial audit. The LANB and the files concerned (previous Inspection
Reports, etc.) should be forwarded by the controlling sections to the CA Party along
with a proforma showing the details for local verification. It should be ensured that all
the points noted in the LANB are incorporated in the proforma.

As soon as orders are obtained from the competent authority for the
verification of points, the details thereof should be recorded in the LANB and got
attested by the AAO (C). The LANB should be submitted to the Branch Officer by 5™
of every month for review by each unit in CA HQ Section.
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2.18. Folder

A Folder showing broadly the essential particulars of each auditee entity such
as its objects and present activities (including social objectives), organizational
structure, financial control system, accounting system, internal control/ audit system,
etc., and also the various registers/records kept by it should be prepared and updated
during the course of audit. It should be prepared and each unit of the CA HQ
Section should send the same to CA Party along with other audit documents. It
should serve as reference book/guide to Audit.

[Headquarters letter CA 1V/Tech-9/82 (N0.503-CA 1V/31-82) dated 6-7-1982 — File
CA I/A/17-2/Vol XX and orders dated 16-11-2006 of DAG (Comml)]

The Folder should be submitted to the Branch Officer for review after

completion of transaction/financial audit.
2.19. Verification of documents
2.19.1. Outstanding Inspection Reports

During the course of audit of an entity, it should be ensured that all
outstanding observations raised in the previous Inspection Reports are settled
wherever possible. To avoid omissions and facilitate verification of points, a
proforma indicating name of the entity, period of Inspection Report, paragraph
number and its title, points for local verification/results of verification, further
remarks of CA HQ Section, etc., for each Inspection Report should be prepared,
wherever applicable, by CA HQ Section concerned and sent to the CA Party along
with the Inspection Report file. 10/CA Party should discuss all the outstanding
paragraphs with the institution to obtain replies wherever possible. The Party should
record the results of verification for each paragraph in the proforma, duly approved
by the 10 and return the proforma along with the Inspection Report file to the section
concerned for taking final decision.

In case where it is not at all possible to prepare a proforma in view of the
magnitude of the work involved, the original Inspection Report file may be sent to
CA Party. This procedure, however, should be resorted to only sparingly. [Circular
CA 1V/A/21-220/Cr. 4/87 dated 8-4-1987]
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2.19.2 Board minutes and agenda notes

Since the original Board minutes and agenda notes are available in the
institutions, it is not necessary to forward them to the CA Party during the course of
local audit. The Board minutes should be critically reviewed and the points requiring
local verification should be entered in the LANB and sent to the CA Party by way of
a proforma showing the reference to Board meeting, agenda/minute item,
nomenclature, points for/results of verification, further remarks of CA HQ Section,
etc.

This proforma should be prepared by CA HQ Section soon after review of the
agenda notes/minutes of each Board meeting duly approved by the Group Officer.
The results of verification should be entered in the proforma by the CA Party duly
approved by the 10 and the documents returned to CA HQ Section for taking final

decision on each item.
2.19.3 Other documents

Verification of other documents such as report under section 619 (3) (a) of the
Companies Act, 1956, draft Comments, general items (paper clippings, Government
orders, etc.) should be sent to the CA Party by way of proforma showing the points
for/results of verification, reference to the file concerned, further remarks of CA HQ
Section, etc., along with the file concerned. The results of verification should be
entered by the CA Party in the proforma duly approved by the 10 and the documents

returned for taking final decision on each case.
2.20. Processing of materials received from field

The following documents received from CA Party should be processed by CA
HQ Section concerned after completion of the transaction/financial audit.

I. Transaction audit

1. Check list (Annexure 1)

2. Title sheet (Annexure 2) and draft Inspection Report

3. Audit enquiries and replies thereto with rebuttal (wherever necessary)
4

. Performance appraisal (Annexure 2 a)
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10.

Questionnaire on Internal control/audit system (Annexure 5 of Chapter 12)
Minutes of entry and exit meetings

PDPs along with key documents (including all annexures)

Separate review remarks in respect of previous Inspection Reports, Board
minutes, reports under section 619 (3) (a) of the Companies Act, 1956,
general items (paper clippings, Government orders, etc.), etc.

Copy of Test Audit Note

. Folder

. Local Audit Note Book

. Dated working sheets with reference to audit enquiries, if applicable
. Notes spelling out points for examination during financial audit

. Floppy/Disc, etc., containing the draft Inspection Report, etc.

. Other related materials

. Financial audit

Check list (Annexure 1 a)

Title sheet (Annexure 3) and draft Comments/SAR/AR (including check list
for compliance of AS (Annexure 4)

Audit enquiries (along with key documents wherever necessary) and replies
thereto with rebuttal (wherever necessary)

Checked copy of accounts

Certified copies of proforma accounts and Audit Certificate (DCUSs)
Performance appraisal (Annexure 3 a)

Minutes of entry and exit meetings

Minutes of meeting with Statutory/Branch Auditors

Separate review remarks in respect of Board minutes, reports under section
619 (3) (@) of the Companies Act, 1956, previous year’s draft
Comments/SAR/AR, general items (paper clippings, Government orders, etc.)
Proforma on the performance of Auditors of Government
companies/corporations (Annexure 2 of Chapter 3)/Proforma on the audit of

Statutory corporations (sole audit) (Annexure 1 of Chapter 4)
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11. Proforma for the commencement and completion of audit (Annexure 4 of
Chapter 3)
12. Folder
13. Local Audit Note Book
14. Dated working sheets with reference to audit enquiries, if applicable
15. Note spelling out points for examination during transaction audit
16. Floppy/Disc, etc., containing the draft Comments/SAR/AR
17. Other related materials
It should be verified whether the check list and the title sheet attached to the
draft Inspection Report/Comments/SAR/AR are in the prescribed formats and
whether they have been properly filled up. If any further action is to be taken on the
basis of the entries therein, suitable action should be initiated invariably after
obtaining approval from the competent authorities.
2.20.1. Draft Inspection Report
The following time schedule is prescribed for the timely issue of Inspection

Report.
SI. No Particulars No of working days
1 Receipt of draft Inspection Report from CA Party 3
2 Examination/edition of the report in CA HQ Section 4
3 Review and approval by Branch Officer/Group Officer 7
4 Computer typing/correction, comparison and issue 7
Total 21

[Headquarters letters 799/TAI1/83-8 (Circular No.19-TA-1/83) dated18-7-1983 and
343-TA-1/83-83 (Circular No.6 TA 1/1985) dated 16-3-1985 and orders of the Prl
AG (Au) dated 4-8-2003 - File CA IV/AAO/GEN/Vol 1V]

The Inspection Report should be issued within the prescribed period of one
month from the date of completion of audit. By proper review, monitoring and
control of the various processes involved in the issue of the report, it should be
possible to reduce this period to less than three weeks.

[Headquarters letter 282/Audit-11-83-83 (Circular No.10/Audit 11/86) dated 18/19-
2-1986]
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During the course of editing, the draft Inspection Report should be critically
scrutinized with reference to the audit enquiries, replies thereto, questionnaire on
internal control/audit system, etc., and put up to the Branch Officer and Group Officer
for approval. Mere reproduction of audit enquiries in the draft Inspection Report
should be discouraged to the maximum extent possible. Cases pointing out tiny lapses
should be dropped/marked for local verification and unripe cases featured in Part-11 A
of the draft Inspection Report should be transferred to Part-11 B under orders of the
Group Officer. The questionnaire on internal control/audit system should be
countersigned by the Group Officer, while approving the Inspection Report.

The approved Inspection Report in respect of a Government company
(including a 619-B company)/Statutory Corporation (KFC, KSWC and KINFRA)
should be issued to the Chief Executive of the institution endorsing a copy to the
Secretary to its Administrative Department (State Government).

In the case of State Water Transport Department and Kerala State Insurance
Department, the Inspection Reports should be issued to the Heads of the institutions
endorsing copies to the Secretaries to their Administrative Departments (State
Government). Inspection Report in respect of Text Book Office should be issued to
the Head of the institution endorsing a copy to the Director of Public Instructions. In
the case of the units of Text Book Office, Inspection Reports should also be endorsed
to respective units.

[Circular PAG (Au)/Secy/IR-Review/Tr. No. 394 dated 15-3-2004 — File CA
IVIAAAO/GEN/Vol. IV]

2.20.2. Potential Draft Paragraphs

CA sections concerned should prepare SoF from the Potential draft paragraphs
(PDPs) in the Inspection Reports of Government companies (including 619-B
companies)/statutory corporations (KFC, KSWC and KINFRA) along with key
documents (including all annexures) under orders of the Group Officer. The
guidelines issued by Headquarters/Report (Comml) Section should be kept in view
while processing the SoF. The SoF duly approved by the Group Officer should be
issued to the institution. The SoF along with key documents, reply to the SoF and
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review remarks thereon should be forwarded to Report (Comml) Section for the

finalization of draft paragraph (DP).

The unsettled PDPs/SoF/DPs along with key documents, etc., should be
updated during next local audit or pursued through the Inspection Report.

PDPs (including key documents) in respect of DCUs should be transferred by
CA Section concerned directly to Report (Civil) Section for the finalisation of DPs.
Similarly, cases where Government has incurred loss due to its fault and not due to
the lapse of the PSUs, may also be transferred directly to Report (Civil) Section by
CA HQ Section concerned.
2.20.3 Draft Comments/SAR/AR

The procedures to be followed in processing the draft Comments of
Government companies (including 619-B companies)/DCUs, draft SARS/ARs of
Statutory corporations (KFC, KSWC and KINFRA) and issue of approved
Comments/SARs/ARs and other related issues are discussed in the respective
chapters on Government companies, DCUs and Statutory corporations. For issue of
Comments in case of Companies the time limit of two months from date of receipt of
accounts is to be strictly adhered to. Field office need not wait beyond the period of
seven days for replies of Management/ Statutory Auditor to provisional comments
and should dispatch the draft comments to Headquarters within five weeks of receipt
of accounts.

[Hars. letter No. 844/CA 11/Misc. M/s. RET/ 2003-04/32-2003 dated 11.08.2006,
Hars. letter No. 1846/CA 11/Misc./MIS / 2003-04/32-2003 dated 24.12.2008]

2.20.4. Other documents

The review remarks of previous Inspection Reports, Board minutes, general
items, etc.,, should be vetted and considered for dropping/pursuance through
Inspection Reports, etc., after approval by the Branch Officer. After settlement of all
paragraphs, the Inspection Report should be dropped under the orders of the Group
Officer.
2.20.5 Pursuance of Inspection Report

It should be ensured that replies to the points raised in the Inspection Report

are invariably received within four weeks from the date of receipt of the report by the
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auditee institution.

[Letter HA/24(3)/62/1066 dated 14-11-1962 from the Director of Commercial Audit
to all Government companies/corporations, etc. - File CA/Insp/18-10/Vol.l1]

Each paragraph in the Inspection Report may be dropped or pursued under the
orders of the Branch Officer. After dropping all the paragraphs, the Inspection
Report should be closed under the orders of the Group Officer.

If no reply is furnished within the stipulated period, the matter should be taken
up at Branch Officer/Group Officer level while closing the Despatch Register by each
unit in CA HQ Section and through the Audit Committee specifically constituted for
the settlement of old Inspection Report. Further remarks on each paragraph should
also be pursued periodically with the Management or through CA Party/Audit
Committee till it is settled. The Despatch Register should be submitted to the Branch
Officer for review by 18" of every month.

2.21. Register for issue of Inspection Reports

The Register for issue of Inspection Reports should be maintained by CA HQ
I A Section to know whether there is any delay in the issue of Inspection Reports by
the section concerned and take remedial action. TA, ECA and CA HQ Sections
should furnish to CA HQ | A Section by the 18" of every month, a statement showing
the particulars of draft Inspection Reports received up to the previous month and
Inspection Reports issued there against during the previous/current month. CA HQ IA
Section should record these data along with its position in the register and submit it to
the Group Officer by 25" of every month for review.

2.22. Progress Register of Inspection Reports

Immediately after the issue of Inspection Reports, each unit in CA HQ
Sections should enter the details of the report in the Progress Register of Inspection
Reports for submission to the Branch Officer by 5" of every month for review. The
information on Receipt/Issue of IR should be intimated to CA HQ IA section
immediately. The register is intended to ascertain the position of outstanding
paragraphs against each Inspection Report so as to initiate proper follow up action to
elicit replies to them. The register should indicate the name of the institution with
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Inspection Report file number, period of Inspection Report, date of completion of
audit/issue of the report, details of IR paras with its monetary value, categorization of
IR paras, due date for the receipt of reply, date of issue of reminders/receipt of
reply/issue of further remarks/receipt of further replies/issue of further

reminders/closure of the report, etc.
2.23. Register for fraud and corruption

Fraud and corruption cases featured in the Inspection Reports of Government
companies (including 619-B companies), Statutory corporations (KFC, KSWC and
KINFRA) and DCUs should be entered in the Register for Fraud and corruption
maintained by each CA HQ Section. The register should disclose serial number,
name of entity, period of Inspection Report, name and designation of the official
who detected the case, brief description of the case, action taken by the
Management, etc., and it should be submitted to the Branch Officer by the 5" of
every month for review. The details, if any, should be entered in the register after the
issue of the Inspection Report. Each section should forward the consolidated
material in this score to Coordination Section by 25" October and April every year
for the half year ended up to September and March respectively for onward
transmission to Headquarters. If there is no case for reporting, a nil return duly

approved by the Group Officer should be furnished on the due dates.

Similar registers should be maintained by ECA and TA Sections for KSEB
and KSRTC respectively. They should also furnish the required return on fraud and
corruption cases directly to Coordination Section on the due dates.

[Headquarters letter 126/Audit (AP) 1-2004 dated 6-9-2006 and orders of the Prl

AG (Au) dated 6-10-2007 communicated in Circular Co-ordn (Au)/1/15-445 of
September 2007]

2.24. Register for selection of Inspection Reports

With a view to assessing the quality and contribution made at all levels and
giving appropriate directions to the CA Parties/IOs/CA HQ Sections, etc., the AG
(ERSA) is required to test check some Inspection Reports issued every month. CA

HQ I-A Section should maintain the Register for selection of Inspection Reports
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indicating serial number, name of institution/CA Party, period of audit, name and
designation of 10/party members, date of issue of IR, particulars of Inspection Report
selected for review, date of selection, etc. The required details should be furnished by
the section concerned for maintaining the register. The register should be submitted to
the AG (ERSA) by 10" of April, July, October and January every year for review and
selection. The selected Inspection Report should be submitted to the AG (ERSA)

within three days of selection.

TA and ECA | Sections should maintain similar registers for selection of
Inspection Reports in respect of KSRTC and KSEB/KSERC.
[Headquarters DO letter 1453 Rep (C)/99/87 17-8-1987 —File CA 1V/ A/20-3/ Vol.
VI1I and orders dated 7-8-2003 of DAG (C) - File CAll/A/Performance]
2.25. Performance Register of Inspecting Officers/CA Parties

The Performance Register of 10s/CA Parties is intended to watch their
performances during the transaction audit of PSUs and DCUs and take remedial
action. The register should be maintained by CA HQ I-A Section and submitted to
the AG (ERSA) for review by 10" of April, July, October and January every year
showing the name of the institution, period of audit, date of receipt of draft Inspection
Report/issue of Inspection Report, IR file number, name of 10/CA Party and period
of supervision, details of contribution for the Inspection Report such as paragraph
number, objection in brief, money value and name/designation of the official
contributor, etc. The register should be kept party wise and immediately after the
issue of the Inspection Report, the above data thereof should be entered in the register
by the CA HQ Section concerned.

Similar registers should be maintained by TA and ECA | Sections in respect of
KSRTC and KSEB/KSERC.
[Minutes of the Audit Planning Group meeting held on 18-1-2002- File CA (HQ)

11/AJAAP/2002-03 and orders of DAG (C) dated 7-8-2003- File CA
I11/A/Performance]

2.26. Follow up of outstanding Inspection Reports
Working entities
All outstanding Inspection Reports of PSUs and DCUs should be reviewed
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every month by each CA HQ Section in such a way that all the reports are reviewed
half-yearly. The following returns in this respect should be furnished to State

Government and Headquarters.

(i) State Government: A half-yearly return indicating opening balance,
additions, clearances and closing balance of outstanding Inspection Reports of PSUs
and DCUs for more than six months along with para reference of closing balance,
etc., should be sent by CA HQ I-B Section to the Heads of the Administrative
Departments (State Government) by the end of April and October every year. For
this purpose, data should be furnished by each CA HQ Section to CA HQ I-B Section
by 15" April and October every year in respect of Inspection Reports issued up to
previous 30" September and 31% March every year and outstanding as on subsequent
315 March and 30" September every year.

[Headquarters letters 122-CA 1V/92-85/ Vol. IV (CAW/Tech/3/91) dated 23-4-1999
Files CA 1V/A/21-220/Vol.l and 111]

The return should be issued under signature of the Branch Officer.

(if) Headquarters: With a view to watching the progress in the settlement of
outstanding Inspection Reports of PSUs/DCUs, a quarterly return should be sent to
Headquarters by CA HQ 1-B Section by 15" April, July, October and January every
year duly approved by the AG (ERSA) after collecting the data from the sections
concerned. The return should indicate the opening/closing balance and
additions/clearance of Inspection Reports and paragraphs during the quarter together
with year-wise break up of outstanding Inspection Reports and paragraphs of
PSUs/DCUs.

[Headquarters letter 61-CA 11/398-99 dated 15-1-2004 — File CAIV/A/21-304/
Vol.1]

Non-working entities

In order to reduce the backlog, it was decided that Inspection Reports of
closed/under liquidation companies and companies which are now not in the purview
of Audit may be treated as settled after sending a gist of such Inspection Reports to
their Administrative Departments (State Government).

[Headquarters letter 61-CA 11/398-99 dated 15-1-2004 —File CAIV/A/21-304/Vol.l]
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2.27. Audit Committee

In order to keep a momentum for the expeditious settlement of old and heavy
(more than two years) Inspection Reports, an Audit Committee should be constituted
for each PSU. The members of the Committee should comprise senior officials
representing the PSU besides the Group Officer and Branch Officer concerned from
Audit side.

The venue of the meeting of the Committee may be either at the PSU or in this
Office according to convenience. The meeting may be held periodically, at least once

in a quarter and the date of the meeting fixed in consultation with the PSU.

A list of audit observations, replies thereto, remarks of this Office and the
minutes of the discussion on such paragraphs in the previous meeting, etc., should be
furnished by each CA HQ Section to the Chief Executives of the PSUs well in
advance and a notice of at least 14 days given to them to prepare themselves for the
meeting. The minutes of the discussion should be recorded and progress reviewed in

the subsequent meetings, if necessary.

Since the involvement of the State Government may also be required for the
effective functioning of the Committee, the Administrative Department of the PSU
concerned should be intimated about the formation of the Committee as soon as it is
constituted.

In order to ensure that the Committee is working effectively, a half-yearly
return indicating the name of the institution, period of Inspection Report, date of
formation of the Committee/meeting/sending the report to the State Government,
number of meetings held/opening/closing balance/additions/clearances of paragraphs,
etc., should be furnished by each CA HQ Sections concerned by 10" of April and
October every year to CA HQ 1-B Section for consolidation. CA HQ I-B Section
should send the consolidated return, duly approved by the AG (ERSA), to
Headquarters by the end of April and October every year.

[Headquarters letters 292-CA 1V/92-85 dated 7-7-1988, 466-CA 1V/92-85 (CA
IV/Tech 4/89) dated 29-9-1989 and 122-CA 1V/92-85/Vol.l1V (CA 1V/Tech 3/91)
dated 23-4-1991 and orders of AG (Au) dated 17-5-1991 (Files CA IV/A/21-
220/Vol.1, 11 and 1]
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Similar Committees may be constituted for the expeditious settlement of old
and heavy Inspection Reports of KSRTC, KSEB/KSERC and DCUs.

2.28. PDP Register

In order to watch the progress in the finalization of SoF and avoid omission in
processing PDPs, the CA HQ Section concerned should maintain a PDP Register
showing the name of the institution, period of Inspection Report, brief subject of the
paragraph along with paragraph number of the IR, money value, date of issue of
SoF/receipt of reply to SoF/transfer to Report (Comml) Section, etc. The register
should be submitted to the Group Officer by 1% of every month and the AG (ERSA)
by 5" of April, July, October and January every year for review.

[Circulars ITA/27-1/97-98 dated 19-8-1997 and ITA/27-1/2002-03 dated 29-10-
2002 — File CA IV/IAAO/GEN/Vol. 111]
2.29. Progress Register of audit of accounts

In order to watch the progress in the receipt of accounts of Government
companies (including 619-B companies), statutory corporations (KFC, KSEWC and
KINFRA) and the timely issue of Comments/Nil-Comment Certificate/Non-Review
Certificate/SAR/AR, CA HQ 1-B Section should maintain Progress Register of
Comments.  The register should indicate the name of the PSU, period of
accounts/date of receipt of accounts/ commencement of audit/issue of draft
Comments, SAR/AR/receipt of reply/approval of the final draft Comments, SAR/AR
by the AG (ERSA) dispatch to Headquarters/issue of Comments / Nil Comments
Certificate/Non-Review Certificate/SAR/AR etc. The register should be submitted to
the AG (ERSA) by the first week of every month for review.

Each CA HQ Section should intimate the date of receipt of accounts to CA
HQ IA Section immediately for arranging audit and intimate the progress of audit in
each stage for entering the details in the register maintained by CA HQ IB.

2.30. Register for performance of Statutory Auditors

The Register for performance of Statutory Auditors is intended to ascertain

the performance of Auditors on the audit of accounts of Government companies
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(including 619-B companies)/Statutory corporations (KFC, KSWC and KINFRA).
The register should disclose the name of the PSU, year of accounts, name of
Statutory/Branch Auditors, date of despatch of draft Comments/SAR/AR/NIl
Comment Certificate to Headquarters, assessment of performance by the AG (ERSA),
etc. It should be maintained by each CA HQ Section and submitted to the Branch
Officer by 10" of every month and the Group Officer by 10" of April, July, October
and January every year for review.
[Headquarters DO letter 152/CA-1V/17-96 dated 18-7-1996 and orders dated 13-8-
1996 of Sr.DAG (C) - File CAW/A/17-2/NVol.XXV11l]
2.31. Register for status report from Statutory/Branch Auditors

In order to watch the status of certification of accounts of Government
companies (including 619-B companies), Statutory/Branch Auditors are required to
furnish a report to this effect immediately on receipt of intimation from CA HQ
Sections concerned and thereafter every quarter till the certification of accounts.
Based on the report, appropriate action should be taken for the expeditious
preparation/certification of accounts. In this respect, each CA HQ Section should
maintain the Register for status report from Statutory/Branch Auditors indicating
details such as name of the Government company/and address of the
Statutory/Branch Auditors, appointment letter reference and date, initial intimation
(reference and date) to furnish status report, date of receipt of first/subsequent status
report, reasons for non-delivery of accounts to Statutory/Branch Auditors, intimation
(reference and date) to Government/Headquarters indicating the status of accounts,
reasons for the inordinate delay in auditing and certifying the accounts, etc. The

register should be submitted to the Branch Officer by 10" of every month for review.
2.32. Register for issue of sub-directions to Statutory/Branch Auditors

The CAG/AG (ERSA) is empowered to issue directions/sub directions to the
Statutory and Branch Auditors to furnish a report against the state of affairs of each
Government company [Section 619 (3) (a)] as indicated in Chapter 3.16 (Government

companies).
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In order to watch the receipt of such a report for the main and sub-directions
for each Government company (including a 619-B company), the Register for special
reports of Statutory/Branch Auditors should be maintained by each of CA HQ
Section indicating the name of the company/Statutory (Branch) Auditors, year of
accounts, date of certification of accounts/receipt of report, etc. Each unit in CA HQ
Section should enter the details in the register immediately on receipt of the
appointment order of the Statutory/Branch Auditors. The units receiving the special
reports should further record the details thereof in the register and enter the points in
the LANB for local verification during transaction audit. If there are serious
deficiencies in the report, these lapses may be taken up with the State Government.
One copy of the special report should be given to CA HQ | Section for consolidation
of important lapses of such reports for comment in the Audit Report (Comml). The
register should be submitted to the AG (ERSA) by 15" April, July, October and

January every year for review.
[Sectional Order 52 (No.CA-11/Misc/86-87) dated 19-6-1986]

The audit fee for the Statutory/Branch Auditor of a Government company is
fixed by the Management for the routine audit work and also for the remuneration for
the additional work involved in the preparation of the special report. Hence, the
Auditor should be urged to submit the report along with the certified accounts and
Auditor’s Report. In case of delay, the matter should be pursued closely to expedite
the reports by the respective CA HQ Section.

[Headquarters letter 192/CA 11/Coordn/directions/90-2002 dated 21-2-2005 - File
CA IV/AAO/GEN/Vol IV]

2.33. Register of Government companies/corporations

The Register of Government companies/corporations should be maintained by
each CA (HQ) Section to record all particulars of accounts, etc., of Government
companies/corporations in the prescribed proforma. It should be submitted to the

Group Officer by 10" of every month for review.
2.34  Register for settlement of Internal Test Audit Reports

The Register for settlement of Internal Test Audit Reports is intended to watch
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the timely furnishing of replies to the audit observations raised by Internal Test Audit
Section on the performance of CA HQ Sections and their settlement. The register
should disclose the period of report, paragraph reference, date of issue of
report/despatch of reply/receipt of further remarks/settlement of paragraph, etc. The
register should be submitted by each of CA HQ Section to the Branch Officer by 5%
of every month and the Group Officer by 5" of April, July, October and January
every year for review indicating the number of opening/closing balance of
paragraphs, additions/clearance during the month, etc.

Similar registers should be maintained by Report (Commercial), TA and

ECA sections for review.
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Annexure-1

CHECK LIST FOR AUDITORS /SR.AUDITORS FOR SUBMISSION OF
DRAFT INSPECTION REPORT FOR APPROVAL

(Referred to in Chapter 2.20)

Sl. Whether Received or Not
No. Items in Check List Yes/No
1. | Title Sheet duly filled up with all its annexures
2. | Allocation of work done by Inspecting Officers/Senior most AAO/SO
3. | Draft Inspection Report with its annexures
4. | Audit enquiries, replies and KD’s
5. | Performance appraisal statement duly filled in
6. | Questionnaire for Internal audit / control system duly filled in
7. | Ranking Statement of paragraphs duly filled in as per the norm fixed by
Headquarters
8. | IT questionnaire duly filled up
9. | Data on risk assessment duly filled in
10. | Minutes of entry/exit meetings with the Management
11. | PDP’s marking the key documents along with list of key documents
12. a. Previous Inspection
File numbers covering review remarks on:- Reports
b. Board minutes /
Committees
c. 619 (3) (a) report
d. General Items
13. | Folder duly filled in
14. | Local Audit Note Book
15. | Dated working papers with reference to audit enquiries, if applicable
16. | Note showing points for examination for financial audit
17. | Material for Part Il of the CA Manual
18. | Floppy/ disc containing the Draft Inspection Report, etc
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Annexure-la

DRAFT COMMENTS FOR APPROVAL

CHECK LIST FOR AUDITORS /SR.AUDITORS FOR SUBMISSION OF

Sl Whether
No. Items in Check List Received or
Not
Yes/No
1. | Title Sheet duly filled up with all its annexures
2. | Draft Comments /SAR/AR (including check list for
compliance of AS and annexures /key documents wherever
necessary for draft comments etc)
3. | Audit enquiries ( along with annexures /key documents
wherever necessary) and replies
4. | Performance appraisal duly filled in
5. | Data on risk assessment duly filled in
6. | Minutes of entry/exit meetings
7. | Minutes of meeting with Statutory /Branch Auditors
8. | Checked copy of Accounts
9. | Certified /authenticated copies of proforma accounts and
Audit certificate for Departmental Commercial Undertakings.
10. | Proforma on the Performance of Auditors of Government
Companies /Corporations along with comprehensive note in
case the performance of Auditors is considered
unsatisfactory.
11. | Proforma on the audit of Statutory Corporations (sole audit )
12 | Proforma on commencement and completion of audit
13 | File Numbers covering review |a) | Previous year’s
remarks on draft comments
b) | Board minutes /
Committees
c) | 619(3) (a) report
d) | General items
14. | Folder
15. | Local Audit Note Book
16. | Dated working papers with reference to audit enquiries, if
applicable
17. | Note showing points for examination during transaction audit
18. | Floppy/ disc containing draft comments/SAR/AR
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Annexure-2

TITLE SHEET OF THE INSPECTION REPORT

(Referred to in Chapter 2.20)
Name of Company audited

Name of Party/ Personnel with date of attendance
I. Supervisory Officer
ii. Assistant Audit Officer
ii. Assistant Audit Officer

Period of Audit

Months selected for detailed audits (in case of Govt.
Departments)

Duration of Audit (Extension granted should be
shown separately)

Whether any change in due time allotment is
necessary for future audits

No. of draft paras enclosed for inclusion in the
conventional Audit Report

Paragraphs, if any, to be reported to higher authorities
in advance and/or to be brought to the special notice
of the Headquarters

If any work is left not done due to administrative
reasons which may require the sending of audit party

again to complete the scheduled work may be
specified clearly with reasons thereof

General remarks, if any

Actual date of submission of report
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PART B

Whether the parts 1 (A,B) and Il of the Inspection
Report attached to the Title Sheet have been
discussed with the Head of the Undertaking inspected

Whether a list showing allocation of duties amongst
the members of the party has been sent in Statement |

Whether the quantum prescribed has since been
completed. If there are any points which cannot be
fully investigated at the time and require investigation
in future audit may be listed out with reasons for not
checking them during the course of current audit

Whether a list showing documents and records
checked and extent or percentage of audit exercised
on each and the detailed processes of audit has been
submitted in statement Il indicating what particular
Register were personally checked Dby the
Superintendent in case and by the Reviewing Officer

a. The date when the Balance Sheet/Proforma
Accounts were approved by the Management

b. The date of the Audit Report of Company’s
Auditors (in case of Limited Companies)

c. The date or dates when checked by the Audit
Party.

Whether a statement of important irregularities has
been attached

Whether Introductory Para and Chapter for the
Technical Manual has been sent

Whether there are any claims or transactions which in
the opinion of the Supervisory Officer required
constant attention

Whether there has been delay in replying to the Audit
Enquiries for more than 7 days in case of Resident
Audit, 3 days in case of party audit and if so, in how
many cases
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PART C

Have the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company been scrutinised (First Audit)

Have the system of accounting internal checks and of internal
audit in existence been examined (First Audit)

Has the position as to whether Service Regulations governing
the conditions of service of the employees are framed, been
ascertained (First Audit)

Have the Agenda and Minutes of the meeting of the Board of
Directors/Committees and of the General Meeting of share
holders relating to the period under audit been scrutinized.

Have the major contract agreement relating to project
construction works, supply of machinery, equipment, stores and
service including agency arrangement entered into during the
period under audit been examined

Have the adjustment journal entries relating to the period under
audit been scrutinized

Have the bigger items of bad and doubtful debts which have
been outstanding for long time been scrutinized

Has the method of charging depreciation on the capital assets
been examined

Has the position regarding the allocation of expenditure between
capital and revenue and preparation of capital and revenue
budget been scrutinized

Have the Audit Report of the professional auditors to the
shareholders and their report to the Board of Directors, if any,
been ascertained and scrutinised

Has the position in regard to the creation of ‘Secret Reserve’
together with the reasons therefore been ascertained?
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Have the following points been looked into in connection with

the examination of Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account.

a.

Whether large block of share capital has been called up
and paid up by Government much in excess of the actual
requirements of the Company

Whether there is proper balance between the amount of
paid up capital and long term loans taken from
Government

Whether the Company is taking advantage of period of
credit allowed in every case

Whether a loan has been sanctioned by the Government
to the Company, the rate of interest charged is not less
than the borrowing rate of the Government

Whether the debts due from the trade debtors are being
realized regularly and evenly especially from
Government Departments

In the case of manufacturing concerns involving initially
a heavy capital outlay, whether the construction part of
the Company is proceeding according to the time
schedule and the expenditure during the construction is
booked systematically so that the cost of a particular unit
of construction can be readily ascertained

Whether the administration charges and overheads are
being correctly allocated during the period of
construction

Whether the unit cost of the outpost of a factory
compares favourably with the cost of similar products in
the industry, including landed cost of imported products

Whether Company is following the declared policies of
the Government regarding purchases, pricing and
payment to its workers

13 Has it been examined that as far as possible the funds of

Government Companies are banked with the Government

banking institutions like the State Bank of India
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Have the following points been looked into in connection with

the control of cash and stores

a.

Whether the system of receipt and payment of cash,
cheques and bills, banking and custody of cash,
verification of cash balances and recording of cash
transactions are adequate  and satisfactory

In regard to purchase of stores, whether there is
satisfactory system of calling for tenders, whether the
specifications of the tender forms are clear and whether
there is any defect in the execution of the contract
agreement

Whether the system of receipt and issue of stores is
satisfactory and pricing of stores used is done on correct
principles

Whether there is undue accumulation of surplus and or
serviceable stores and finished goods

Whether there is any waste, extravagance or nugatory
expenditure or loss of cash or store due to inadequate
safeguard

Whether regulations made for the purpose of control
over stores including stock taking and valuation of the
stock, stores, work-in-progress and materials at the close
of the financial year, are adequate and duly enforced

15 Have the following points been broadly examined in connection

with the administrative set up of the concern audited

a.

b.

C.
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Whether the growth of expenditure on administration is
reasonable in relation to the turnover and total
expenditure

Whether the financial powers of various categories of
officers have been clearly laid down and whether such
points are properly delegated and whether they have been
exceeded

Whether any unusual concessions or extra amenities are
being provided to the staff or the officers without
sanction of competent authorities

Have the following points been looked into if the concern

audited is a manufacturing concern

a.

Whether primary records provide for correct booking at
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18

19

the price cost

b. Whether adequate costing systems and costing staff
exists for working out the unit cost of the product.

c. Whether administrative, selling and distribution costs are
booked separately

d. Whether there is adequate control over idle time of
labour and machinery

e. Whether the parts replaced are properly accounted for
until they are disposed off

f.  Whether there is proper reconciliation between cost and
financial accounts

Whether report required of the Company audits in terms of the
directions issued to them under Section 619(3) of the Companies
Act, 1956 been submitted

Have the quarterly reports of the Financial Adviser on important
points of financial and accounting significance during the period
under audit been examined and the party’s comments thereon
passed on to the Regional Officer? Copies of the reports of the
Financial Adviser should be appended

Have the following points also been looked into if the concern
audited is a departmental concern
a. Whether the figures in the proforma accounts have been

reconciled with the Accountant General’s books and
certified accordingly by the Management

b. Does the capital accounts of the Balance Sheet
incorporated the particulars under the following heads:

(1) Opening Balance

(i)  Add withdrawals during the year

(ili)  Less remittances during the year

(iv)  Add/Less adjustments during the year
(v) Net Total

c. Has the interest on the capital been calculated correctly?
(The results of the examination of item 1 to 19 of Part
‘C’ should be clearly indicated in the form of annexure to
the Inspection Report)
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PART D

Certified that all outstanding points in the previous
Inspection Reports Part — | (A,B) and Il have been
discussed with the Management and those have either
been dropped or included in the current Audit Report

Certified that all points from the Register of
Important points marked for next audit by the Head
Quarters have been reviewed and action taken thereof
indicated in a separate note

Certified that all the points raised in the report and in
the appendix have been discussed by me personally
with the Managing Director and that the facts
mentioned therein have also been verified by them

Camp:: Signature of the Assistant Audit Officer

Date:

Counter signature of the Supervising Officer
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STATEMENT- I

SI. No. Name Details of work Signature
1.
2.
3.
STATEMENT - 11
SI. No. Particulars of Records Files put to use
STATEMENT - Il
(List of records and documents checked)
SI. No. Particulars of records Extent of percentage of audit exercised
Signature of the Inspecting Accountant
Date:
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PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

(Referred to in Chapter 2.20)

Annexure 2 a

Party No. : CA Party
Name of the Institution audited
Period of audit :
Duration of Audit : From
No of Days :
I
Sl Particulars Inspecting AAO AAO Sr.
No. Officer Adr/Adr | Total
1
Name
2 | Actual Attendance (days)
3 | Period of Leave (days)
1 | No. of AE’s originated
(AE Nos.)
2 | No. of AE’s dropped
3 | No. of Paras Part Il A
4 | No. of Paras Part 11 B
5 | No. of Paras in old IR’s
cleared (Total)
6 | Any other special items of
work attended to (specify)
7 | Remarks
8 | Dated Signature
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Annexure-3
TITLE SHEET FOR COMMENTS ON ACCOUNTS

(Referred to in Chapter 2.20)
PART - A

1. Name of the Company

2. Name of the Party Personnel with dates
of attendance

I. Supervisory Officer
ii. Assistant Audit Officer
iii. Auditors

3 Year of accounts

i. Date when the financial statements
were approved by the Board of
Directors.

ii. Date of Audit Report (Applicable
where a separate statutory Auditors
appointed )

4 iii. Date of receipt of certified accounts
along with Auditor’s Report ( To be
filled by HQ Office)

iv. Period of Audit

v. Details of extension sought for, if
any, and the no. of days for which
extension granted beyond six weeks.

5 Provisional Comments ( To be filled by
HQ Office)

5 (i) | Date of issue of provisional comments
to

I. Statutory Auditors
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ii. Company.

5(ii)

Date of receipts of replies to the
provisional comments from

I.) Statutory Auditors

ii.) Company

5 (iii)

Date of sending draft comments to Hqrs.

Date of the AGM in which the accounts
for the previous year was adopted.

Did the Audit Committee have a
discussion with Auditors and review the
financial  statements  before their
submission to the Board of Directors.

Whether the Statutory Auditors attended
the meetings convened for planning and
finalization of audit of account. If not
details of the meetings not attended. (
To be filled by the HQ Office)

Whether all the Audit Enquires have
been replied to by Management/
Statutory Auditors? If not, whether it
has been brought to the personal
attention of the Chief Executive?

10

Whether all records/information
required by Audit Team were made
available. If not, the details of records
not produced to audit.
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PART -B

Review of Statutory Auditor’s Report

Whether all the statutory assertion as specified
in Sections 227(2) and (3) of the Companies
Act 1956 have been stated in the Report.

Whether the requirements of AAS 28 have
been fulfilled as regards the form and content
of the Report (A check list is enclosed as
Annexure 4).

Whether the Report includes the required
statements on all matters specified in CARO
2003. Whether the following requirements of
CARO 2003 have been complied with.

i. If the auditor is unable to report on any of
the matters, whether that fact has been
indicated along with the reasons.

ii. Whether the assessment made by statutory
auditors on the adequacy of Internal control
system is consistent with the other observation
of the Auditors.

iii. Whether the report of auditor on
maintenance of proper books of accounts
under law is correct and verified.

Qualifications in Audit Report.

Whether the requirements of Section 227(4)
and Statement on qualifications in Auditors
Report as indicated below have been complied
with.

i. Has the auditor stated the full information
about the subject matter of qualification?

ii. Has the auditor stated the reason for the
qualification?

iii. Has the auditor stated all qualifications in
their report itself and also without referring to
a report made in earlier years?
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iv. If any note to accounts is a subject matter
of qualification, whether the auditor has stated
the full subject matter of the note in his
qualification, instead of making a reference to
the note.

v. Whether the auditor has stated, whether it is

possible to quantify the effect of individual
qualification and total effect of all the
qualifications on profit or loss or state of
affairs.

vi. If it is not possible to quantify the effect of
qualifications accurately, whether the auditor
has stated the effect on the basis of estimates
made by the management, after indicating the
fact that the figures were based on the
management estimates.

Whether the auditor has furnished the report
U/S 619 (3) (a) along with Auditor’s Report
u/s 227. If not the date of receipt of report

Has the auditor complied with all directions
issued u/s 619(3)(a) and sub-directions issued?

Whether Statutory Auditors has shared his
working papers with the Audit Team as and
when asked for?

Whether the opinions expressed by the
auditors on the financial statement is fair in
view of their qualifications.

If the auditor has revised his Audit Report,
whether the same is in accordance with
‘Guidance Note on Revisions of Auditor’s
Report’

10

Whether Statutory Auditors has issued any
communications to these charged with
Governance under AAS 27? If yes whether the
same has been reviewed.

11

Is there any material evidence regarding non-
compliance with any Auditing and Assurance
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Standards by the Auditor.

I1. Review of Financial Statements

Whether the following have been verified.

Whether the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss
Account have been prepared in the forms set out in
Schedule VI — Part | and Part Il of the Companies
Act 1956 respectively.

Whether the Balance Sheet abstract and company’s
general business profile have been stated in
prescribed format required in Part IV, schedule VI
of the Act.

Whether financial statements have been approved
by Board of Directors as required under Section
215 (3) of the Companies Act 1956 and
authenticated as required under section 215 (1) of
the Act.

Whether all significant Accounting policies have
been disclosed?

Whether Accounting Policies form part of the
financial statements

Whether any accounting policy is vague leaving
scope for Mis- interpretation or is against the
provisions of Accounting Standards / relevant
laws.

If there is change in accounting policy, whether
such change has approval of the competent
authority.

Whether auditor have signed their report only after
adoption of previous years accounts in AGM as
required in Companies Act 1956 and letter of
appointment of auditor.

Whether unusual transactions have been dealt
within accounts properly. If no, has the Auditor
given sufficient comments on it?

10

Whether test check revealed that AAS 21 regarding
due consideration of laws & regulations has been
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followed by the Auditor is adequately reported.

I11. Compliance with Accounting Standards (AS)

Whether the financial statements complied
with the AS as required in Section 211 (3A)
of Companies Act 1956.

Cases of non compliance if any noticed
during test check. ( A check list is enclosed
as Annexure 4)

i.) Whether the company has made
disclosure as required in Sec 211(38) of
Companies Act 1956 and

ii.) If not, whether the Statutory Auditors
has stated the non-compliance in their
report.

IV Compliance with Assurances

Whether the company has complied with all
the assurances given to audit in the previous

year (S)

V. Compliance with requirement of Regulatory Authorities relating to
preparation and presentation of financial statements/accounts.

Whether the requirements of any,
regulatory authorities viz SEBI, IRDA,
RBI, BPE, NHB and Administrative
Ministry etc. with regard to financial
reporting been complied with by the
company? If not, indicate whether specified
non-compliance has been pointed out.

V1. Recommendations of Supervisory Officer.

Whether any change in time allotted is
necessary for future audit?

What are the areas to be focused on in
transaction audit?

Other recommendations / remarks.
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PART -C

(The matters included in this part are not exhaustive B’ Office may include other

matter accorded requirement)

Whether all the points indicated in the
register of important points marked for
verification in the accounts audit by the
OAD section have been reviewed and action
taken. ?

Whether list of audit points which may have
some audit value for other RAPs been
attached.

Whether the Statutory Auditors’ report and
the audited accounts of units not selected for
audit been reviewed?

Whether contribution statement with money
value and the name of the RAP/LAP official
been attached.

A list indicating allocation of duty amongst
the party members to be attached along with
a certificate signed by all the members of
the audit party that duty assigned to him or
her was completed

Submitted to Sr.DAG/DAG

Cam

Date

p:
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Annexure 3 a
PERFORMANCE APPRAISAL

Party No. :CAParty  Name of the Institution audited:

Period of audit

Duration of Audit : From To No of Days
Sl Particulars Inspecting | AAO | AAO | Sr. Adr/
No. Officer Adr. Total
1 | Name

2 | Actual Attendance (days)

3 | Period of Leave (days)

1.1 | No. of AE’s originated
(AE Nos.)

2 | No. of AE’s dropped

3 | No. of Draft Comments

4 | Preparation of Review of
Accounts

5 | Any other special items of
work attended to (specify)

7 | Remarks

8 | Dated Signature
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Annexure-4

CHECKLIST FOR COMPLIANCE OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Referred to in Chapter 2.20)
1. Disclosure of accounting policies (AS-1)

SI.No. Check List YES No N/A Remarks
1 Whether accounting policies are disclosed
2 All these policies should be disclosed in one
place in the form of Annexure/Schedule to
accounts
3 Is there any change in accounting policies
4 Effect of change should be disclosed through
accounting notes
5 Auditor to refer this change in his report if
material and its effect on profit/loss and
assets/liabilities
6 If fundamental accounting assumptions are not
followed, the disclosure should be made.
7 Auditor to refer the non-compliance of
fundamental accounting assumptions
8 Paras-11 and 12 of Form 3CD should be
verified with the requirements of AS-1
2. Valuation of inventories (AS-2)
S.No | Check List Yes | No N/A Remarks
1 Check classification of inventories in raw
material, WIP finished goods
2 Valuation of inventories — least of cost or
realizable value
3 Cost formula used — FIFO weighted
4 Any change in cost formula
5 Borrowing cost is not cost of conversion or
other direct cost
6 For the purpose of Form 3CD of Income tax, the
excise duty or any tax incurred whether
refundable /adjustable is cost
7 Disclosure of policy and cost formula
8 Physical verification of inventory
9 Third party confirmation
3. Cash flow statement (AS-3)
SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A Remarks
1 If the reporting enterprise falls under the Level
Il and Level-1ll, the accounting standard is not
applicable
2 If company is a listed company, “Indirect

method” is to be followed
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3 Verify the cash flow from operating, investing,
and financing activities as per AS-3

4 If reporting enterprises are bank, share broker,
investment company, report cash flow on net
basis for operating activities

5 Disclosure of non-cash transaction by way of
note

6 Disclose cash or cash equivalents which are not
freely remissible to the company or there is
restriction on using those.

7 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalent

4. Contingencies and events occurring after the balance sheet date (AS-4)

S.No Check List Yes | No N/A Remarks
1 Refer AAS-19 “Subsequent events”
2 Read minutes of Board of Directors,
Executive committee for events occurring
after balance sheet date, up to the date of
finalization of audit
3 Go through all legal cases and their position
up to the date
4 Go through interim financial statement
5 Check if event has bearing on going concern

5. Net profit or loss for the period, prior period items and change in accounting policies

(AS-5)
SI.No. Check list Yes No N/A Remarks
1 Ensure that prior period term represent only the

items due to errors or omission and not change
of estimate

2 Make list of prior period items detailing their
nature

3 Verify clause 22(b) of Form3CD of Income
TaxAct,1961

4 Disclose them separately in Profit and Loss
Account

5 Make a list of extraordinary items and disclose
separately

6 Is there any change in accounting policy

7 If yes, calculate its impact on current year profit
and if material on subsequent year profit

8 Refer these changes in Audit Report
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6. Depreciation accounting (AS-6)

SI.No. Check list Yes | No | N/A | Remarks

1 Check the cost of asset.

2 Check the rate of depreciation based on useful
life.

3 In case of companies check whether the
depreciation rate is more than Schedule XIV
rate.

4 If yes, see the disclosure in accounting notes
and mention it in audit report also.

5 If assets are revalued, check whether
depreciation is on revalued value.

6 In case of tax audit verify clause 14 of Form
3CD of Income-tax Act.

7 Check whether the calculation of managerial
remuneration is based on the depreciation rate
of Schedule X1V to Companies Act 1956.

7. Construction contract (Revised) (AS-7)
SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A | Remarks

1. Check that only the percentage of completion
method is followed for recognizing the revenue
of construction contract

2. Check the method of making reliable estimate
of cost to completion

3. Check the method of calculation of contract
revenue.

4, Check the disclosure requirement as set out in
AS-7

5. Check the accounting policies regarding
revenue recognition.

6. Is provision for expected loss required.

8. Revenue recognition (AS-9)
SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A Remarks

1. Check in case of sales whether the seller has
transferred all significant risk and rewards of
ownership to buyer and no effective control on
the goods transferred is retained by the seller.

2. No significant uncertainty regarding the
collection of sale amount exists.

3. Check whether interest and royalties are
recognized on accrual basis with no significant
uncertainty in collection of the interest and
royalties.

4, Due provisions for un-expired warranty if sales
is warranty sales.

5. Accounting polices as regards revenue

recognition are disclosed.
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9. Accounting for fixed assets (AS-10)

SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A | Remarks

1. Check fixed asset register and details as per
Schedule VI, Part —I

2. Check the addition and deletion.

3. Is there any revaluation or restructuring, if yes,
verify

4. Check disclosure of revaluation or reduction in
balance sheet.

5. Asset held for disposal to be separately shown
at realizable value or book value whichever is
less.

6. Check the result of physical verification.

7. Any CENVAT credit availed on fixed assets
and reduced from the fixed assets.

8. In case of Tax Audit verify point- 14 of Form
3CD of Income tax Act.

9. Is any subsidy or grant received for fixed asset,
if yes, see treatment as per AS -10 and AS -12

10. Exchange fluctuation properly dealt or not.

11. | Are fixed assets subject to impairment, if yes,
whether AS -28 has been followed wherever
applicable.

10. The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates (AS-11) (Revised -2003)
SI.No. Check List Yes | No | N/A | Remarks

1. Check whether foreign currency transaction was
entered before 1.04.2004.

2. If yes, AS-11 (pre-revised) shall continue to
apply.

3. If foreign currency transactions are entered on or
after 1.04.2004, AS -11 (revised 2003) applies.

4, If there are foreign operations

5. Whether classified as integral or non-integral

6. Exchange difference on integral operation and
foreign currency transactions to be expensed or
recognized as income.

7. Exchange difference in translation of non-
integral operation to be transferred to foreign
exchange translation reserve.

8. Is there partial or full disposal of net investment
in integral foreign currency transaction.

9. If yes, transfer proportionately or full amount to
income or expense as the case may be if there is
re-classification of foreign operation.

10. If yes, apply the re-classification provision

11. Whether reporting enterprises entered into
exchange forward contract

12. If, yes classify whether it is for risk
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management/hedging or for trading or speculation

13. If for hedging/risk management apply the
relevant provisions of accounting standards

14. For speculation, apply the relevant provisions of
accounting standard.

15. Check all disclosures have been made as per

accounting standards.

11. Accounting for Government grants (AS12)

SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A | RemarkS
1. Check whether asset specific grant has been
treated as per AS-12
2. Check allocation of deferred income
3. Un-apportioned deferred income is disclosed in
balance sheet
4, Grant in nature of promoter contribution
credited to capital reserve.
5. Refund of grant if debited in profit and loss as
extra ordinary items.
6. Accounting policy relating to Government grant
is disclosed with accounts.
7. In case of tax audit verify point 14 (d) (iii) of
Form 3CD
8. Whether Government grant receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses incurred in
the previous year is credited to profit and loss
account and disclosed as an extra ordinary item
12. Accounting for investments (AS.13)
e Check List Yes No N/A | Remarks
1. Check initial recording of investment at cost.
2. Check investment classified in current and long-
term.
3. Check valuation as per AS-13.
4, Check disclosure of accounting policy as regard
investment.
5. Check the requirements of Schedule VI of
Companies Act,1956
6. Auditor report if required covers point U/s
227(1A) in case of company
7. In case of bank check RBI Guidelines
8. In case of mutual fund check SEBI guide lines
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13. Accounting for amalgamation (AS-14)

SI.No. Check List Yes | No N/A Remarks
1 Go through the scheme sanctioned under section
394 of Companies Act, 1956 by the
court/tribunal
2 Whether it is merger or purchase
3 If merger- pooling interest method of
accounting, if purchase- the purchase method of
accounting is applied
4 Check the disclosure requirements as per AS-14
5 Check whether the scheme sanctioned
prescribes a different treatment to be given to
reserve of the transferor company as compared
to AS-14
6 If yes, see whether deviation has been reported
7 Check whether the notes to accounts give the
notes regarding the previous year figure not
comparable
14. Employee benefits (AS-15) (Revised 2005)
SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A Remarks
1 Check type of enterprise- Level | or more than
50 employee or less than 50 employee
2 Check short- term employee benefits are
expensed at the time of rendering of services by
the employees
3 Check whether for post- employment benefits —
defined contribution plans or defined benefit
plans
4 If defined benefits plans-go through the actuary
reports
5 Examine the assumptions made by the actuary
are in compliance with AS-15
6 Check whether the projected unit credit method
to measure the obligation is followed
7 Examine the policy for employee benefits with
reference to AS-15
8 Check whether all disclosures requirements are
complied with AS-15
9 Check whether termination benefits (VRS) is

expensed or if incurred up to 31-3-2009 is in
accordance with accounting policy
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15. Borrowing costs (AS-16)

SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A | Remarks
1 Check whether enterprise has purchased or
constructed any qualifying asset during the
period
2 If yes, whether borrowing cost is incurred
3 Check amount of borrowing cost as per AS-16
4 Whether borrowing cost is capitalized
5 Whether capitalization of borrowing cost is as
per AS-16
6 Whether accounting policy as regard borrowing
cost is disclosed
7 Whether borrowing cost capitialised is
disclosed
16. Segment reporting (AS-17)
SI.No. Check List Yes | No | N/A | Remarks
1 Check whether As-17 is applicable
2 If yes, ask enterprise to make segment reporting
3 Check whether segments are truly based on risk
and reward
4 Tally the segments revenue to total revenue in
Profit and Loss Account
5 Tally the segment assets, segments liabilities with
consolidated figure in Balance Sheet
6 Check secondary segment reporting as per As-17
7 Check same accounting policies followed for
segment reporting as followed for preparation of
financial statements
8 If reporting enterprise falls under the level-2 and
level -3 the accounting standard is not applicable
17. Related party disclosure (AS-18)
SI.No. Check List Yes No N/A Remarks
1 See whether AS-18 is applicable
2 If yes, follow the audit procedure prescribed in
AAS-23
3 Classify the related parties into two categories —
control and significant influence
4 Whether disclosure is done as per AS-18
5 If required, get representation from management
6 In case of tax audit verify clause 18 of Form
3CD
7 If the reporting enterprises falls under the level-

Il and level-lll the accounting standard is not
applicable
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18. Accounting for leases (AS-19)

SI.No. Check list Yes No N/A | Remarks
1 Check lease agreement
2 Verify the Accounting policy as regards lease
3 Classify the lease to be financial or operation
4 If operating-check the accounting as per AS-19
for lessor and lessee
5 If financial lease — check the accounting as per
AS 19
6 In case of financial lease, verify the implicit rate
of interest/discounting factor
7 If assets are acquired under H.P.system, the
same should be accounted for as per finance
lease
8 In case of sale of lease back, classify the lease
9 Check whether accounting is done as per AS -
19
10 Check the detailed disclosure requirements of
AS-19
11 Check whether there is difference in accounting
income and taxable income due to lease, if yes
create deferred tax as per AS-22
12 Few disclosure requirements are not applicable
to Level Il and Level Il enterprises
19. Earnings per share (AS-20)
SI.No. Check list Yes | No | N/A | Remarks
1 Check EPS as mentioned in part IV of schedule
vi of the Companies Act,1956 is the basic EPS
and has been calculated as per AS20
2 If it is listed company -
The basic and diluted EPS must be disclosed on
the face of profit and loss statement.
Reconciliation of weighted number of shares
and profit available for equity shareholders is
disclosed through notes to accounts
Check whether basic or diluted EPS has been
disclosed with and without extraordinary
income/expense
3 Level — Il and Level Il enterprises are not
required to disclose diluted earning per share
20. Consolidated financial statements (AS -21)
SI.No. Check List Yes | No N/A | Remark
1 If Company under audit is holding and is listed,
AS 21 applies.
2 Check whether the Company is covered by
exceptions prescribed in AS -21
3 Consolidation required as per clause 32 of
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listing agreement.

4 Consolidation procedure shall be as per AS -21

5 Check disclosure requirements as per AS-21
and General Clarification (GC-5) issued by
ICAI

6 Check the particulars under section 212-of the

Companies Act,1956,

21. Accounting for taxes on income (AS-22)

SI.No. Check list Yes | No N/A Remarks

1 Check whether AS 22 is applicable for
enterprise under reporting

2 Check whether accounting income and taxable
income differ

3 If yes, is it due to permanent or timing
difference

4 Ignore, if due to permanent difference. Create
deferred tax for timing difference

5 Apply prudence for recognizing deferred tax
asset

6 Verify virtual certainty while creating deferred
tax asset for unabsorbed depreciation and carry
forward losses

7 Review deferred tax asset

8 Apply transitional provision, if applicable

9 Present deferred asset and deferred tax liability
in balance sheet after investment and
unsecured loan respectively

10 Disclose breakup of deferred tax asset and
liabilities

11 Verify accounting policy as per AS22

12 Verify other disclosure requirements as per

AS22

22. Accounting for investments in associates in consolidated financial statements (AS23)

SI.No. Check list Yes No N/A Remarks

1 Is company under audit a listed company

2 If yes, whether it has subsidiary

3 If, yes whether it has made investment in
associate

4 If yes, AS-23 is applicable

5 Investment in associate in consolidated financial
statement shall be accounted as per equity
method

6 Is it first occasion AS 23 applicable? Apply
transitional provisions

7 AS is not applicable for Level Il and Level 11l

enterprise
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23 Discontinuing operations (AS-24)

SI.No. Check list Yes No N/A Remarks
1. Whether the enterprise has entered into
agreement or approval/announced to sell the
substantially in its entirety or in piece meal
the assets and liabilities
2 If yes, AS-24 applies
3 Disclosure of ‘discontinuing operation’
separately than ‘continuing operation’
required
4 Check manner of disclosure as per AS-24
5 Disclosure is also required in quarterly results
6 Disclosure through notes to accounts is
required
7 AS is not applicable for Level Il and Level Il
enterprises
24 Interim financial reporting (IFR) (AS-25)
SI.No. | Check list Yes | No | N/A Remarks
1 AS 25 is mandatory in case of listed company
and banks
2 SEBI guidelines to be considered
3 Minimum components of an interim financial
report to be disclosed
4 Accounting policy should be the same as
followed for annual accounts
5 Generally discrete view is followed in AS 25
except for tax
6 Selected explanatory statements to be enclosed
7 Format given under AS 25 is suggestive not
compulsory, generally listed company has to
follow the format prescribed by SEBI
8 AS is not applicable for Level Il and Level Il
enterprise
25 Intangible assets (AS 26)
SI.No. | Check list Yes | No N/A Remarks
1. Whether asset is intangible as per AS26
2. Whether recognition criteria as per AS 26 are
fulfilled
3 Useful life is presumed to be 10 years if
contrary is not proved
4 Residual value is taken as NIL
5 Amortization is on straight line method if
pattern of benefit not established.
6 Goodwill as per AS14 and 21 excluded
7 Addition/subsequent
8 Intangible asset to be recognized on disposal or

when no further benefit is expected
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9 If standard being applicable first time
adjustment to intangible asset as required by AS
26 to be made with opening reserve
"Transitional Provision’
10 Impairment losses to be recognized
11 Disclosures as per AS 26
26. Financial reporting of interest in joint venture (AS-27)
SI.No. Check List Yes | No N/A Remarks
1 Check joint venture agreement
2 Classify type of joint venture into jointly
controlled operation, jointly controlled assets
or jointly controlled entity
3 Check accounting in separate financial
statements for jointly controlled operation and
jointly controlled assets as per AS-27
4 Check accounting for jointly controlled entity
in separate financial statements and if
consolidated statement are prepared in
consolidated financial statement
5 Check transaction between a venturer and a
joint venture
6 Verify disclosure requirement as per AS-27
7 AS is not applicable to the extent of
requirements relating to consolidated financial
statements to level Il and level I1l enterprises
27. Impairment of assets (AS 28)
SI.No. Check List Yes | No N/A Remarks
1 Has management reviewed/assessed the asset
for impairment
2 Consider the indications
3 Verify the future cash inflow
4 Assess the net selling price
5 Verify the impairment loss
6 Where net selling price or value in use for
individual asset is not determinable, check the
cash flow of Cash Generating Unit (CGU)
7 Also consider good will, corporate asset and
their allocation
8 Verify the impairment loss for Cash Generating
Unit (CGU)
9 Verify allocation of impairment loss in case of
Cash Generating Unit (CGU)
10 Check the disclosure requirements
11 Accounting standard is applicable w.e.f1.4.2004

for Level-1,1.4.2006 for Level-1l and 1.4.2008
for Level-111l enterprises
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28. Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets (AS-29)

SI.No. Check List Yes | No N/A Remarks
1 Check whether there is present obligation as a
result of past event not recorded in books

2 If yes, is it probable

3 Can the amount be estimated reliably

4 If yes, recognize the provision

5 If there is possible obligation or amount cannot
be estimated reliably disclose the contingent
liability

6 Ensure that happening of event should not be
remote for contingent liability

7 Ensure the disclosure requirement is met for
provisions and contingent liability

8 Contingent asset neither recognize nor disclosed

9 Few disclosure requirements are not applicable

for Level Il and Level Il enterprises
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CHAPTER -3
GOVERNMENT COMPANIES
3.01. Introduction

A Government company is defined as a company in which not less than 51
per cent of the paid-up capital (equity and preference share capital) is held by the
Central Government or any State Government wholly or jointly. A subsidiary of a
Government company is also defined as a Government company (Section 617 of the
Companies Act, 1956).

Companies promoting commerce, art, science, religion, charity or any other
useful objects are allowed by the Central Government to incorporate their names
without the word (s) limited/private limited subject to the stipulations that their
profits/other incomes should be used for the promotion of such objects and payment
of dividend to the members are prohibited (Section 25). Such companies can enjoy
all privileges subject to the provisions of this section and the obligations of limited
companies. They are permitted to prepare Income & Expenditure Account (instead of
the Profit & Loss Account) complying with the provisions of Part 1l of Schedule VI
to the Act ibid as far as possible (Section 210). They are not debarred from becoming

holding companies.

Any company in which not less than 51 per cent of the paid-up capital is held
by one or more of the following or any combination thereof is considered as a

deemed Government company (Section 619-B).

i) The Central Government or any State Government (s) or both and one or

more Government companies; or

i) The Central Government or any State Government (s) and one or more

corporations owned/controlled by the Central Government; or

iii) One or more corporations owned/controlled by the Central/State

Government; or

iv) More than one Government company
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Nationalized banks, General Insurance Corporation of India and Life
Insurance Corporation of India are at present considered as corporations
owned/controlled by the Central Government. Cooperative institutions, Unit Trust of
India and Industrial Finance Corporation of India are outside the purview of this

section.

The Ministry/Department of Company Affairs held the view that the CAG has
all the powers of Statutory Auditors as enshrined in section 227 (1) of the Act ibid by
virtue of the provisions of section 619 which have been made applicable to 619-B
companies also. Transaction audit of these companies is conducted annually. Hence,
copies of agenda and minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors of these
companies may be called for initial scrutiny in CA HQ Sections as in the case of
Government companies. Failure to submit these documents by any 619-B company
may be taken up with the State Government. If any serious irregularity calling for
Government intervention is noticed during the course of audit, the same may be taken

up with the Principal Secretary of the Finance Department for remedial action.
[Headquarters letter CA 1V/Tech/6-80 dated 23-04-1980]

Sick industrial company means an industrial company whose accumulated
loss in any financial year is equal to 50 per cent or more of its average net worth
during the four years immediately preceding the financial year or failed to repay its
debts within three consecutive quarters on demand in writing by any creditor of the
company [Section 46AA of the Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions)
Repeal Act, 2003].

As on 31 March 2012 there were 118 PSUs (including DCU’s and non-

working companies) as shown below.

Type of PSUs Working PSUs Non-working Total
PSUs
Government Companies 92 17 109
Statutory Corporations 05 05
DCUs and KSERC 04 04
Total 101 17 118
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The district wise location of working/non-working PSUs are enclosed
(Annexure 1). Out of the 109 Government Companies mentioned above, 17
Companies have been transferred to the Office of the Prl. AG (G&SSA), Kerala after

re-structuring (Annexure-11).

3.02. Memorandum and Articles of Association
The Memorandum of Association is an important document defining the
powers and objects of the Company while the Articles of Association deal with the

provisions relating to its internal Management and other related matters.

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of a Government Company
need not be scrutinized by Audit as a matter of course. If it is specifically referred in
draft stage, specific comments may be offered. This, however, does not preclude
examination of Government control, etc., during the audit of a Government Company
mainly to ensure that sufficient powers have been reserved for the Governor
(competent authority working under the Governor) by the Articles of Association for
the issue of mandatory directions, appointment of Managing Director/Directors,
sanctioning of posts carrying pay exceeding a specified limit, incurring of capital
expenditure over a specified limit, sale/lease/disposal or otherwise of the entity,

formation of a subsidiary, etc.

In the case of a subsidiary company, in the absence of adequate provision in
the Articles of Association, such Government control is exercised through the

Articles of the holding company.

[Headquarters letter 494-CA 1V/83-81 (No. CA.1V/Tech-8/82) dated 25-6-1982 —
File CA-1/A/17-2/Vol.11]

3.03. Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of a company is authorised to perform all duties and
powers as per its Articles of Association subject to the provisions of the Companies
Act, 1956 and other statutes. The Board should approve all major policy decisions of
the Company. The Board is allowed to delegate its powers to the Managing
Director/functional Directors/Officers and Committee of Directors/Officers to

manage the day-to-day activities of the company.
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The Board is responsible for the governance of a company/corporation.
Corporate governance is the system by which an entity is directed and controlled by
the Management in the best interest of the shareholders and others ensuring greater
transparency and better and timely financial reporting. According to section 217
(2AA) of the Companies Act, 1956, the Board has to report to the shareholders,
among other things, that it has taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of
the accounting records for safeguarding the assets of a company and detecting and
preventing fraud and other irregularities. The main components of the corporate
governance are matters relating to the Board, Director’s Report, Audit Committee,

Company Secretary, etc.
3.04. Company Secretary

Every company (including a Government company) having a paid-up capital
of Rs 50 lakh and above (present ceiling) should appoint a whole time Secretary
possessing the prescribed qualifications (Section 383A) to exercise the secretarial

functions.
3.05. Books of accounts

The accounts of a company (including a Government company) should be
maintained on double entry system of accounting (mercantile system) and on accrual
basis which discloses a true and fair view of its state of affairs. The company is
required to keep proper books of account to exhibit a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the entity and explain its transactions. Though the Act has not defined the
term true and fair view, the following guidelines are generally followed to assess

whether the accounts show a true and fair state of affairs of the company.

i) Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account should be drawn up as per the
requirements of Schedule VI to the Companies Act, 1956 and give a true
and fair presentation of the actual state of affairs and the working results

of the company (Section 209);

i) The financial statements should neither overstate nor understate the state

of affairs of the company. Window dressing of accounts should be avoided
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and there should not be any attempt to create secrete reserve for any item

or show a better picture of accounts than the real position;

iii) The financial statements should disclose all material facts such as
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and that these should be
recognised and valued in accordance with the generally accepted

accounting principles.

iv) The generally accepted accounting principles should be followed while
finalising the accounts and any change to this effect should be disclosed

by way of a note;

v) The financial statements should comply with the requirements of the
Accounting Standards (AS) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (ICAI) and in the case of non-compliance thereof,
the reasons therefor, financial effect of such deviation, etc., should be

disclosed by way of a note (Section 211);

vi) The financial statements should convey the required information clearly;
and

vii) Subsequent events having a material impact in the financial statements
after the Balance Sheet date but before signing the accounts by the

Auditors should be considered as provided in the Accounting Standards.

Important financial information is included in the Notes forming part of
accounts and the Auditors usually certify them showing a true and fair view of state
of affairs of the company subject to such note. In order to have a clear view of the
qualifications and their effects, the qualifications should be given in the Auditor's
Report itself. The Auditors should also quantify the monetary impact of the
qualifications of the financial statements in a clear and unambiguous manner. In the
absence of correct data, the impact should be quantified on the basis of estimates
made by the Management after carrying out such audit tests as are possible and the
fact that the figures are based on Management estimates should be clearly indicated in
the Auditor’s Report.
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[Headquarters circulars 5-0 & M/RC/5-83 (N0.301-CA OM (RC) 91-83) dated 16-
9-1983 and 317-CA-O&M (RC)/21/82 (No.8 CA-O&M/RC/5-83) dated 30-11-1983
endorsing the opinion appeared in The Chartered Accountant (August 1983)]

All proper books of account of companies (including cost records and
vouchers) shall be maintained preferably at the registered office and in compelling
circumstances such as shortage of accommodation, etc. they may be kept at such
other places duly approved by the Board of Directors. In the case of branch office of a
company, the books shall be kept there and proper summarised returns thereof sent to
the registered office quarterly. The books of account shall be prepared in indelible ink
and not by pencil and that they shall be preserved in good order/condition for a
minimum period of eight years. Central Government has prescribed rules for the

maintenance of cost records in respect of specified companies (Section 209).

In the case of winding up of a company, section 209 (3) of the Act shall be

read with section 541 (2) dealing with liability.

Government companies engaged in financing industrial projects and approved
by the Central Government under section 36 (1) (viii) of the Income Tax Act, 1961
are allowed to follow cash system for interest on loans and advances (Notification
550 (E) dated 16-5-1989). Further, Government companies engaged in the promotion/
development of industries are also exempted from the mercantile system to account
for the interest on seed money/bridge loans, interest due on the cost of industrial
plots/sheds allotted to entrepreneurs and special rebate from the Central/State
Government in the sale of handloom clothes as declared by the Ministry of Textiles
(Notification 770 (E) dated 10-9-1990). In both the cases, the accrued amount
thereagainst should be disclosed in the accounts by way of a note.

3.06. Statutory books

In addition to the books of account, the companies are required to maintain
certain other registers such as Register of Investments/ Charges/ Members/Debenture
holders, etc., (statutory books) in order to safeguard the interest of shareholders
[Section 2 (8)].

142



3.07. Board/Committee meeting

The Board of Directors of a company (other than a section 25 company) shall
meet at least once in every three calendar months and four such meetings should be
held every year (Section 285). In the case of a section 25 company, the Board shall

meet at least once in six calendar months.

(Notification S.O. 1578 dated 1-7-1961).

Unless the Articles of a company provide for a large number of Directors, the
quorum for a Board meeting of the company shall be five members (public company)
and two members (other than public company) (Section 174). In the absence of

quorum, the proceedings of the meeting will be invalid.

All companies (including Government companies) shall record the minutes of
proceedings of General/Board/Committee meetings in the Minute Book within 30
days of the meetings. The book shall be consecutively numbered and kept at the
registered office of the company. Each page of the minutes of the Board/Committee
shall be initialed/signed and that last page thereof shall be dated and signed by the
existing Chairman/Chairman of the next meeting. In the case of the minutes of the
general meetings, the Chairman of the meeting shall do these attestations. The
minutes shall convey a fair and correct summary of the proceedings. The minutes
shall not be attached to any other books. The names of the Directors present in the
meeting and those not concurred with any resolution shall be entered in the book
(Section 193).

Statutory Auditors are required to qualify the report under section 227 of the
Act, if the Minute Book is not maintained according to section 193 of the Act. If
non-compliance is not suitably qualified by the Auditors, suitable draft Comment may

be proposed under section 619 (4) of the Act.
[CAG’’s letter 606-CA 1V/48-82 dated 21-8-1982]

If a Government company holds frequent Board meetings without any
justification to discuss normal business transactions, such unhealthy practices should

be commented in the Inspection Report.
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3.08. Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account

Every company is statutorily required to prepare the Balance Sheet and Profit
& Loss Account for laying before its AGM. The Balance Sheet shall be drawn up in
vertical form as required under Part | of Schedule VI to the Act. While preparing the
Balance Sheet, the notes/general instructions given under Part | shall be complied
with. The Balance Sheet Abstract and the General Business Profile of a company
shall be prepared as per the requirements of Part I\VV. Part Il defines and interprets

certain items such as provision, reserve, quoted investment, etc.

The Profit & Loss Account shall be prepared as per the requirements of Part 1l
under Schedule V1. It should be made out clearly disclosing the working result of the
company for the period covered by accounts. A considerable amount of quantitative
and other information should be disclosed in the accounts. The corresponding amount
for the immediately previous year should be shown against each item both under
Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account. Any reference to Balance Sheet and Profit
& Loss Account of a company include any note or document annexed thereto
[Section 211 (6)]. A company cannot escape from the responsibility of preparing the
Profit & Loss Account on the plea that expenditure incurred was during construction
and that it has not commenced business. There will be no objection if such account is
called Development Account or Expenditure during Construction Account or by any
other suitable name while complying with the requirements of Part I1I. The Profit &
Loss Account should be a separate account and not a schedule to the Balance Sheet.
If any Company fails to prepare a separate Profit & Loss Account, suitable comment
under section 619(4) of the Act should be raised.

[Headquarters letter 81-CA 1V/15-79 (No.CA 1V/Tech/1-81) dated 29-1-19811]

It is necessary to prepare Profit & Loss Account for the company as a whole

even if it has got branches (Sections 210 and 211 and Schedule VI). Any expenditure
item exceeding one per cent of the total revenue of a company or Rs 5,000 whichever
is higher shall be shown as a distinct item against an appropriate accounting head in
the consolidated Profit & Loss Account irrespective of the position in the Branch
Profit & Loss Account (clause 3 (x) (i) of Part Il of Schedule VI). If a Company

144



desires to prepare separate Profit & Loss Account for units/branches, the same can be

made in any one of the following.

(@) A consolidated Profit & Loss Account for the company as a whole and
separate Profit & Loss Account for each branch and head office; or

(b) A Profit & Loss Account in a columnar form indicating the transactions of
both the company as a whole and each branch and head office separately

at one and the same place.

If the requirements of sections 210 and 211 and clause 3 (x) (i) of Part Il
under Schedule VI of the Act are not complied with, suitable draft Comment may be
raised under section 619(4) of the Act.

[Headquarters letter 3-CA 1V/Tech/80 (No. 163-CAIV/8-80) dated 6/12-2-1980]

3.09. Audit Committee (Statutory)

Every public company (including a Government company) having a paid-up
capital of Rs 5 crore and above shall constitute an Audit Committee of the Board
comprising a minimum of three Directors. Two third of the total members of the
Committee shall represent non-official Directors and one third shall be from the
functional Directors of the Board of the company.

The Board shall decide the functions of the Committee. The Statutory
Auditors, Internal Auditors and the Director (Finance) of a company shall attend the
meetings of the Committee without exercising the right to vote. The Committee shall
hold discussions with the Auditors periodically regarding internal control systems,
scope of audit and the audit observations. The Committee shall review the half-yearly
and annual accounts of the Company before submission to the Board and ensure
compliance of the internal control systems. The Committee can investigate any items
specified in section 292A or referred to it by the Board. The Committee enjoys access
to all the records of the Company and can elicit external professional advice. The
Board can reject the recommendations of the Committee on any matter other than
financial management including the Audit Report. If rejected, the Board shall record
the reasons thereof and intimate them to the shareholders (Section 292A).
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Non-compliance of section 292A should be commented upon under section
619 (4) of the Act and no company is allowed to escape from the formation of the
Committee by undue delay in allotment of shares despite already receiving the share

money.
[Headquarters letter 579-CA 11/398-99/KW/Vol | dated 9-7-2003]

3.10. Authentication of accounts

3.10.1. Consolidated accounts

The Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account (including the accounting
policies and note on accounts) of a company shall be approved by the Board of
Directors and signed by two Directors (including the Managing Director (MD)) and
the Secretary, if appointed, on behalf of the Board before handing over these
documents to the Statutory Auditors for report [Section 215 (1) and (3)]. This power
of the Board cannot be delegated to a Committee of Directors or to some of the
Directors. If there is no MD, the Secretary, if any, and two Directors shall sign the
accounts. If MD or only one Director is available in India, such person shall sign the
same explaining the reasons for non-compliance of section 215 (1). The Audit
Committee, if applicable, shall review the financial statements before submission to

the Board and ensure compliance of the internal control systems (Section 292A).

3.10.2. Branch accounts

The branch accounts shall be signed by a responsible officer of the branch by
way of authentication before submitting to the Branch Auditors, whose report shall be
forwarded to the Statutory Auditors of the company for finalizing the consolidated
report (Sections 227 and 228).

3.11. Appointment of Auditors

The Statutory/ Branch Auditors of Government companies are appointed/
reappointed by the CAG, fixing the terms and conditions (including the audit fee)
[Section 619 (2)]. They are usually given a term of four consecutive years subject to
satisfactory performance during the immediate previous year and fulfilment of certain

conditions put forth in the appointment order.
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They should not claim unreasonable travelling/daily allowance and out of
pocket expenses. Similarly, no TA/DA claim should be made if the branch office of
the audit firm and branch audit of the place happened to be the same station. No
assignment for internal audit/consultancy or other services should be accepted by
them other than statutory assignment such as tax audit, etc., during the year and
immediate succeeding year of audit. They should complete the audit within the time
schedule fixed by the Management to place the accounts in the AGM. The
Management should also comply with these conditions. The Auditors should produce
the working papers/files to the AG (ERSA) when called for. They are required to
preserve the audit working papers, etc., for a minimum period of 10 years in normal

course.

The remuneration and other allowances payable to the Auditors may be
fixed/regulated by the Management as per section 224 (8) (aa) of the Act read with
the guidelines issued by the Department of Company Affairs (Notification No.7/76
dated 8-4-1976) and ICAI prescribing the minimum audit fee (Notification No.1-CA
(7)/75/2004 dated 12-5-2004). The volume of work and the time normally taken for
the completion of audit should also be considered while fixing the audit fee. The
remuneration payable so fixed may be intimated to the CAG/Auditors for reference

and record.

In the case of appointment of Auditors of a Government company for the first
time, the company may take up the matter with Headquarters. If the company has
approached the AG (ERSA) in this score, the case should be taken up by the latter.
Further, Finance Accounts of the State Government may be examined every year to
see whether any investment by way of share capital has been proposed/made in a new
Government company/Statutory corporation. Similarly, the Board minutes of the
entity may be scrutinised for the formation of its subsidiary companies. In all these
cases, the matter should be taken up with Headquarters by the AG (ERSA) along with
a copy of its Memorandum and Articles of Association/Act constituting the
corporation.

[Headquarters DO letter 83 CA 1V/08-95 (11) dated 11-3-1999 — File CA IV/A/17-
2/Vol XXX and letter CA V/30-2003/379 dated 21-7-2003]
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3.12. Auditor’s Report
3.12.1. Statutory Auditor’s Report
While bringing out the duties and powers of Statutory Auditors, it was
mentioned among other things that they are required to make a report to the members
of the company on the state of affairs of the accounts examined by them for the
appointed year (Section 227). The Auditor’s Report shall be made in terms of the
Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003 (CARO 2003). A specimen of the
Auditor’s Report to the members of the company is enclosed (Annexure 3).
Consequent on the appointment, the Auditor has access to the books of
account and vouchers. Hence, the Auditors are not barred from certifying the
accounts on the same date of approval of accounts by the Board. Though no
timeframe has been fixed for the Auditors for the certification of accounts, they
should not take undue time in this respect violating the provisions of sections 166 and
210.
3.12.2. Branch Auditor’s Report
The Branch Auditors are required to prepare the report in accordance with
section 227 of the Act and the requirements of CARO 2003. The Branch Auditor’s
qualifications are normall